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Foreword
Effective communication
Why is the Board focusing on effective communication?
Ineffective communication of financial information
can lead to investors overlooking relevant information
or failing to identify relationships between pieces of
information in different parts of a company’s financial
statements. This can lead to investors making poor
investment decisions. Ineffective communication also
makes financial statements less understandable which
can increase uncertainty around what investors perceive
are the company’s prospects, leading to a higher cost of
capital for companies.
Conversely, effective communication of information in
financial statements can contribute to better investment
decisions and a lower cost of capital for companies.

HANS HOOGERVORST
CHAIR
INTERNATIONAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BOARD
Financial statements are intended to provide investors
with information that is useful for making investment
decisions.
The International Accounting Standards Board (Board)
recognises, however, that companies can find it
challenging to provide that information.
Our work has identified three concerns about
information in financial statements—not enough
relevant information, too much irrelevant information
and information communicated ineffectively.
Although these three concerns are interrelated, I would
like to focus on the third one—the need to communicate
information effectively.
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The Board wants to contribute to making communication
of information in companies’ financial statements more
effective. Hence, the theme of ‘Better Communication in
Financial Reporting’ will motivate much of our work for
the next few years. This report is part of that work.

Case studies
By describing a few companies’ journeys towards
improving the way they communicate information
in their financial statements, this report shows that
communicating information more effectively is
feasible when applying IFRS Standards. The companies’
experiences demonstrate that relatively small changes
can significantly enhance the usefulness of their
financial statements.
The companies featured in this report tell us their
external and internal stakeholders value the changes
introduced because their financial statements have
become easier to read and understand.
The financial statements are easier to read and
understand because the companies identified what
information is relevant to their investors, prioritised
it appropriately and presented it in a clear and simple
manner. In some cases, this resulted in companies
including additional information that is useful for
investors and, in other cases, removing information that
is immaterial.

Inspiration

Differences across jurisdictions

This report seeks to inspire other companies to improve
communication in their own financial statements.
Most companies featured in this report found it at first
challenging to start making improvements. However,
once they completed their first tentative steps, these
companies found making improvements much easier.

While developing this report, we noted that companies’
efforts towards improving communication of
information in their financial statements vary across
jurisdictions.

For many of these companies, the following factors were
key to making the improvements in communication
possible:
• senior management supported the changes in
communication;
• companies engaged with their investors to identify
and understand their information needs;
• departments across the companies participated in the
process; and
• the companies’ auditors, regulators and national
standard-setters supported the process and were
willing to discuss the proposed changes.
Companies featured in this report have taken
different approaches to making changes in the way
they communicate in their financial statements.
Some companies made dramatic changes during a
single reporting period. Other companies have been
improving the way they communicate information for
a few years. What is important though is that all of
these companies have committed to making continuous
improvements within the context of existing
IFRS Standards.

The decision to prioritise effective communication may
reflect the views of regulators and auditors in particular
jurisdictions—if these stakeholders see the financial
statements as communication tools rather than mere
compliance documents, companies are more likely to
seek to make improvements to their financial statements.
In contrast, companies in some jurisdictions are in
the early stages of implementing IFRS Standards.
These companies may be focusing more on fulfilling
disclosure requirements than on how they can
communicate information more effectively in their
financial statements.
We hope the stories that follow show that the journey
towards communicating more effectively does not
always have to be arduous. Finally, we would like to
thank the companies included in this report for sharing
their stories with us.

Hans Hoogervorst
Chair
International Accounting Standards Board
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Methodology
Using real-life examples, this report illustrates how various
companies have improved communication of information in
their financial statements. These case studies demonstrate
that it is possible to communicate information in
accordance with IFRS Standards in a more effective way.
We asked national standard-setters to help us identify
companies in their jurisdictions that had made significant
improvements in the way they communicate information
in their financial statements. Some of the companies
in this report were selected from those suggestions
and others were selected by consulting other sources,
such as specialised publications dealing with disclosure
effectiveness. To ensure that the report showed a range of
examples, we selected companies from various industries
and different parts of the world.
By interviewing senior managers in these companies, we
were able to identify the processes they followed to enable
them to change how they communicated information in
their IFRS financial statements. For each case study, we
selected excerpts from the companies’ financial statements
that would best illustrate those changes. In addition, the
changes described in each of the case studies are linked
to the relevant principles of effective communication
suggested in the Board’s Discussion Paper Disclosure
Initiative—Principles of Disclosure (the Discussion Paper).
The following table identifies the principles of effective
communication with a specific orange tag. The orange
tags are used throughout this report to link the changes
in communication with the related principle(s) of
effective communication.

During our interviews, senior managers described some
of the challenges they faced in changing how they
communicated information in their financial statements.
They also spoke about ways the process had benefited
their organisations and they explained their successes and
some of the lessons they had learnt. We also discussed
how external parties, such as shareholders or auditors,
had received the changes after the companies published
their first redesigned financial statements. Finally, senior
managers laid out some of the possible ways they might
make further changes.
The descriptions and excerpts in this report are only
intended to provide a flavour of the changes carried out by
each of the surveyed companies. Due to limitations of space,
the excerpted notes to the financial statements used to
illustrate the changes, in many cases, are not reproduced in
their entirety.
To illustrate the changes carried out, the report
contrasts the way companies provided information before
they started to change the way they communicated
information in their financial statements (excerpts framed
in blue with tags including the label ‘before’) with the way
they have communicated the same matter in their latest
financial statements (excerpts framed in green including
the label ‘after’).
This report does not represent a best-practice guide or show
the only way to improve communication in a company’s
financial statements. The Board is not endorsing the
changes carried out by particular companies or endorsing
how these companies have implemented IFRS Standards in
their financial statements.

Principles of effective communication suggested in the Discussion Paper
Entity-specific
Simple and direct

Using simple descriptions and sentence structures without omitting useful
information.

Better organised

Ranking pieces of information to help users of financial statements
understand their importance.

Better linked
Better formatted
Free of duplication
Enhanced comparability
6 |

Tailoring information to a company’s own circumstances.

Linking information to help users of financial statements understand the
relationships between pieces of information.
Selecting a suitable format for the type of information companies provide.
Avoiding unnecessary duplication that obscures communication.
Disclosing information in a way that enhances comparability among
companies and across reporting periods without compromising its usefulness.
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Case study 1—Fonterra Co-operative
Group Limited
Fonterra Co-operative Group Limited operates in the international dairy industry, with sales to more than
100 countries. Fonterra is a co-operative company incorporated and domiciled in New Zealand. The company is
owned by more than 10,000 farmer shareholders. In addition, external investors (both institutional and individual)
are able to earn returns based on Fonterra’s financial performance by investing in the Fonterra Shareholders’ Fund, a
managed investment scheme listed on the New Zealand Exchange and the Australian Securities Exchange.

Triggers of change
The company published its first redesigned financial statements for the year ended 31 July 2015. Fonterra decided
to review the clarity of its financial statements in response to work on effective communication led by international
and national organisations, including standard-setters, accounting firms and regulators, and changes made by other
New Zealand and international companies.

The process
Fonterra started the process of improving communication of information in its financial statements in early 2015.
With the support of senior management, the company created an internal review team consisting of staff members
with ties to the accounting and investor-relations teams. The team held a workshop with the company’s auditors to:
• identify the information needs of different stakeholders; and
• communicate the information in a way that would ensure stakeholders could easily understand Fonterra’s story.

We consider our redesigned financial statements a tool of communication rather than the
outcome of a mere compliance exercise and we treat it as a ‘living document’ which is subject
to a continuous review process. We refer to this process as ‘refreshing the financials’.
Restructuring the notes
To enhance the way in which the company communicated information in its financial statements, the team
determined which key themes were most important and relevant to stakeholders. Using those themes, the team
reordered disclosures and grouped related notes under the following sections: ‘Performance’, ‘Debt and equity’,
‘Working capital’, ‘Long-term assets’, ‘Investments’, ‘Financial risk management’ and ‘Other’. These changes are
visible in the new structure of the notes, as shown in the following excerpts:
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Before
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2013

Entity-specific
NOTE

PAGE

1

Cost of goods sold

14

2

Profit/(loss) before net finance costs and tax

14

3

Net foreign exchange losses

15

4

Net finance costs

15

5

Tax (credit)/expense

16

6

Segment reporting

17

7

Subscribed equity instruments and reserves

21

8

Trade and other receivables

23

9

Inventories

Better organised
Better linked
After

FONTERRA ANNUAL FINANC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2016
NOTE

PAGE

PERFORMANCE

10

1

Segment reporting

10

23

2

Cost of goods sold

14

10 Property, plant and equipment

24

3

Earnings per share

15

11

26

4

Profit before net finance costs and tax

15

Equity accounted investments

12 Intangible assets

27

13 Trade and other payables

28

14 Provisions

29

15

30

Borrowings

DEBT AND EQUITY

16

5

Subscribed equity instruments

16

6

Dividends paid

17

7

Borrowings

17

8

Net finance costs

20

16 Deferred tax

32

WORKING CAPITAL

17

Business combinations

32

9

Trade and other receivables

21

18 Financial risk management

32

10

Inventories

22

19 Contingent liabilities

45

20 Commitments

45

21 Related party transactions

46

22 Group entities

21

11

Trade and other payables

22

12

Owing to suppliers

22

LONG-TERM ASSETS

23

13

Property, plant and equipment

23

49

14

Livestock

25

23 Subsequent events

50

15

Intangible assets

26

24 Earnings per share

51

INVESTMENTS

28

25 Comparison to prospective financial information

51

16

Assets held for sale

28

17

Equity accounted investments

28

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

29

18

29

Financial risk management

OTHER
19

35

Taxation

35

20 Contingent liabilities, provisions and commitments

37

21

39

Related party transactions

22 Group entities

41

23

42

Net tangible assets per security

FONTERRA ANNUAL FINANCIAL RESULTS 2013
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FONTERRA ANNUAL FINANCIAL RESULTS 2016

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2016

c) Geographical
revenue
Case study
1—Fonterra
Co-operative Group Limited continued
GROUP $ MILLION

REST OF
ASIA

CHINA

NEW
ZEALAND

AUSTRALIA

UNITED
STATES

Geographical segment external revenue:
Communicating
relevant information in a concise and clear way
Year ended 31 July 2016

2,394

4,829

1,471

1,939

1,305

EUROPE

LATIN
AMERICA

REST OF
WORLD

TOTAL

745

2,053

2,463

17,199

The team madeYear
a number
of2015
changes designed to2,111
highlight
to communicate
them3,034
clearly18,845
ended 31 July
5,222relevant
1,560 matters
1,882 and1,198
725
3,113
and concisely. Revenue is allocated to geographical segments on the basis of the destination of the goods sold.
Descriptions of the
significant
accounting policies, judgements and estimates were relocated to the related notes.
d) Non-current
assets
According to Fonterra, this has made each note clearer. This change, together with
the
use of less formal and less
GROUP
$ MILLION
GLOBAL
INGREDIENTS
GREATER
LATIN
TOTAL
technical descriptions, has contributed to enhancing theAND
flow
and the understandability
ofASIA
the discussion
in eachGROUP
note.
OPERATIONS
OCEANIA
CHINA
AMERICA
NOTES
TO
THE
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
CONTINUED
1
The
from
and
2016
financial
statements
illustrate
this
change:
FORexcerpts
THE YEAR ENDED
31 JULYthe
2013 note ‘Cost of goods sold’ from the 2013
NEW
REST OF
NEW

Before
1

ZEALAND

WORLD

ZEALAND

AUSTRALIA

1,292

740

779

814

822

Geographical segment reportable non-current assets:

COST OF GOODS SOLD

As at 31 July 2016

5,459

301

GROUP $ MILLION

As at 31 July 2015

4,783

31 JULY 2013

Opening inventory

PARENT $ MILLION

464

31 JULY 2012

1,394

31 JULY 2013

31 JULY 2012

2,981

3,277

–

–

8,635

9,033

8,649

9,050

996

1,148

–

Cost of Milk:
– New Zealand sourced
– Non-New Zealand sourced
Other purchases
Closing inventory

Geographical segment non-current assets

11,200

GROUP $ MILLION
Better
linked
AS AT
31 JULY 2016

AS AT
31 JULY 2015

–

(3,078)

(2,981)

–

–

15,611

16,721

8,649

9,050

Deferred
assets
Parent Cost of Milk – New
Zealand tax
sourced
includes milk purchased from Fonterra Group companies of $14 million (2012: $17 million).

2

981

–

6,077
6,244
–
Reconciliation of geographical segment’s non-current
assets to total
non-current assets:

Total cost of goods sold

1,648

1,751
1,105
11,133
Entity-specific

11,200

11,133

410

732

Derivative financial instruments

417

373

Total NET
non-current
assetsAND TAx
PROFIT/(LOSS) bEFORE
FINANCE COSTS

12,027

12,238

After

2

COST OF GOODS SOLD

GROUP $ MILLION
NOTES

31 JULY 2013

PARENT $ MILLION

31 JULY 2012

31 JULY 2013

31 JULY 2012

The following items have been
in arriving
Costincluded
of goods
sold isatprimarily made up of New Zealand sourced cost of milk.
profit/(loss) before net finance costs and tax:
Auditors’ remuneration:

New Zealand sourced cost of milk includes the cost of milk supplied by farmer shareholders, supplier premiums paid, and the cost of milk
purchased from contract suppliers during the financial year.

– Fees paid for the audit or review of financial statements

4

4

2

2

New1 Zealand sourced cost of milk supplied by farmer2 shareholders2 comprises the– volume of milk
– solids supplied at the Farmgate Milk Price
– Fees paid for other services
Operating lease expense

as determined by the Board for the relevant season.72In making that
into account the Farmgate Milk Price
73 determination
– the Board takes
–

Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment
10
444 Manual, which
410 is independently
21
20 The Fonterra Farmgate Milk Price Statement
calculated
in accordance with the Farmgate
Milk Price
audited.
Amortisation of intangiblesets
assetsout information about the Farmgate
12
Milk Price,86and how it is82
calculated by 24
Fonterra. It can21be found in the ‘Our Financials/Farmgate
94

93

29

Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

5

2

–

1

Net loss on derecognition of software

–

9

–

1

Donations

2

3

2

3

Research and developmentmilk
costsprices’ section of the Fonterra website.

Research and development grants received from government
Total employee benefits expense

Opening
inventory
Included in employee benefits
expense
are:
– Contributions to defined
Costcontribution
of milk: plans

(4)

(9)

(3)

11

(4)

1,735

1,704

124

134

58

54

2

2

1 Other services include financial
reporting,
advisory
services, financial and information technology controls assurance and other attest services.
– New
Zealand
sourced

GROUP $ MILLION
31 JULY 2016

31 JULY 2015

3,025

3,701

6,205

7,121

944

1,151

Other purchases

5,794

6,619

Closing inventory

(2,401)

(3,025)

Total cost of goods sold

13,567

15,567

– Non-New Zealand sourced

14 |
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FONTERRA ANNUAL FINANCIAL RESULTS 2013

1 T
 he Financial Reporting Act 2013 in New Zealand withdrew the previous statutory requirement to present parent-entity financial statements along
with the consolidated financial statements. The 2013 Act first applied to Fonterra’s annual financial statements for the year ended 31 July 2015.
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c) Change in accounting policy
Except for the change in accounting policy described below, the
accounting policies used are consistent with those used to prepare
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 July 2012.
Cash flow statement
Fonterra adopted the Amendments to various existing New Zealand
International Financial Reporting Standards (Harmonisation
Amendments) during the year ended 31 July 2013. One of the changes
the Harmonisation Amendments introduced was the option to use the
indirect method of presenting cash flows from operating activities in
the cash flow statement. The Board has concluded that the indirect
provides users
the financial
statements
with more
relevant
Themethod
team reassessed
theofrelevance
of the
information
provided
in the notes. This resulted in a reduction of detail.
on the key factors
operating factors
cash when assessing whether information was material
Theinformation
company considered
both influencing
qualitativeFonterra’s
and quantitative
and be
improves
comparability
with international
andflows
should
retained
in its financial
statements.peers,
The and
‘Basis of consolidation’ note illustrates the effects of the
therefore, forThe
the year
ended 31
2013,of
Fonterra
has was
changed
its by focusing on information that investors find
reassessment.
reduction
inJuly
length
this note
achieved
accounting
to usethe
the events
indirectthat
method
of presenting
cash flows
important,
forpolicy
example,
trigger
consolidation
or equity accounting. In addition, information about
from
operating
activities.
This
change
in
accounting
policy
has
been
general consolidation procedures was deleted and information about equity-accounted investments was relocated to
retrospectively
and the comparative
figures
in the
Cash
theapplied
relevant
note. The following
excerpts from
the
2013
andFlow
2016 financial statements illustrate this change:
Statement have been updated to use the indirect method. This change
in
accounting policy is presentational only.
Before
d)

Basis of consolidation

FONTERRA ANNUAL FINANCIAL RESULTS 2016

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists
when the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2016
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The
the process
applying
the Group’s
A) GENERAL
INFORMATION
existence
and effect of potentialIn
voting
rights of
that
are currently
s as
accounting
policies,
management
make a
exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether
eFonterra Co-operative Group Limited
number
of
judgements,
estimates
of future
the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated
ed(Fonterra,
with the Company or the Co-operative)
events, and assumptions. These are all
the date
that control is transferred to the Group. They are dea co-operativefrom
company
incorporated
oisthe
believed to be reasonable based on the most
consolidated
from
the isdate control ceases.
and
domiciled
in
New
Zealand.
Fonterra
bility and
current set of circumstances available to the
the Companies Act 1993 and
Group.as
Judgements
and estimates
yregistered
differ underThe
cost of an acquisition is measured
the fair value
of the that have
the Co-operative Companies Act 1996, and is
the
most
significant
effect
on the amounts
ement or
assets
acquired,
instruments issued and liabilities incurred
an FMC Reporting
Entity
under theequity
Financial
recognised
in
the
financial
statements
orAct
assumed
at the date
Acquisition-related costs
are are
Markets Conduct
2013. Fonterra
is alsoof exchange.
described below and in the following notes:
expensed
incurred.
On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the
required to comply
with theasDairy
Industry
Group
interest
in the
acquiree
either
Restructuring Act
2001.recognises any non-controlling
Intangible
assets
(Note
15)
efinite life
at fair value or at the non-controlling
interest’s
proportionate
share
The recoverability of the carrying valueof
These
financial statements comprise Fonterra
impaired.
the
acquiree’s
net
assets.
The
excess
of the and
consideration
transferred,
of goodwill
indefinite life
brands is
and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the

BASIS OF PREPARATION

assessed at least annually to ensure they are
Group) and the Group’s interest in its equity
not impaired.
this assessment
ANNUALPerforming
FINANCIAL RESULTS
2013
7
accounted investees after adjustments to align FONTERRA
requires
management
to
estimate
future cash
to the accounting policies of the Group.
flows, pre tax discount rates and terminal
The Group operates predominantly in the
growth rates.
international dairy industry and is a profitoriented entity. The Group is primarily involved
Investment in Beingmate Baby & Child
Food Co., Ltd. (Beingmate) (Note 17)
in the collection, manufacture and sale of milk
and milk-derived products and in fast-moving
In line with the continued volatility in
consumer goods and foodservice businesses.
the Chinese share market, Beingmate’s share
price is below the price Fonterra paid for its
investment. As a result of this, the carrying
B) BASIS OF PREPARATION
value of the investment in Beingmate
These financial statements comply with
($739 million) has been assessed for
International Financial Reporting Standards
impairment. In performing this assessment,
(IFRS). These financial statements also
management have estimated the future cash
comply with New Zealand Equivalents to
flows expected to be generated from this
International Financial Reporting Standards
investment. The strong market fundamentals
(NZ IFRS) and have been prepared in
and recent changes to the regulatory regime
accordance with New Zealand Generally
in China are expected to have a positive
Accepted Accounting Practice (NZ GAAP).
impact on Beingmate’s future cash flows.
The value of the investment calculated using
These financial statements are prepared on
management’s estimate of future cash flows
a historical cost basis, except for derivative
supports the carrying value of the investment
financial instruments, livestock and the
held by Fonterra, therefore no impairment
hedged risks on certain debt instruments,
has been recognised.
which are recognised at their fair values.
These financial statements are presented
in New Zealand dollars ($ or NZD), which
is Fonterra’s functional currency, and
rounded to the nearest million, except
where otherwise stated.

treatment is often by its nature complex,
and may not be finally determined until a
formal resolution has been reached with
the relevant tax authority. Judgement is also
required in assessing the amount of deferred
tax asset that can be recognised. Deferred tax
assets relating to tax losses carried forward
can only be recognised if it is probable that
they can be used. A deferred tax asset can
be used if there are future taxable profits
to offset against the losses
carried forward.
Entity-specific
This requires management to assess the
likelihood, timing andSimple
expected amount
of
and direct
future taxable profits.

After

C) BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
In preparing these financial statements,
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
the Group gains control until the date on
which control ceases. The Group’s share of
results of equity accounted investments
is included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date that significant
influence or joint control commences, until
the date that significant influence or joint
control ceases. All intercompany transactions
are eliminated.

Translation of the financial statements
into NZD
The assets and liabilities of Group companies
whose functional currency is not NZD are
translated into NZD at the year end exchange
rate. The revenue and expenses of these
companies are translated into NZD at rates
approximating those at the dates of the
transactions. Exchange differences arising on
this translation are recognised in the foreign
currency translation reserve. On disposal
or partial disposal of an entity, the related
Provisions and contingent liabilities (Note 20)
exchange differences that were recorded
Legal counsel or other experts are consulted
in equity are recognised in the income
Better Communication in Financial Reporting | October 2017
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on matters that may give rise to a provision
statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.
or a contingent liability. Estimates and
The financial statements of a subsidiary in
assumptions are made in determining
a hyperinflationary economy are translated
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TAXATION CONTINUED

b) Taxation – statement of financial position
The table below outlines the deferred tax assets and liabilities that are recognised in the statement of financial position, together with
movements in the year:
GROUP $ MILLION

Case study 1—Fonterra Co-operative Group Limited continued
AS AT

AS AT
31 JULY 2015

31 JULY 2016

Deferred tax
(53)

Property, plant and equipment

(47)

The team merged information from notes that were previously shown separately. Fonterra can now more clearly show
Intangible assets
(522)
(535)
interrelated information. For example, the company merged separate notes on ‘contingent liabilities’, ‘provisions’
Derivative
financial
instruments
(30)
230
and ‘commitments’ into a single note in its 2016 financial statements.

Better
linked
75

Employee entitlements

Before
Inventories

Receivables, payables and provisions

19 CONTINGENT
CONTINGENTLIAbILITIES
LIAbILITIES
19

New Zealand tax losses

55

52

85

71

66

480

484

Inthe
thenormal
normalcourse
courseof
ofits
itsbusiness,
business,Fonterra,
Fonterra,its
itssubsidiaries
subsidiariesand
andequity
equityaccounted
accountedinvestees
investeesare
areexposed
exposedto
toclaims,
claims,legal
legalproceedings
proceedingsand
and
In
Offshore
taxthat
losses
287
arbitrations
mayin
insome
somecases
casesresult
resultin
incosts
coststo
tothe
theGroup.
Group.
arbitrations
that may

303

Other
6
On22August
August2013,
2013,Fonterra
Fonterrapublicly
publiclyannounced
announcedaapotential
potentialfood
foodsafety
safetyissue
issuewith
withthree
threebatches
batchesof
ofWhey
WheyProtein
ProteinConcentrate
Concentrate(WPC80)
(WPC80)
On
produced
at
the
Hautapu
manufacturing
site
and
initiated
a
precautionary
product
recall.
WPC80
is
used
as
an
ingredient
in
the
manufacture
Total
deferred
tax
366
produced at the Hautapu manufacturing site and initiated a precautionary product recall. WPC80 is used as an ingredient in the manufacture
ofaanumber
numberof
ofother
otherproducts
productswhich
whichhave
havebeen
beensubsequently
subsequentlyidentified
identifiedand
andrecalled
recalledby
byFonterra’s
Fonterra’scustomers.
customers.
of

(18)
623

Movements for the year

Forthe
thefinancial
financialyear
yearended
ended31
31July
July2013,
2013,Fonterra
Fonterrahas
hasprovided
providedfor
forcosts
costsassociated
associatedwith
withthe
thereplacement
replacementof
ofthe
therecalled
recalledproduct
productof
of$14
$14million.
million.
For
Opening
623may
Nofurther
furtherbalance
provisionhas
hasbeen
beenincluded
includedin
inthe
thefinancial
financialstatements.
statements.There
Thereisissignificant
significantuncertainty
uncertaintyas
asregards
regardsany
anyfuture
futureimpacts
impactsthat
that
may
No
provision
beexperienced
experiencedas
asaaconsequence
consequenceof
ofthis
thisprecautionary
precautionaryrecall.
recall.No
Nocontingent
contingentliability
liabilitycan
canbe
bereliably
reliablyquantified
quantifiedin
inregards
regardsto
topotential
potentialmarket
be
Recognised
in the
income
statement
15market
access,customer
customerclaims
claimsor
orreputational
reputationalconsequences.
consequences.
access,

226
179

–

Deferred tax on acquisition

InOctober
October2012
2012the
thepurchaser
purchaserof
ofthe
theGroup’s
Group’sformer
formerWestern
WesternAustralian
Australiandairy
dairybusiness
businessmade
madewarranty
warrantyclaims
claimsas
asdisclosed
disclosedin
inthe
theFonterra
Fonterra
In
Recognised
directly
in other comprehensive
income of AUD 103 million. The claimant subsequently revised their total claim
(262)
14
PROvISIONS
Shareholders’
Fund
Prospectus
and
Investment
Statement,
and
Shareholders’ Fund Prospectus and Investment Statement, of AUD 103 million. The claimant subsequently revised their total claim and
confirmed
asbeing
being
AUD37
37million.
million.The
Theclaim
claimisisin
indispute
disputeand
andin
inMay
May2013
2013the
theclaimant
claimantlodged
lodgedaaformal
formalstatement
statementof
ofclaim
claimwith
with(10)
the
Foreign
currency
translation
confirmed
ititas
AUD
the
$ MILLION
$ MILLION
AustralianCourt.
Court.Based
Basedon
oncurrently
currentlyavailable
availableinformation
informationand
andthe
theclaims
claimsmade
madeto
todate,
date,GROUP
Fonterra
willvigorously
vigorouslydefend
defendits
itsPARENT
position
anddoes
does
Australian
Fonterra
will
position
and
Closing
balance
366
notbelieve
believe
thatititisislikely
likelythese
theseclaims
claimswill
willresult
resultin
inaamaterial
materialobligation.
obligation.
31 JULY 2013
31 JULY 2012
31 JULY 2013
31 JULY 2012
not
that
TheDirectors
Directors
believe
thatthese
theseclaims,
claims,
legalproceedings
proceedings
and
arbitrationshave
havebeen
beenadequately
adequatelyprovided
providedfor
forand
anddisclosed
disclosedby
bythe
theGroup
Group
Included
within
statement
ofprovisions
financial
position asand
follows:
The
believe
that
legal
arbitrations
Restructuring
andthe
rationalisation
andthat
thatthere
thereare
areno
noadditional
additionallegal
legalproceedings
proceedingsor
orarbitrations
arbitrationsthat
thatare
arepending
pendingat
atthe
thedate
dateof
ofthese
thesefinancial
financialstatements
statementsthat
thatrequire
require
and
Deferredbalance
tax assets
Opening
21
7
11 410
provisionor
ordisclosure.
disclosure.
provision
Additional
provisions
46
19
13 (44)
Deferred tax
liabilities
At31
31July
July2013
2013the
theGroup
Group and Parent had no other contingent liabilities (31 July 2012: nil).
At
Unused
amounts
reversedand Parent had no other contingent liabilities (31 July 2012: nil). (10)
(1)
(9)

Total deferred tax

366

Charged to income statement
36
18
4
20 COMMITMENTS
COMMITMENTS
20
Balancecurrency
expected
to be recovered or settled:
Foreign
translation
(2)
–
–
Capitaland
andintangible
intangibleasset
assetexpenditure
expenditurecommitments
commitments
Capital
Utilised
during
the year
(15)
(4)
(4) 221
Within
12
months
Capitaland
andintangible
intangibleasset
assetexpenditure
expenditurecontracted
contractedfor
forat
atbalance
balancedate
datebut
butnot
notrecognised
recognisedin
inthe
thefinancial
financialstatements
statementsare
areas
asfollows:
follows:
Capital
Closing balance
40
21
11

Later than 12 months

Total claims
deferred
tax
Legal
provisions

145

GROUP$$MILLION
MILLION
GROUP
ASAT
AT
AS
31 JULY 2013

1

ASAT
AT
AS
31 JULY 2012

ASAT
AT
AS
31 JULY 2013

28
623

732

10

(109)

–

623

10
–
–
11

PARENT$$MILLION
MILLION
PARENT

366

(91)
281

ASAT
AT
AS
31 JULY 2012

475
148
623

31 JULY 2013
31 JULY 2012
31 JULY 2013
31 JULY 2012
Opening
balance
83
46
83 in the
Tax loss carry
forwards of $471 million (31 July 2015: $2,039 million) are recognised46
by Group operations
which reported
a taxable loss

Additional
Buildingsorprovisions
23– against future
62– taxable income,
current
prior year. Fonterra considers it probable that these tax losses can be offset
Buildings
23
62
––– taking into consideration
–––
Unused
amounts
reversed
(14)
(16)
(14)
(16)
Plant,
vehicles
and
equipment
166
241
4
Fonterra’s
future
expectations
including
approved
business
plans
for
those
operations.
Plant, vehicles and equipment
166
241
4
33
Charged
toassets
income statement
(14)
(16)
(14)
(16)
Intangible
assets
9
5
7
3
Intangible
9
5
7
3
The Group has not recognised deferred tax liabilities in respect of unremitted earnings that are considered indefinitely reinvested in foreign
Foreign
currency
translation
Totalcapital
capital
commitments
198–
308–
11–
Total
commitments
198
308
11
66–

subsidiaries. As at 31 July 2016, these earnings amount to $675 million (31 July 2015: $729 million). These could be subject to withholding and other

Utilised
the year
–
(21)
–
(21)
taxes onduring
remittance.
Operating
leasecommitments
commitments
Closing
balance
32
46
32
46
Operating
lease
TheGroup
Groupleases
leasespremises,
premises,plant
plantand
andequipment.
equipment.The
Thefuture
futureaggregate
aggregateminimum
minimumlease
leasepayments
paymentsunder
undernon-cancellable
non-cancellableoperating
operatingleases
leasesare
areas
as
The
20
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, PROVISIONS AND COMMITMENTS
follows:
follows:
Other
provisions

After

Opening balance

97 $$MILLION
83
5 $$MILLION
24
GROUP
MILLION
PARENT
MILLION
GROUP
PARENT
Contingent liabilities
37
57
4
3
AS
AT
AS
AT
AS
AT
AS
AT
ASinvestees
AT
AS AT
ASand
AT legal proceedings
AS AT
In the normal course of business, Fonterra, its subsidiaries and equity accounted
are
exposed
to claims
that may
31JULY
JULY2013
2013
31JULY
JULY2012
2012
31JULY
JULY2013
2013
31JULY
JULY2012
2012
31
31
31
31
Unused amounts reversed
(30)
(13)
(2)
(6)
in some cases result in costs to the Group.
Additional provisions

Charged
income
44
2
(3)
Lessthan
thanto
one
year statement
767
76
Less
one
year
76
76
–– Concentrate (WPC80)
––
In early
August
2013,
Fonterra publicly announced a potential food safety issue with
of
Foreign
currency
translation
(1)three batches
7 Whey Protein–
–
One
to
five
years
142
162
1
One
to fiveat
years
142 recall.
162
1
––
produced
the Hautapu manufacturing site and initiated a precautionary product
Utilised
during
theyears
year
(17)
(37)
(3)
(16)
Greater
than
five
22
31
–
–
Greater than five years
22
31
–
–
In
lateoperating
August
New Zealand Government confirmed that the Clostridium samples
found in269
WPC80
were not Clostridium
botulinum
and were
Closing
balance2013,
86
97
4
5
Total
leasethe
commitments
240
Total
operating lease
commitments
240
269
11
––
not toxigenic,
meaning the consumers of products containing the relevant batches of
WPC80 were never
Total
provisions
158
164 in danger from
47 Clostridium botulinum.
62
Included within the statement of financial position as follows:
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Total provisions

82

83

14

20

76

81

33

42

158

164

47

62

The nature of the provisions are as follows:
– the provision for restructuring and rationalisation includes obligations relating to planned changes throughout the business to improve
efficiencies and reduce costs. None of the provisions are individually significant. The value of the obligation is based on project plans, and the
expected to be
the next| October
year. 2017
12 provisions
| BetterareCommunication
in utilised
Financialin
Reporting
– the legal claims provisions include obligations relating to tax, customs and duties and legal matters arising in the normal course of business.
None of the provisions are individually significant. The timing and amount of the future obligations are uncertain, as they are contingent on
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Balance at 31 July 2013

107,969

1 The Fund commenced issuing Units on 30 November 2012.
2 Includes 60 million Units issued under the Supply Offer.
3 Includes 60 million Units redeemed by Fonterra under the Supply Offer.

Units are issued by the Fund. In respect of the Co-operative shares which it holds, the Custodian is required under trust to pass to the Fund the
following rights of those Co-operative shares:
– the right to receive any dividends declared by the Fonterra Board;
– the right to any other distributions made in respect of Co-operative shares; and
– rights to share in any surplus on liquidation of Fonterra.
The
Fund then
attaches
theseRESULTS
rights to
Units it issues.
FONTERRA
ANNUAL
FINANCIAL
2016
A Shareholder supplier who holds a Unit can require the Fund to effectively exchange it for a Co-operative share held by the Custodian. The
Custodian relinquishes legal ownership of that Co-operative share (provided that completion of this transaction would not put that Shareholder
Thesupplier
teaminre-formatted
the content to be more investor-friendly. The
excerpts from the note ‘Dividends paid’ from
breach of the limits on Co-operative share ownership explained above). A Unit
is cancelled by the Fund, as all Units in the Fund must
CONTINUED
FONTERRA ANNUAL
FINANCIAL RESULTS
thebe
2013
financial
statements
show how a table can be used to present data-intensive
information
more2016
backed
by a 2016
Co-operative
share
held
by the Custodian.
FOR
THEand
YEAR
ENDED
31 JULY
2016

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

effectively.
Equity transaction costs
10 INVENTORIES

Better formatted

During the year, the Group incurred transaction costs of $18 million, which were directly attributable to the issue of shares and Units as a part
of the launch of Trading Among Farmers. These costs have been treated as a deduction against subscribed equity.

Before
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value on a first-in-first-out basis.

Dividends paid

the case ofshares,
manufactured
inventories
and work
in progress, cost includes all direct costs plus the portion of fixed and variable production
5All In
SUBSCRIBED
EQUITY
INSTRUMENTS
Co-operative
including
those held by theCONTINUED
Custodian on trusts for the benefit of the Fund, are eligible to receive a dividend if declared
overheads
incurred
in
bringing
inventories
into
their
present location and condition.
by the Board.
The
Group provides returns to farmer shareholders through a milk price, and to equity holders through dividends and changes in the Company’s
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the costs of completion and selling expenses.
share
On 25 price.
September 2012, the Board declared a dividend of 20 cents per Co-operative share (totalling $287 million), paid on 20 October 2012 to all
Co-operative shares on issue at 31 May 2012.

The Fund is subject to the issue and redemption of units at the discretion of Fonterra and Fonterra’s farmer shareholders.
Fonterra
has an interest
GROUP
$ MILLION
Onensuring
26 Marchthe
2013,
the Board
declared
dividend of a16Fund
centsSize
per share
(totalling $256Policy,
million),
paid on
19 Aprilthat
2013the
to all
Co-operative
in
stability
of the
Fund an
andinterim
has established
Risk Management
which
requires
number
of units on issue
AT
AS AT
shares on
issue specified
at 12 Aprillimits
2013. and that within these limits, the number of units is managed appropriately. Fonterra mayASuse
remain
within
31 JULY 2016 a range of measures
31 JULY 2015
to
thedeclared
Fund size
remains
specified
limits,
Theensure
dividend
after
balancewithin
date isthe
explained
in Note
23.including introducing or cancelling a dividend reinvestment plan, operating a unit
After
Raw
materials
647
700
and/or
share repurchase programme and issuing new shares.
Foreign currency translation reserve
Finished
goods
1,793
The
foreign
currency translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial statements
6 DIVIDENDS PAID
of
foreign
operations
as
well
as
from
the
effective
portion
of
translation
or
fair
value
changes
of
instruments
that
hedge
the
Group’s
Impairment of finished goods
(39)net
investment in foreign operations.

2,428
(103)

All Co-operative
Total
inventories shares, including those held by the Custodian on trust for the benefit of the Fund, are eligible to receive
2,401 dividends if declared
3,025
Cash flow hedge reserve
by the Board. Dividends paid to the Custodian are passed on to unit holders by the FSF Management Company Limited (the Manager).
The cash flow hedge reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging instruments
Dividends
are recognised
as
a liability
theoccurred.
Group’s financial statements in the period in which they are declared by the Board.
related
to hedged
transactions
that
have notinyet
11 TRADE
AND
OTHER PAYABLES

$ MILLION

Trade and other payables, excluding amounts owing to farmer shareholders and New Zealand contract milk suppliers, are initially recognised
ENDED
YEAR
ENDED
at the amount invoiced by the supplier. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective YEAR
interest
method. Due to
their
DIVIDENDS
31 JULY 2016
31 JULY 2015
short-term nature, trade and other payables are not discounted.

2016 Interim dividend – 10 cents per share¹

160

22 FONTERRA
FINANCIAL
2016
InterimANNUAL
dividend
– 20RESULTS
cents 2013
per

GROUP $ MILLION

share²

2015 Final dividend – 15 cents per share³

–

320

–

AS AT
240
31 JULY 2016

AS AT
–
31 JULY 2015

2015 Interim dividend – 10 cents per share⁴
–
160
TradeFinal
payables
1,640–
1,569
2014
dividend – 5 cents per share⁵
80
related
parties
16to this interim dividend. 19
1Amounts
Declared due
on 16to
May
2016 and
paid on 7 June 2016 to all Co-operative shares on issue at 30 May 2016. The Dividend Reinvestment Plan applied

The team provided information and explanations to help investors understand the company’s financial statements.
2 Declared
on 22 March 2016 and paid on 20 April 2016 to all Co-operative shares on issue at 8 April 2016. The Dividend Reinvestment Plan applied
to this interim dividend.
payables
211amounts
109
For3Other
example,
20152015
financial
included
a new
about the
owed
to
Declared on 23the
September
and paid onstatements
20 October 2015 to
all Co-operative
sharesnote
on issuecovering
at 8 October information
2015. The Dividend Reinvestment
Plan applied to this
dividend.
trade
other
payables
employee
entitlements)
1,867
1,697
4Total
Declared
onand
24 March
2015
and paid(excluding
on 20 April
to all Co-operative
sharesfrom
on issue
at 102016
April 2015.
The Dividend
Reinvestment Plan
applied
to this
interim
dividend.
Fonterra’s
farmer
shareholders.
The2015
following
excerpt
the
financial
statements
shows
this
new
note:
5 Declared on 23 September 2014 and paid on 20 October 2014 to all Co-operative shares on issue at 9 October 2014.

Employee entitlements
302
287
Dividends declared after balance date
Entity-specific1,984
Total trade and other payables
2,169
On 18 August 2016, the Board declared a dividend of 10 cents per share. This dividend totalling $160 million was paid on 9 September 2016 to all
Co-operative shares on issue at 1 September 2016.
12 OWING TO SUPPLIERS
Fonterra has a Dividend Reinvestment Plan, where eligible shareholders can choose to reinvest all or part of their dividend in additional Cooperative shares. The Dividend Reinvestment Plan did apply to this dividend. Full details of the Dividend Reinvestment Plan are available in the
Amounts
owing
to suppliers
are amounts
‘Our
Financials’
section
of Fonterra’s
website.Fonterra owes to farmer shareholders and New Zealand contract milk suppliers for the collection
of milk, which includes end of season adjustments, offset by amounts owing from farmer shareholders for goods and services provided to
by Fonterra.
7 them
BORROWINGS
These amounts are initially recognised at fair value, being the amount due to the supplier for the milk provided. They are subsequently
measured
amortised
cost
using
the effective
interest and
method.
The
Group at
borrows
in the
form
of bonds,
bank facilities
other financial instruments. The interest expense incurred on Fonterra’s
borrowings is shown in Note 8.
The Board uses its discretion in establishing the rate at which Fonterra will pay suppliers for the milk supplied over the season. This is referred to
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost
as the advance rate. The following table provides a breakdown of the advance payments made to suppliers:
using the effective interest method, with the hedged risks on certain debt instruments measured at fair value. Changes in fair value of those
AS AT hedges and cash
AS AT
hedged risks are recognised in the income statement, except where they relate to borrowings classified as net investment
31 JULY 2016
31 JULY 2015
flow hedges and recorded directly in other comprehensive income.
Owing to suppliers ($ million)
719
159
Economic
net
interest-bearing
debt
Final milk price for the season
$3.90
$4.40
Economic net interest-bearing debt reflects the effect of debt hedging in place at balance date.
Of this amount:
GROUP $ MILLION

$3.48

– Total advance payments made during the year
– Total owing as at 31 July
Amount
advanced during
year as a percentage of the milk price for the season ended 31 May
Net
interest-bearing
debtthe
position

Total borrowings
Cash and cash equivalents
Interest-bearing advances included in other non-current assets
Bank overdraft

$4.33

AS AT
31 $0.42
JULY 2016

AS AT
31 JULY
2015
$0.07

89%

98%

6,352

7,560
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(369)

(342)

(464)

(65)

12

39

Case study 1—Fonterra Co-operative Group Limited continued
Key benefits, reactions and challenges
According to Fonterra, an immediate benefit of having improved communication in its financial statements is that
they have become easier to read and understand.
Once the company decided that it would undertake the process of improving the communication in its financial
statements, the main challenge was ‘what to tackle first’, but once the process had started the company found it
much easier to proceed. Other challenging areas were decisions around who should be involved in the process, as
well as ensuring that the disclosure requirements of IFRS Standards were fulfilled, while at the same time removing
immaterial information (for example, deciding what information was relevant, what could be reduced, what could be
deleted, and what could be merged).

Areas of success and lessons learnt
To ensure success, Fonterra said the first step should always be to get buy-in from senior managers. In addition,
Fonterra identified the importance of gathering the correct mix of representatives among a company’s major internal
and external stakeholder groups (ie ‘getting the right people in the room’). Such discussions should be focused and
realistic, while acknowledging that there is no single ‘correct’ way to present information in the financial statements.
It was also important that there was an agreed timeline.
Fonterra sees improving communication as a continuous process, to be revisited each financial reporting period.

The most challenging bit of the process was actually getting started. Once that was done,
having senior management’s support and the right people in the room were then key
ingredients for success.
What next?
Fonterra will continue ‘refreshing’ its financial statements. This effort will initially be focused on presenting clear
explanations and investor-focused information following the implementation of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.

14 |

Better Communication in Financial Reporting | October 2017

Case study 2—Wesfarmers Limited
Wesfarmers Limited is an Australian conglomerate, whose operations span a retail division with businesses in
supermarkets, home improvement, office supplies and department stores, and an industrial division with businesses
in chemicals, energy and fertilisers, industrial and safety products, and coal. The company is listed on the Australian
Securities Exchange.

Triggers of change
Historically, Wesfarmers’ financial statements took a long time to prepare, due in part to the company’s diverse
portfolio of businesses. The resulting financial statements were long and filled with technical jargon that attracted
a lot of questions from investors who struggled to find or understand the information they needed. In 2014, the
company celebrated its centenary year and the 30th anniversary of its public listing. This prompted senior managers
to examine how they could improve communication in the company’s financial statements. Wesfarmers published its
first streamlined financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2014.

Our directors felt that the financial reporting process was compliance-driven and
burdensome. It was time we refocused the attention on communicating our story.
The process
Wesfarmers started the process of streamlining its financial statements in October 2013. A team comprising senior
managers and staff developed draft versions of the streamlined set of financial statements. This involved rephrasing,
removing and relocating information. Different versions were presented to various departments within the company, as
well as its audit and risk committee. Throughout the process, the team maintained an open dialogue with committee
members and departments, addressing questions about proposed changes. To reduce risks, senior managers decided the
development of the streamlined set of financial statements would run in parallel with the preparation of the customary
financial statements.
To ensure that the streamlined financial statements addressed the information needs of Wesfarmers’ investors, the team
reviewed queries sent to the investor-relations team, considered questions raised at annual general meetings and looked
at feedback received during discussions with institutional investors, retail investors’ representative bodies, regulators
and auditors.

Restructuring the notes
The team grouped the notes into six key sections: ‘Key numbers’, ‘Capital’, ‘Risk’, ‘Group structure’, ‘Unrecognised
items’ and ‘Other’. This aimed to help stakeholders better understand the structure and location of information in
the company’s financial statements. The following excerpts from the 2013 and 2016 financial statements illustrate
this change:

Better Communication in Financial Reporting | October 2017
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Case study 2—Wesfarmers Limited continued
Before

WESFARMERS | ANNUAL REPORT 2013

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Financial statements

Entity-specific
Better organised

for the year ended 30 June 2013 – Wesfarmers Limited and its controlled entities

Better linked

OVERVIEW

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS: ABOUT THIS REPORT
Directors’
declaration
Income
statement
96
Contents
FOR THE YEAR
ENDED
30 JUNE 2016
After

176

97

Independent
auditor’s report
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Balance sheet

98

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 – WESFARMERS LIMITED AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES
Annual
statement of coal resources and reserves 178

Cash flow statement
Statement of changes in equity

99
100

Income and expenses

118

10 Inventories
The ﬁnancial report
is a general purpose ﬁnancial report which:

124

11 Investments backing insurance contracts,

Financial
Income statement
The ﬁnancial
statements
of subsidiaries are prepared for the
statements
Statementas
of comprehensive
same reporting period
the parentincome
company, using consistent
Balance
sheet
accounting policies.
Adjustments
are made to bring into line any
Cash ﬂow
statement that may exist.
dissimilar accounting
policies

Page 86
Page 87
Page 88
Page 89

Statement of changes in equity

In preparing the consolidated ﬁnancial statements, all inter-company
balances
and transactions, income and expenses and proﬁts and
Notes to
About this report
losses
from intra-Group transactions have been eliminated.
theresulting
ﬁnancial
information
statements are Segment
Subsidiaries
consolidated from the date on which control is
obtained to the date on which control is disposed. The acquisition
Unrecognised
numbers
Capital
structure ofitems
of subsidiaries isKey
accounted
for using theRisk
acquisitionGroup
method
accounting.
1. Income
10. Capital
15. Financial risk
18. Associates
21. Commitments

Page 90

Page 91
Page 93

Other

173

Signiﬁcant and other accounting policies that summarise the WES FARMERS 20 16 ANNUAL REPORT
measurement basis used and are relevant to an understanding of
the ﬁnancial statements are provided throughout the notes to the
ﬁnancial statements.

Better linked

Page
Note 1

Income

98

Note 3

Tax expense

100

Note 6

Inventories

101

Note 7

Property, plant and equipment

102

Note 8

Goodwill and intangible assets

103

Note 9

Provisions

118

Note 17

Impairment of non-ﬁnancial assets

120

Note 18

Associates and joint arrangements

125

Note 21

Commitments and contingencies

95

UNRECOGNISED
ITEMS

96

85

GROUP
STRUCTURE

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made a number of judgements and
applied estimates of future events. Judgements and estimates which
are material to the ﬁnancial report are found in the following notes:

Simple and direct

Other accounting policies

OTHER

2 T
 he Discussion Paper Disclosure Initiative—Principles of Disclosure suggests using the term ‘primary financial statements’ for the following statements:
financial position, financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows.
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22. Events after the 24. Deed of Cross
Foreign currency
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Financial Reporting 128
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Intangible
assets
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issued
by the International Accounting
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Other
assets
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20. Business
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16 Trade and other payables
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assets
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17 Interest-bearing
borrowings
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13. Earnings per
26. Related party
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are
translated
into
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dollars
at
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share
transactions
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18 by
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rate of exchange5.ruling
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sheet date and the income
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Interest-bearing
27. Other
which have been
measured at fair value. The carrying values of 136
19 Insurance liabilities
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accounting
statements
are
translated
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the
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exchange
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borrowings
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20 Other liabilities
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year. The exchange
differences arising on the retranslation are taken
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28. Share-based
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payments
21 Contributed equity
141
directly
to
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separate
component
of
equity.
cost, are adjusted to record changes in the fair values attributable
earnings
143
7. Property, plant
29. Director and
to the risks that22areRetained
being hedged;
and equipment
executive
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23 Reserves
143
disclosures
– is presented in Australian dollars with all values rounded to the
functional currency
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30. Tax
Financial risk management objectives and policies
nearest million 24
dollars
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intangible
transparency
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assets and liabilities denominated in
assets
disclosures
25 ASIC
Hedging
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foreign currencies
translated at the rate of exchange ruling
9. are
Provisions
26 Commitments
and contingencies
157
Directors’ Reports)
Instrument 2016/191;
at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising from the
27 Events after the balance sheet date
– presents reclassiﬁed
comparative information where required for158
application of these procedures are taken to the income statement,
The team
also
added
a
section
called
‘About
this
report’
immediately after the primary financial statements.2 In this
28
Interest
in
jointly
controlled
assets
159
consistency with the current year’s presentation;
with the exception of differences on foreign currency borrowings
29 Parent disclosures
160
thatof
provide
a hedge against afinancial
net investment
in a foreign entity,
section,
Wesfarmers
explained
the
basis of
its consolidated
statements,
identified where
– adopts
all new and amended
Accounting
Standards
andpreparation
30 Subsidiaries
161
which are taken directly to equity until the disposal of the net
Interpretations issued by the AASB that are relevant to the
information
about
key
judgements
and
estimates
could
be
found
(see
excerpt
below)
and
described
31
Deed
of
Cross
Guarantee
167
investment and are then recognised in the income statement. Taxhow information
Group and effective for reporting periods beginning on or before
32 Related
transactions
169
charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on those
1 July
2015.was
Refer
to noteparty
27 for
further details; and
in the
notes
organised.
33 Auditor’s remuneration
169
borrowings are also recognised in equity.
– equity accounts for associates listed at note 18.

GOVERNANCE

The consolidated 5general
purpose
ﬁnancial report of the
Income
tax
119
Group for the year6 ended
30 per
June
2016 was authorised for
Earnings
share
121
issue in accordance
a resolution
of the directors on
7 with
Dividends
paid and proposed
121
21 September 2016.
The Directors
have the power to amend and
8 Cash
and cash equivalents
122
reissue the ﬁnancial
9 report.
Trade and other receivables
123

182

The consolidated ﬁnancial statements comprise the ﬁnancial
Investor information
183(subsidiaries) at
statements
of the Group. A list of controlled entities
yearCorporate
end is contained
directory in note 19.
184

SEGMENT
INFORMATION

4

180

Five-year financial history

SUSTAINABILITY

Wesfarmers Limited (referred to as ‘Wesfarmers’) is a for-proﬁt
Notes
to the
financial statements
101
company limited by
shares
incorporated
and domiciled in Australia
whose shares are publicly traded on the Australian Securities
1 Corporate information
101
Exchange. The nature of the operations and principal activities of
2 Summary of significant accounting policies
101
Wesfarmers and its subsidiaries (referred to as ‘the Group’) are
3 Segment information
115
described in the segment
information.

Shareholder information

Basis
of consolidation
Contents

OPERATING AND
FINANCIAL REVIEW

About this report

177

ABOUT THIS
REPORT

Statement of comprehensive income

TEMENTS:
2016

– Capital: provides information about the capital management
practices of the Group and shareholder returns for the year;
– Risk: discusses the Group’s exposure to various ﬁnancial risks,
explains how these affect the Group’s ﬁnancial position and
performance and what the Group does to manage these risks;
– the amount in question is signiﬁcant because of its size or nature;
– Group structure: explains aspects of the group structure and how
– it is important for understanding the results of the Group;
changes have affected the ﬁnancial position and performance of
the Group;
– it helps to explain the impact of signiﬁcant changes in the Group’s
business – for example, acquisitions and impairment writedowns;
– Unrecognised items: provides information about items that are
or
not recognised in the ﬁnancial statements but could potentially
have a signiﬁcant impact on the Group’s ﬁnancial position and
– it relates to an aspect of the Group’s operations that is important to
performance; and
its future performance.
–
Other: provides information on items which require disclosure to
The notes are organised into the following sections:
comply with Australian Accounting Standards and other regulatory
pronouncements. However, these are not considered critical in
– Key numbers: provides a breakdown of individual line items in the
This section
also included
about
most
transactions
during
the reporting
period
in order
understanding
the ﬁnancial
performance
or position
of the Group.
ﬁnancial statements
that theinformation
directors consider
most the
relevant
andimportant
summarises
the accounting
policies,
judgements
and estimates
give them
greater
prominence
in the
financial
statements.
relevant to understanding these line items;
The notes include information which is required to understand the
ﬁnancial statements and is material and relevant to the operations,
ﬁnancial position and performance of the Group. Information is
considered material and relevant if, for example:

to

Better organised

Signiﬁcant items in the current reporting period
Funding activities

Acquisition

Borrowings - Proceeds

Home Improvement: on 27 February 2016, Wesfarmers’ acquisition
of the Homebase business for £340 million (A$665 million) was
completed. Homebase is the second largest home improvement
and garden retailer in the United Kingdom (UK) and Republic
of Ireland. The Homebase acquisition delivers an established
and scalable platform with stores that are the right size for the
UK market and a low-cost operating model. Homebase will be
reinvigorated to build a new Bunnings-branded business over three
to ﬁve years. Refer to note 20 for further details on the acquisition.

During February 2016, Wesfarmers established three-year bank
facilities totalling £515 million and £115 million of one-year facilities
(totalling £630 million or A$1,135 million) to fund the acquisition and
FINANCIALcapital
STATEMENTS
provide working
to Homebase Limited.
In June 2016,
Wesfarmers
established
A$500 million
of NUMBERS
new
NOTES
TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS:
KEY
three-year
bank
facilities.
Other 30
bank
facilities
FOR
THE
YEAR ENDED
JUNE
2016 held with Wesfarmers’
relationship banks that matured during the ﬁnancial year were
renewed and extended for periods ranging from one year to three
years, in line with original facility tenors.
5. Receivables (continued)

Borrowings - Repayments

6. Inventories

Recognition and measurement

Impairments

CONSOLIDATED

Target: impairments to the
2016carrying
2015 value of Target of $1,266 million
Trade receivables,
ﬁnance advances,
loans and
other debtors
aremillion
all
In July 2015,
EURO medium
term notes
totalling
€500
Communicating
relevant
information
in a concise
and
clear
manner
classiﬁed as ﬁnancial assets held at amortised cost.
($1,249
million
after-tax)
were
recorded
during FY2016. The
$m
$m
(A$756 million) matured. In May 2016, US144A bonds totalling

decrease in Target’s recoverable amount largely reﬂects its current

US$650
million
(A$604
million)
matured.
Thesechanges
were repaid
using
Raw
materials
92
112
receivables
The
team Trade
believes
that
a series
of small
made
throughout the financial statements,
highlighting
relevant
outlook
and changes in its
strategic
Work in progress trading performance, short-term
18
55
Trade receivables
generally
have terms of up to 30 days. They
existing facilities
and cash
balances.
plan.
Theaimpairments
were
recorded
as
writedowns
of Target’s
are recognised
initially at fair value and
subsequently
at amortised
matters and
communicating
them
clearly
and concisely,
made
huge impact
The
following
paragraphs
Finished goodshas
6,150 overall.
5,330
WESFARMERS
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REPORT
2013 method, less an allowance for
cost
using therefer
effective
For further
details
to interest
note 14 for the Group’s debt proﬁle.
share of goodwill arising6,260
on the 5,497
acquisition of the Coles Group, as
describe
some
of these
changes.
impairment.
well as selected individual assets based in stores.

30 Juneaccounting
2016 totalled $48,182
million (2015:
$45,682 million).
veriﬁcation
procedures. Receivable
balances
are
The
team extensive
relocated
information
about
the significant
judgements
and value
estimates
intoofthe relevant
Notes
tocredit
the
financial
statements
Curragh:policies,
an
impairment
to the carrying
of Curragh
monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad
$850
million
($595
million after-tax) was recorded during FY2016.
for the year
ended
30
June
2013 –excerpts
Wesfarmers
Limited
andreceivables
its controlled
Recognition
and
measurement
debts
is not
signiﬁcant.
With respect
to trade
thatentities
notes.
The
following
from
the
inventories
note illustrate
these
changes:
Customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to

Inventories recognised as an expense for the year ended

are neither impaired nor past due, there are no indications as of
the reporting date that the debtors will not meet their payment
obligations.

Theatdecrease
amount reﬂects the difﬁcult industry
Inventories are valued
the lower of in
costthe
andrecoverable
net realisable value.
The net realisableenvironment
value of inventories
is the estimated
sellingcoal
price supply has proven to be more
where
the global
in the ordinary course of business less estimated costs to sell.

Before

Finance advances and loans
10: Inventories

resilient than generally expected. This mainly reﬂects a slower
CONSOLIDATED
forecast recovery in long-term
export coal prices and higher volatility
2013rates). The
2012impairment was recorded as a
(including in exchange
$m
$m
Key estimate: net realisable value
writedown of the depreciable and amortisable assets of Curragh.

Finance advances and loans consist of non-derivative ﬁnancial
assets with ﬁxed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. They are measured at amortised cost. A
risk assessment process is used for new loan and credit card
103
Raw materials
The key assumptions, which require the use
of management92
applications, which ranges from conducting credit assessments
further affecting
detailscosts
on 27
impairment
refer
Work in progress
judgement, areFor
the variables
recognised in 39
to relying on the assessments of ﬁnancial risk provided by credit
bringing the inventory to their location and
condition for 4,875
sale,
4,917
Finished goods
insurers. Ageing analysis of advances and loans past due is
estimated
costs
to
sell
and
the
expected
selling
price.
These
reviewed
an ongoing
to measure
manage emerging
5,047
5,006
Total inventories
at theon
lower
of cost basis
and net
realisableand
value
key assumptions are reviewed at least annually. The total
KEY NUMBERScredit risks to the Group. Any balances that are neither impaired nor
expense relating to inventory writedowns during the year
past due are expected to be fully recoverable. Please refer to note
Inventories recognised as an expense for the year ended 30 June 2013 totalled $42,218
million
(2012:
$40,987
million).
was $50
million
(2015:
$46 million).
Any reasonably possible
15(d) for further details on credit quality, credit risk assessment and
change in the estimate is unlikely to have a material impact.
management.

Entity-specific

to note 17.

Better linked

After

11: Investments backing insurance contracts, reinsurance and other recoveries

Impairment of trade receivables, ﬁnance advances and
The followingloans
disclosures relate to the general insurance companies that comprise the Insurance division:
Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present
location and
CONSOLIDATED
6. Inventories
Collectability and impairment are assessed on an ongoing basis at

condition are accounted for as follows:
2013
2012
a divisional level. Impairment is recognised
in the income statement
CONSOLIDATED
$m
$m
when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able
–
Raw
materials:
purchase
cost
on
a
weighted
average
basis.
2016
2015
nd other debtors are all
to collect the debts. Financial difﬁculties of the debtor, probability
– Manufactured ﬁnished goods and work in progress: cost of direct
d cost.
$m
$m
Current
that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or ﬁnancial reorganisation
materials and labour and a proportion of manufacturing overheads
15
Investments backing
insurance
contracts
– corporate
and default
or delinquency
in payments
are bonds
considered objective
based on normal operating capacity, but excluding borrowing
Raw materials
92
112
evidenceinsurance
of impairment.
The amount
the impairment
loss is
1,018 coal stocks
1,152
Investments backing
contracts
– term of
deposits
costs. Work in progress also includes run-of-mine
for
Work in progress
18 present55
to 30 days. They
the
receivable
carrying
amount
compared
to
the
value
of
Resources, consisting of production costs of 283
drilling, blasting and
538
Reinsurance and other recoveries
quently at amortised
Finished goods
estimated future cash ﬂows, discounted at6,150
the original5,330
effective
overburden removal.
1,316
1,690
an allowance for
interest rate. Cash ﬂows relating to short-term
6,260receivables
5,497 are not
– Retail and wholesale merchandise ﬁnished goods: purchase cost on
Non-currentdiscounted if the effect of discounting is immaterial. Debts that
a weighted average basis, after deducting any settlement discounts,
are recognised
known to be
arethe
written ended
off when identiﬁed. If an
asuncollectable
ancontracts
expense
for
supplier rebates and including logistics expenses
s are subject to
92 Inventories
WESFARMERS
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182incurred in bringing
Investments
backing
insurance
-N
corporate
allowance
been
recognised
formillion).
a debt that then
the inventories to their present location and condition.
30 Juneimpairment
2016 totalled
$48,182has
million
(2015:
$45,682
eivable balances are Reinsurance
175
193
and otheruncollectable,
recoveries the debt is written off against the allowance
becomes
p’s exposure to bad
account.
If anmeasurement
amount is subsequently recovered, it is credited
Volume-related supplier rebates, and supplier 357
promotional rebates
193
Recognition
and
receivables that
against proﬁt or loss.
where they exceed spend on promotional activities, are accounted
no indications as of
for as a reduction in the cost of inventory and recognised in the
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
eet their payment
debtors
Investments
backing
income statement when the inventory is sold.
The net Other
realisable
valueinsurance
of inventoriescontracts
is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary
course
of generally
business
less are
estimated
costs assets
to outside
sell. at fair
Investments
backing
insurance
contracts
alltransactions
financial
These amounts
arise
from
the value
usual through profit or loss.
operating activities of the Group. They do not contain impaired
assets
and
are not
past due. Based on the credit history, it is
Reinsurance
and
other
recoveries
derivative ﬁnancial
expected that these other balances will be received when due.
estimate:
hat are not quoted The division
portion
of risksvalue
underwritten to control exposure to insuranceKey
losses,
reducesupplier
volatility rebates
and protect capital. The division’s
Keyreinsures
estimate:a net
realisable
mortised cost. A
strategy in respect of the selection, approval and monitoring of reinsurance arrangements is addressed by the following protocols:
n and credit card
The recognition of supplier rebates in the income statement
key assumptions,
which isrequire
theinuse
of management
or facultative
reinsurance
placed
accordance
with the requirements of requires
the division’s
reinsurance
management
credit assessments – treatyThe
management
to estimate
both thestrategy;
volume of
judgement, are the variables affecting costs recognised in
k provided by credit – reinsurance
purchases that will be made during a period of time and
regularly
to determine
bringingarrangements
the inventory toare
their
locationreassessed
and condition
for sale, their effectiveness based on current exposures, historical losses and
ans past due is
the related product that was sold and remains in inventory
potential
future
losses
based
on
the
division’s
maximum
event
retention;
and
estimated
costs
to
sell
and
the
expected
selling
price.
These
d manage emerging
at reporting date. Management’s estimates are based on
key assumptions are reviewed at least annually. The total
are neither impaired nor
– exposure
to reinsurance counterparties and the credit quality of those counterparties
is actively
monitored.
existing
and forecast
inventory turnover levels and sales.
expense relating to inventory writedowns during the year
. Please refer to note
Reasonably possible changes in these estimates are unlikely
was $50 counterparty
million (2015: risk
$46 is
million).
Any reasonably
possible
managed
with reference
to an analysis of an entity’s
credit
rating. impact.
Strict controls are maintained over
it risk assessment andThe reinsurance
to
have
a
material
change in the estimate is unlikely to have a material impact.

ce advances and

reinsurance counterparty exposures. Reinsurance is placed with counterparties that have a strong credit rating. Credit risk exposures are
calculated regularly and ratings are reviewed by management on a regular basis.
The following table provides information about the quality of the division’s credit risk exposure in respect of reinsurance recoveries

on outstanding
claims
at the balance
date.to
The
classifies
Costs incurred
in bringing
each product
its analysis
present location
andthe assets according to Standard & Poor’s counterparty credit ratings.
n an ongoing basis atAAA is
Better Communication in Financial Reporting | October 2017
condition
are accounted
for as follows:
the highest
possible
rating.
100
W ESFA RMERS
20 1 6 AN N UAL REPORT
the income statement
CREDIT RATING
oup will not be able
– Raw materials: purchase cost on a weighted average basis.
e debtor, probability
AA
A
BBB
Not rated
Total
– Manufactured ﬁnished goods and work in progress: cost of direct
cial reorganisation
$m
$m
$m
$m
$m
materials and labour and a proportion of manufacturing overheads
onsidered objective
based on normal operating capacity, but excluding borrowing
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Case study 2—Wesfarmers Limited continued
The team gathered feedback from analysts and investors to understand what information they found relevant when
analysing Wesfarmers and similar companies. As a result, the team learnt that investors had not raised questions
about the company’s pension plan in recent times. In addition, Wesfarmers assessed the information arising from
the pension plan, and concluded that it was immaterial and that there was no need for a separate pension note.
The team also merged disclosures that were previously presented in separate notes to help investors understand
the relationship between different pieces of information. For
example,
theREPORT
20132013
financial statements presented
WESFARMERS
| ANNUAL
disclosures about contributed equity, retained earnings and reserves in separate notes. The 2016 financial statements
combined
on these three
notes into one note called ‘Equity and reserves’.
Notesinformation
to the ﬁnancial
statements
for the year ended 30 June 2013 – Wesfarmers Limited and its controlled entities

Before
21: Contributed equity

Better linked

CONSOLIDATED

Notes to the financial statements
Notes to the financial statements

WESFARMERS | ANNUAL REPORT 2013
2013
2012
WESFARMERS | ANNUAL
$m REPORT 2013
$m

23,290
(26)
23,264

Issued capital – ordinary shares (a)
Reserved
shares
for the year
ended(b)
30 June 2013 – Wesfarmers Limited and its controlled entities
for the year ended 30 June 2013 – Wesfarmers Limited and its controlled entities

23,286
(31)
23,255

(a) Issued capital – ordinary shares

22: Retained earnings

All ordinary shares are fully-paid. Fully-paid ordinary shares (including employee reserved shares) carry one vote per share and carry the right
22:
Retained earnings
CONSOLIDATED
to
dividends.
CONSOLIDATED
2012
Each partially protected ordinary share confers rights on a partially protected shareholder that are the same in all respects as2013
those
conferred
$mof downside$m
by an ordinary share on an ordinary shareholder on an equal basis. In addition, partially protected ordinary shares provide a 2013
level
2012
share price protection. Refer to note 6 for key terms and conditions. Full terms and conditions are available from the Company
$mwebsite
$m
ww
w.wesfarmers.c
om.au
2,103
1,774
Balance
as at 1 July
2,261
2,126
Net
profit
2,103
1,774
Balance
as
at
1
July
The Group operates a dividend investment plan that allows eligible shareholders to elect to invest dividends in ordinary shares that rank equally
(1,990)ordinary 2,126
(1,793)
Dividends
with
ordinary shares, which has been applied to the dividends payable from March 2007. All holders of Wesfarmers
shares
2,261
Net Wesfarmers
profit
with
addresses
in Australia
or New
Zealand
the average
of
the (4)
1
Actuarial
gain/(loss)
on defined
benefit
plan,are
neteligible
of tax to participate in the plan. The allocation price for shares is based on
(1,990)
(1,793)
Dividends
daily
volume
weighted
average
price
of
Wesfarmers
shares
sold
on
the
Australian
Securities
Exchange
calculated
with
reference
to
a
period
of
2,375
2,103
Balance
as at 30 June
1
(4)
Actuarial gain/(loss)
on defined benefit plan, net of tax
not less than ﬁve consecutive trading days as determined by the directors.
2,375
2,103
Balance as at 30 June

Ordinary

23: Reserves
Movement
in shares on issue
23: Reserves

Thousands

833
$m

Total
contributed equity

$m
Thousands
$m
Thousands
Foreign
currency
AvailableShareForeign
Capital
translation
Hedging
for-sale
based
16,934 currency
151,396
6,352
Available- 1,157,072
Sharereserve translation
reserve
reserve
reserve
payments
Capital
Hedging
for-sale
based
$m
$m
$m
$m
reserve
reserve35
reserve (833)reserve
reserve
payments
(35)
$m
$m
$m
$m
reserve

$m

23,286

Total
$m
Total
$m

After

-

-

-

-

-

-

(2,272)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-143

-

(34)

-

-

Realised losses transferred to balance sheet/net
proﬁt

-

-

-

-

(110)

-

-

143

RISK

(3)

Net loss on ﬁnancial instruments recognised in
equity

CAPITAL

407

Dividends

KEY
NUMBERS

Net proﬁt

Better Communication in Financial
Reporting
October
Remeasurement
loss|on
deﬁned 2017
beneﬁt plan
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1,006,509
16,969
150,563
23,286
150
24
(59)
189 6,317
61,157,072 310
Issue
of ordinary
under
the Wesfarmers
Gains/(losses)
onshares
financial
instruments
recognised
in
150 FINANCIAL
24
(59)
189
6
310
Balance
at 1 July
2011
NOTES
TO THE
STATEMENTS:
CAPITAL
Long
Term Incentive
Plan instruments recognised in
6767 2
-2
55
(7)
48
equity
Gains/(losses)
on financial
FOR THE YEAR-- ENDED-- 30 JUNE
-- 201655
(7)2
-48
equity
(17)
(15)
Tax
effect
of revaluation
Issue
of ordinary
shares under the Wesfarmers
-- 2
-(17)
(15)
Tax effectgains
of revaluation
(92)
(92)
Realised
transferred
balance sheet/net profit
Employee
Share
AcquisitiontoPlan
55-- 255 - 2
---(92)
--(92)
Realised
gains transferred
to balance sheet/net profit
(3)
(3)
Share
ofprotected
associates’
reserves
Partially
ordinary
shares converted to
-- 2
-- (41)
(3)
(3)
Share
of associates’
reserves
28
28
Tax
effect
of transfers
41-(2) - - -ordinary
shares
at $41.95
per share
--28--28(7)
Tax effect translation
of transfersdifferences
(7)
Currency
At 30 June 2013
1,006,672
16,975
150,522
6,315
1,157,194
23,290
(7)
-1
-(7)
Currency at
translation
12. Equity and 150
reserves
(continued)
24
(66)
160
269
Balance
30 Junedifferences
2012
150
24
(66)
160
1
269
Balance at 30 June 2012
193
3
196
Gains
on financialshares
instruments recognised in equity
(b)
Reserved
The nature of the- Group’s-contributed
equity
-193
3(1)
-196
Gains
on financial
instruments recognised in equity
(58)
(59)
Tax
effect
of revaluation
Movement
in reserved
shares
$m
-- have no--par value.
(58)
- - share and
(59)
Tax effectgains
of
revaluation
(95)
-Thousands
(95)the right to dividends. They bear no special terms
Realised
transferred
to balance sheet/net
profit shares are -fully-paid
Ordinary
and
They carry(1)
one
vote per
-- income or
-- capital entitlements
-(95)
-- - are classiﬁed
(95)
Realised
transferred to balance sheet/net
29
29 as equity.
Tax
effectgains
of transfers
or profit
conditions affecting
of the shareholders
and
3,780
41
At
1
July
2011
29
29
Tax
effect
of
transfers
40
40
Currency translation differences
Reserved shares are--ordinary shares
that40
have
been repurchased
company
and
are
(611)
Exercise
in-substance
options
----by the
-3
40(5)
Currencyoftranslation
differences
3 being held for future use. They include employee
Share-based
payment
transactions
reserved shares, which
to
- 33plan. Once
Dividends
applied
- are shares
- issued(26)
- employees
- under the
-3 share loan
3(5) the share loan has been paid in full, they are
Share-based
payment
transactions
150
24
229
383
Balance
at
30
June 2013
converted
to
ordinary
shares
and
issued
to
the
employee.
3,169 3
31
At
30 June
150
24
(26)
229
3
383
Balance
at 2012
30 June 2013
89 in equity as3a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. There
Own
shares
Nature
andacquired
purpose of reserves
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown
Nature and
purpose
ofoptions
reserves
(410)
(4)
Exercise
of in-substance
Restructure
tax reserve
are no shares authorised for issue that have not been issued at reporting date.
- the 2001 (4)
Dividends
applied
Restructure
tax
The
restructure
taxreserve
reserve is used to record the recognition of tax losses arising from the equity restructuring of the Group under
Foreign
ShareThe
tax reserve
is used
record
thewere
recognition
of tax
arising
from
the equity
of theregime.
Group 2,848
under the 2001 26 currency
At
30restructure
Junesimplification
2013
ownership
plan.
Thesetotax
losses
generated
onlosses
adoption
by the
Group
of therestructuring
tax consolidation
Cash ﬂow
Financial
based
ownership simplification plan. These tax losses were generated on adoption by the Group of the tax consolidation
regime.
Retained Restructure
Capital translation
hedge
assets
payments
Capital reserve
earnings
tax
reserve
reserve
reserve
reserve
reserve
reserve
Shares
issued
to employees under the share loan plan referred to in note 34 (termed as ‘employee reserved shares’) are fully-paid via a limited
Capital
reserve
The
capital
reserve was used to accumulate capital profits. The reserve can be used to pay dividends or issue bonus shares.
recourse
loan
to thewas
employee
the parent
and aprofits.
subsidiary,
and as can
suchbethe
arrangement
is accounted
forbonus
as in-substance
CONSOLIDATED
$m
$m options. Loans
$m
$m
$m
$m
$m
The capital
reserve
used tofrom
accumulate
capital
The reserve
used
to pay dividends
or issue
shares.
are
repaidcurrency
from dividends
declared,
capital returns and cash repayments. Once the loan is repaid in full, the employee reserved shares are
Foreign
translation
reserve
converted
to
unrestricted
ordinary
shares.
150
50
167
5
12
Balance
at 1exchange
July 2014differences arising from the translation2,901
Foreign
currency
The
foreign
currencytranslation
translation reserve
reserve is used
to record
of the financial statements
of 24
The foreign
currency translation reserve is used
record exchange differences arising from the translation 2,440
of the financial statements
of
Nettoproﬁt
foreign
subsidiaries.
foreign subsidiaries.
(2,600)
Dividends
Hedging reserve
- be an
Remeasurement
on deﬁned
beneﬁt plan
Hedging
reserve
The
hedging
reserve records the portion of the
gain or loss ongain
a hedging
instrument
in a cash flow hedge that 1is determined to
The hedging
reserve records the portion of the
gain
oron
loss
on a hedging
instrument
in a cash
Net
gain
ﬁnancial
instruments
recognised
in flow hedge that is determined to be an
effective
hedge.
effective hedge.
(49)
equity
Available-for-sale reserve
Realised losses transferred to balance sheet/net
Available-for-sale
The
available-for-salereserve
reserve records fair value
changes on available-for-sale investments.
- 141
(206)
proﬁt
The available-for-sale reserve records fair value changes on available-for-sale investments.
(13)
Share of associates and joint venture reserve
Share-based payments reserve
Share-based
payments
reserve
86
effect of the
transfers
revaluations share-based payments provided
The
share-based
payments
reserve is used toTax
recognise
value and
of equity-settled
to employees,
including- key
The share-based
payments
reserve
is used
to recognise
the value
of 34
equity-settled
share-based
payments
to employees, including key
management
personnel,
as part
of their
remuneration.
Refer
to note
for further details
of these
plans. provided
(11)
Currency translation
differences
management personnel, as part of their remuneration.
Refer to note
34 for further details of these plans.
11
Share-based payment transactions
2,742
150
24
39
(15)
5
23
Balance at 30 June 2015 and 1 July 2015
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At 1 July 2011
Partially
protected ordinary shares converted to
CONSOLIDATED
ordinary shares at $41.95 per share
CONSOLIDATED
At
30
June
Balance at 12012
July 2011

Restructure
1,005,676
tax reserve
Restructure
$m
tax reserve

Partially protected

Basic earnings per share is calculated as net proﬁt attributable to
members of the parent, adjusted to exclude any costs of servicing
equity (other than dividends) and preference share dividends, divided
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares, adjusted for any
bonus element.

tral estimate
lus a risk
ation to
d but not
h reported

Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share is calculated
as net proﬁt attributable to
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
members of the parent, adjusted for:

value using a

– costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) and preference
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
share dividends;

surance
the central
e net liability

– the after-tax effect of dividends and interest associated with
dilutive potential ordinary shares that have been recognised as
expenses; and

STATEMENTS: OTHER
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016

– other non-discretionary
changes
in revenues
or expenses
Wesfarmers
redrafted the
description
of new
and amended accounting standards using simpler language and
27.
Other
accounting
policies
during
the
year
that
would
result
from
the
dilution
of
potential
formatting that helped investors understand their
relevance to the company. The following excerpts from the 2013
ordinary shares;
d claims not
and 2016 financial statements illustrate
thisamended
change: accounting standards and interpretations adopted from 1 July 2015
(a) New and

divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and
All new for
andany
amended
dilutive potential ordinary shares, adjusted
bonus Australian
element. Accounting Standards and Interpretations mandatory as at 1 July 2015 to the Group have been

Before

the
red as the
n the same

including:

Reference
(ai) New and revised Accounting
Standards and
Interpretations
AASB 2015-5 Amendments to

Description

Better formatted

This makes amendments to AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other
128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures arising from the IASB’s narrow scope amendments associated w
Australian Accounting
All new and amended Australian Accounting
StandardsStandards
and
Entities.
– Investment
Entities:
Applying
Interpretations mandatory as at 1 July
2012 to the
Group
havethe
been

Simple and direct

ms is
Deferred
coverable
atically in
risk under

adopted, including:

Consolidation Exception

After

– Amendments to AASB 1048 Interpretation of Standards

(b) New and amended standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective

The Standard identiﬁes the Australian interpretations and
following standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are relevant to current operations. They are available
classiﬁes them into two groups: The
those
that correspond to an
adoption but have not been applied by the Group in this ﬁnancial report.
IASB interpretation and those that do not. Entities are required to
apply each relevant Australian interpretation in preparing ﬁnancial
Application of
statements that are within the scope
of the standard.
Standard
Reference
Description

s are
ctive interest
rance
are
pattern of
s to which

– Amendments to AASB 2010-8 Amendments
to Australian
The effects of the following Standards are not expected to be material:
Accounting Standards - Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying
AASB 2014-3 Amendments to
AASB 2014-3 amends AASB 11 Joint Arrangements to provide guidance on the accounting for
Assets

1 January 2016

Australian Accounting Standards
acquisitions of interests in joint operations in which the activity constitutes a business.
These amendments address the– determination
of deferred
Accounting for Acquisitions
of tax
on investment property measured
at fairinvalue
and introduce a
Interests
Joint Operations

ages its
accordance
general

eposits and
back general
r value

rebuttable presumption that deferred tax on investment property
2014-4 Clariﬁcation
of that the
The IASB has clariﬁed that the use of revenue-based methods to calculate the depreciation
measured at fair value should beAASB
determined
on the basis
Acceptable
Methods
Depreciation
of an asset is not appropriate because revenue generated by an activity that includes the use
carrying amount will be recoverable
through
sale. of
The
amendments
Amortisation
also incorporate SIC-21 Income and
Taxes
- Recovery of Revalued of an asset generally reﬂects factors other than the consumption of the economic beneﬁts
embodied in the asset. The amendment also clariﬁed that revenue is generally presumed to be
Non-Depreciable Assets into AASB 112.

1 January 2016

an inappropriate basis for measuring the consumption of an intangible asset.

– AASB 2011-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards –
AASB 2014-7 Amendments
This Standard makes amendments to a number of Australian Accounting Standards as a result
Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive
Incometo

1 January 2018

Australian Accounting Standards
of AASB 9 Financial Instruments (December 2014).
toarising
group
items
other
from
AASBpresented
9 (December in
2014)

This Standard requires entities
comprehensive income on the basis of whether they might be
reclassiﬁed subsequently to proﬁt
or loss
andAmendments
those that to
will not.The amendments require:
AASB
2014-10

Australian
Accounting
Standards
– athe
full gain
loss to be recognised when a transaction involves a business (whether it is
In addition to the changes above,
the team
also
introduced
useorof:
– Sale or Contribution of Assets

housed in a subsidiary or not); and

Associate or Joint Venture

constitute a business, even if these assets are housed in a subsidiary.

1 January 2018

between
an Investor
its parts –of athe
• symbols to refer to information
placed
in and
other
financial
thusa transaction
avoidinginvolves
repetition;
partial
gain or loss statements,
to be recognised when
assets thatand
do not
STATEMENTS
• FINANCIAL
charts and
other graphics to present data-intensive information more clearly.

NOTES
TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS: GROUP STRUCTURE
AASB 2015-1 Amendments to
The amendment makes changes to a number of accounting policies including the methods of
1 January 2016
NOTES TO
THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS:
GROUP
STRUCTURE
Examples
of these
changes are
shown
below:
Australian Accounting Standards – FOR
disposal
in AASB
5 Non-current
Assets30
Held JUNE
for Sale and
Discontinued Operations, disclosure
THE
YEAR
ENDED
2016
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNEAnnual
2016Improvements to Australian
Accounting Standards 2012–2014
Cycle

Free of duplication

requirements in AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures and AASB 134 Interim Financial
Reporting and clariﬁcation of discount rates utilised in AASB 119 Employee Beneﬁts.

AASB 2015-2 Amendments to
The Standard makes amendments to AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements arising
1 January 2016
20. Business
combinations(continued)
19.
Subsidiaries
Australian Accounting Standards –
from the IASB’s Disclosure Initiative project.
On
27
February
2016,
Wesfarmers
Limited
acquired
100
per
cent
Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to
2016
2015
of Home Retail Group plc’s holding in Homebase for £340 million
Entity acquired/incorporated during the year. AASB 101
@
(A$665 million).
Homebase is based in the United Kingdom (UK) and
ENTITY
%
%
ENTITY
Entity dissolved/deregistered during the year.
~
operates a home improvement and garden retail business in the UK
Audited by ﬁrms of Ernst & Young International.AASB 2016-1 Amendments
#
to Republic
This
amends
AASB 112
Income Taxes
(July an
2004) and AASB 112 Income
1 January 2017
and
ofStandard
Ireland. The
acquisition
of Homebase
delivers
(Aus)
Pty Ltd
100 for W4K.World 4 Kids Pty L
Audited by other ﬁrms of accountants.
< Standards
Australian Accounting
– Protex
Taxes
(August 2015)
to clarify
the requirements
recognition
of 100
deferred tax assets
established
and Healthcare
scalable
platform
with
stores
that are theonright
size
An ASIC-approved Deed of Cross Guarantee has
been
the UK
andlosses
supports
warehouse
merchandising
PTmarket
Blackwoods
Indonesia
j
Recognition
of Deferred Tax for
Assets
100
100
unrealised
on debt
instruments
measured atand
fair avalue.
Waratah Cove Pty Ltd
entered into by Wesfarmers Limited and these entities.
+
low-cost operating model, providing an opportunity for Wesfarmers
for Unrealised Losses
PT
Greencap
NAA
Indonesia
j~
100
Wesfarmers Agribusines
to expand its Bunnings business into the UK market.
Refer note 24 for further details.
Wesfarmers
Bengalla
Quickinstant
Limited
@ AASB
S 107 Statement of Cash Flows (August
1002015) to require
- entities
AASB
2016-2 Amendments to
This Standard
amends
1 January
2017Li
All subsidiaries are incorporated in Australia unless
identiﬁed
At 30 June 2016, the acquisition accounting balances recognised
with one of the following symbols:
Australian Accounting Standards
–
preparing
statements
in accordance
requirements100
to provideWesfarmers Bengalla M
R&
N due
Palmer
Pty Ltd
are provisional
toﬁnancial
ongoing
work ﬁnalising
valuationswith
andTier
tax1 reporting100
Disclosure Initiative: Amendments
to matters
disclosures
that enable
users
of ﬁnancial
to evaluate changes
in liabilities
from
related
which may
impact
acquisition
accounting
Wesfarmers
Bunnings L
Rapid
Evacuation
Training
Services
Pty statements
Ltd entries.
100
100 arising
Bermuda
k
The provisional
fair value
of the
identiﬁable
acquired
and cash ﬂows and non-cash changes.
AASB 107
ﬁnancing
activities,
including
bothassets
changes
arising from
Botswana
\
Services
Ltd
100
100
Wesfarmers Chemical U
liabilities Relationship
assumed at the
date ofPty
acquisition
are:

19. Subsidiaries (continued)

Cayman Islands
China

V

IFRS 2 (Amendments)
h

Retail Australia Consortium Pty Ltd £m
100
100
Wesfarmers Chemicals,
$m
This Standard amends IFRS 2 Share-based Payment to
clarify accounting for the effects
1 January 2018
Retail Investments Pty Ltd
100
100
Wesfarmers Coal Resou
of vesting and non-vesting conditions on the measurement of cash-settled share-based

Hong Kong

¡

India

z

100 tax obligations
100 andWesfarmers
Retail
Readytransactions
Operations with
Australia
Pty 25
Ltd + feature for48withholding
payments,
a net settlement
a
Cash and cash
equivalents

Curragh Pt

Indonesia

j

modiﬁcation
the terms and
conditions
that changes
the classiﬁcation
of the transaction
from
& to
Richardson,
Unipessoal,
@  102
100
Wesfarmers
Trade andRichardson
other
receivables
52LDA

Emerging V

New Zealand



cash-settled
to equity-settled
share-based
InventoriesRichmond
171
Plaza
Shopping Centre
Pty
Ltdpayments.332

Portugal



Prepayments

Republic of Ireland



Property, plant and equipment

Singapore
United Arab Emirates
United Kingdom
United States of America

128

Assets

Ruissellement Limited S

Limited @ S
Intangible Sandfords
assets

25

49

124

241

100

100

Wesfarmers Energy (Ga

25

25

Wesfarmers Energy (Ind

100

-

Wesfarmers Fertilizers P

28
54
–
100
100
SBS
Rural IAMA Pty Limited
Deferred tax
assets
47
92
T
W E S FA R ME RS 20
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Total16assets
472
918
Scones REPO
Jam nRT
Cream Pty Ltd
100
100
S
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]
100
100
LiabilitiesSellers (SA) Pty Ltd

All entities utilise the functional currency of the country
of incorporation with the exception of Wesfarmers Risk
Management Limited, which utilises the Australian dollar

Trade andShare
other payables
Nominees
ProvisionsSorcha
Other liabilities

Pty Ltd ~

Limited

Wesfarmers Finance Ho

|Wesfarmers
19 Finance Pt

Wesfarmers Gas Limite

322

625

100

100

Wesfarmers Holdings P

236

459

30

56

-

100

Wesfarmers Industrial &

40,783
(416)

(361)

(498)

(362)

(420)

(391)

(303)

(341)

(10,502)

(1,070)

(1,182)

(29)

(64)

(29)

(7,303)

(6,528)

(7,303)
(17,834)

31

(4)

(1,202)

(1,410)

(581)

(586)

(869)

(1,049)

8,604

7,852

-

994

984

(696)

120

662

649

531

485

2,490

2,358

22,949

41

39

116

137

44

65

60

56

2

3

1,857

-

-

-

-

-

-

33

18

78

62
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Case study 2—Wesfarmers Limited continued
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Capital expenditure by segment for FY2016

Geographical information

$m

$m

Coles

763

Ofﬁceworks 41

HI

538

Resources 116

Kmart

165

WIS

44

Target

128

WesCEF

60

The table below provides information on the geographical
of revenue and non-current assets (other than ﬁnancial ins
deferred tax assets and pension assets). Revenue from ex
customers is allocated to a geography based on the locat
operation in which it was derived. Non-current assets are
based on the location of the operation to which they relat

NON-C
ASS

REVENUE

* Other capital expenditure: $2 million

Key benefits, reactions and challenges

Better formatted

2016

2015

2016

$m

$m

$m

63,356

61,013

27,933

New Zealand

1,564

1,402

278

United Kingdom

1,052

26

1,133

Australia

Other
foreign countries
6 of
The process produced clearer and more concise financial statements, which
resulted
in a reduction in9the number
questions addressed to the investor-relations team. Questions that were asked were more focused
than those
raised
65,981
62,447
before the streamlining process was undertaken. Wesfarmers also received positive feedback from retail investors
immediately after the first set of its streamlined financial statements was released. Wesfarmers has also noted that
the process has attracted good reviews from the company’s auditors, who say they find the streamlined financial
statements easier to read and review.

4
29,348

The process has also led to a significant reduction in the amount of time spent preparing financial statements. As
a direct consequence, Wesfarmers accounting staff are available to work on other internal projects, and to better
support the company’s financial management function.
The major challenge for Wesfarmers is maintaining a degree of comparability to financial information provided by
other companies, in order to enable investors to benchmark the company against its competitors.

WESFARMERS 20 16 ANNUAL REP

Areas of success and lessons learnt
Wesfarmers believes that its process was most successful in reducing duplication and in redrafting particular
disclosures to make them clearer and more concise.

A series of subtle changes throughout the financials can make a huge difference to their
understandability as a whole.
To assess what information would be useful to investors, the team asked other departments within the company
about the information they typically provided for the preparation of the company’s financial statements. However,
the team also said they could have involved these departments more actively at the start of the process by asking
them more directly about the ways in which they would streamline the information in the financial statements for
which they had direct responsibility.

What next?
Wesfarmers says it will continue to seek improvements in the quality of the company’s financial statements by
incorporating feedback from investors and senior managers. The company aims to extend the streamlining efforts to
other parts of its annual report, such as the remuneration report.
Wesfarmers also intends to explore how to make its financial statements more comparable with its peers, thereby
making it easier for investors to analyse the company relative to other companies. Wesfarmers says it may also
consider working towards a fully digitised, interactive annual report.

20 |
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Case study 3—PotashCorp
PotashCorp is a Canadian company that makes fertiliser and associated chemical and mineral products vital for
industry and agriculture. The Saskatoon-based company is a producer of three essential crop ingredients, namely
potash, nitrogen and phosphate. PotashCorp operates or has investments in seven countries and is listed on the
Toronto and New York stock exchanges.

Improving communication through gradual changes
PotashCorp has improved the way it communicates financial information by adapting and changing its financial
statements over several years with changes becoming more noticeable in its 2011 financial statements.
The company’s communications rethink started when senior managers at PotashCorp questioned the usefulness of
some of the notes in the company’s financial statements (for example, the information provided in the significant
accounting policies note). At the same time, accounting staff started analysing investors’ feedback and information
needs.
Further impetus for change at PotashCorp came from international and national organisations promoting initiatives
and publications on effective communication. These included standard-setters, accounting firms, and regulators, as
well as other companies making similar reviews.

The process
By taking a gradual approach to incorporating changes to its financial statements, PotashCorp has kept any disruption
or strain on resources to a minimum.
The company’s corporate reporting department carries out a yearly self-assessment process, analysing PotashCorp’s
latest financial statements to identify successful modifications and aspects that could be further improved.
During this process, accounting staff also consult with other departments, such as the legal and investor-relations
teams, which regularly contribute information to the financial statements.
Proposed changes arising from these discussions are then incorporated into a draft set of financial statements, which
in turn is presented to finance management, senior management, the audit committee and finally, the auditors.
In some cases, changes include deleting information deemed to be irrelevant. To respond to queries that may arise
from these omissions and to monitor the materiality of the omitted disclosures, the company maintains a separate
document that is regularly updated to house all disclosures that have been deleted or updated, along with the
disclosures included in the draft statements.
Disclosures are also mapped to the related requirements in IFRS Standards and U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission requirements so that they can be easily tracked and the related requirements quickly accessed.

The journey towards improving communication of information in the financial statements
starts from identifying easy wins. Taking that first step is the most important activity in
this process.
Reordering the notes and aiding navigation through the financial statements
Among the examples of how PotashCorp has made gradual changes to its financial statements is the way the notes
have been grouped into sections.
Until 2010, the notes in PotashCorp’s financial statements were simply presented as a list. This changed between 2011
and 2015, when the company began to group the notes according to the primary financial statement to which they
belonged.
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Case study 3—PotashCorp continued
In 2016, PotashCorp added a further refinement by grouping the notes according to their function: ‘Business and
Environment’, ‘Income, Expenses and Cash Flow’, ‘Operating Assets and Liabilities’, ‘Investments, Financing and
Capital Structure’, ‘Personnel’ and ‘Other’.
This modification, made to help stakeholders navigate PotashCorp’s financial statements more easily, also reflects
better the company’s story.

Before
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Changes to the grouping of the notes had a positive knock-on effect—making each note
clearer and more concise
PotashCorp changed not only the grouping of the notes but also their structure and content. For example, at the
beginning of each note, as shown in the excerpt below, the company now includes a brief introductory paragraph
about the nature of transactions and applicable accounting policies relevant to the note.

Simple and direct

in millions of US dollars except as otherwise noted

Derivative Instruments

Note 17

PotashCorp enters into contracts with other parties primarily to fix the price of natural gas used as feedstock in production and the exchange rate
for Canadian dollar transactions.

Page 63

Accounting Policies

Accounting Estimates and Judgments

Derivative financial instruments are used to lock in commodity prices, exchange rates and interest rates. Contracts to buy or sell a non-financial
item 1 are recognized at fair value on the consolidated statements of financial position where appropriate.

Uncertainties, estimates and use of judgment include the assessment
of contracts as derivative instruments and for embedded derivatives,
application of hedge accounting and valuation of derivatives at fair
value (discussed further in Note 29).

For designated and qualified cash flow hedges:
• the effective portion of the change in the fair value of the derivative is accumulated in OCI until the variability in cash flows being hedged is
recognized in net income in future accounting periods; and

For derivatives or embedded derivatives, the most significant area
of judgment is whether the contract can be settled net, one of the
criteria in determining whether a contract for a non-financial asset is
considered a derivative and accounted for as such. Judgment is also
The change in fair value of derivative instruments, not designated or not qualified as hedges, is recorded in net income in the current period.
applied in determining whether an embedded derivative is closely
63may choose not to designate a
The company’s policy is not to use derivative instruments for trading or speculative purposes. The company
related to the host contract, in which case bifurcation and separate
qualifying derivative instrument in an economic hedging relationship as an accounting hedge.
accounting are
not necessary. judgements and
In making these changes, the company relocated the descriptions about accounting
policies,
For natural gas derivative instruments designated as accounting hedges, the company formally documents:
The process to test effectiveness and meet stringent documentation
which
were
previously
in a single note, to the relevant notes. The company also incorporated
Prior
to execution
of hedging
the
above-noted
CONTINUED) estimates,
• all relationships
between
instruments
andtransaction,
hedged disclosed
items; the company
standards requires the application of judgment and estimation.
(through
a subsidiary)
sold
8,500,000
Series
shares
SQM
viaand to distinguish between accounting policies, judgements, estimates
inandeach
toA enable
readers
• its signposting
risk management
objective
strategynote
for undertaking
the hedgeoftransaction;
y risks the entityclear
• the ineffective portions of hedges are recorded in net income in the current period.

public
auction
on the toSantiago
Stock
“Exchange”)
t holders) whenand
• the
linkage
of derivatives
specific assets
andExchange
liabilities or to(the
specific
firm commitments or forecast transactions.
supporting
information.
1,301,724 Series A shares in other Exchange transactions.
oach focuses on and
The company also assesses whether the natural gas derivatives used in hedging transactions are expected to be or were highly effective, both at
on sale were $66.3, resulting in a non-taxable gain
the relationship. Proceeds
the hedge’s inception and on an ongoing basis, in offsetting changes in fair values of hedged items. Hedge effectiveness related to the
othergasincome
$34.4,onnet
of sellingand
costs
(see Note
g newly created recorded
company’s in
natural
hedges isofassessed
a prospective
retrospective
basis22).
using regression analyses.
olved, and to all 5.A hedging
relationship isRECEIVABLE
terminated if:
ACCOUNTS
he VIE standards • the hedge ceases to be effective;
2006
2005
ctive January 1,
• the underlying asset or liability being hedged is derecognized;
$ 84.1 or
$ 71.6
mentation of this Trade accounts – Canpotex
• the derivative instrument
is no longer designated as a329.3
hedging instrument.343.0
– Other
impact on the
In such instances,
the difference between the fair value and
the accrued value of
the hedging derivatives upon termination is deferred and
Non-trade
accounts
33.6
43.8
recognized in net income on the same basis that gains, losses,
447.0revenue and expenses
458.4 of the previously hedged item are recognized. If a cash
flow hedging relationship is terminated because it is no longer probable that the anticipated transaction will occur, then the net gain or loss
Less allowance for doubtful accounts
(4.7)
(5.1)
accumulated in OCI is recognized in current period net income.
$ 442.3
$ 453.3
1 Can be settled net in cash or another financial instrument, or by exchanging financial instruments, as if the contracts were financial instruments (except contracts that were entered into
sues Committee
to be held for the purpose of the receipt or delivery of a non-financial item in accordance with expected purchase, sale or usage requirements).
6.and continue
INVENTORIES
AcG-15” (“EIC2006
2005
has an implicit
$ 237.1
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ecific conditions Finished product
98.5
94.9
e as an explicit Intermediate products
62.4
59.9
bsorbing and/or Raw materials
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99.2
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$ 501.3
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is a matter of
d circumstances.
Note 11
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After

Accumulated
Receivables represent amounts
the company expects to collect from other parties. Trade receivables consist mainly of amounts owed to PotashCorp by its
Depreciationcustomer
and Netbeing
Book the related party, Canpotex.
customers, the largest individual
Cost
Amortization
Value
Accounting Policies
Land and improvements
$ 233.3 $ 51.9 $ 181.4
Trade receivables are547.9
recognized initially206.4
at fair value and341.5
subsequently measured at amortized cost less provision for impairment of trade
Buildings and improvements
accounts receivable. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the provision. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
Machinery and equipment
4,618.0
1,750.4 2,867.6
previously written off are credited to the consolidated statements of income.
Mine development costs
200.4
65.1
135.3
$5,599.6 $ 2,073.8 $3,525.8
Supporting Information
2016

2005

Trade accounts – Canpotex (Note 28)
Accumulated
– Other
Less provision for impairment ofDepreciation
trade accountsand
receivable
Net Book

Cost

Amortization

$

Value

Income taxes receivable
(Note 8) $
Land and improvements
$ 224.4
47.0 $ 177.4
Margin deposits on derivative
Buildings and improvements
521.1 instruments
194.2
326.9
GST and VAT receivable
Machinery and equipment
4,280.7
1,622.8
2,657.9
Other non-trade accounts
Mine development costs
164.3
63.7
100.6

141
292
(6)

Accounting Estimates and Judgments
Determining when amounts are deemed uncollectible requires
judgment.

2015

$

148
327
(7)

427
468
41
60
Better
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27
51
22
28
28
33
$

545

$

640
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Case study 3—PotashCorp continued
Note 18 Provisions for Asset Retirement, Environmental and Other Obligations continued

in millions of US dollars except as otherwise noted

Accounting Policies continued
Accounting Estimates and Judgments continued
PotashCorp
also made a number of changes aimed at making the content more relevant.
To do so, PotashCorp
Environmental costs related to current operations are:
It is reasonably possible that the ultimate costs could change in the
analysed investors’ feedback and typical requests for information. This helped thefuture
company
to toidentify
investors
and that changes
these estimatesthat
could have
a material
Capitalized as an asset, if
Expensed, if
Recorded as a provision, when
effect on theConsequently,
company’s consolidated financial
statements.
wanted to understand
the
asset
retirement
and
environmental
restoration
obligations.
the
company
• property life is extended;
• related to existing
• environmental remedial efforts are likely; and
for asset retirement
obligation costs
depend
conditions additional
caused by past
made changes
tois increased;
those notes to include
that
investors said Estimates
was useful
to them,
such
asonathe
the costs can be reasonably
estimated.
• capacity
•information
development of environmentally acceptable closure and postoperations; and
contamination from
The company
usesfollowing
the most current information
sensitivity• analysis
of future
theoperations
asset retirement obligations.
The
excerpts from
the
2010
2016
financial
closure
plans.
In someand
cases, this
may require
significant research
• they do not contribute to
is mitigated or prevented; or
available, including similar past experiences,
and development to identify preferred methods for such plans that
statements related
illustrate
this
change:
current or future revenue
available technology, regulations in effect, the
to legal or constructive asset

•

generation.

retirement obligations.

Before

are economically sound and that, in most cases, may not be
implemented for several decades. The company uses appropriate
technical resources, including outside consultants, to develop
specific site closure and post-closure plans in accordance with the
requirements of the various jurisdictions in which it operates. Other
than certain land reclamation programs, settlement of the
obligations is typically correlated with mine life estimates.

timing of remediation, and cost-sharing
arrangements.

The company recognizes provisions for decommissioning obligations (also known as asset retirement obligations) primarily related to mining and
mineral activities. The major categories of asset retirement obligations are:
• reclamation and restoration costs at its potash and phosphate mining operations, including management of materials generated by mining
and mineral processing, such as various mine tailings and gypsum;

The risk-free rate and expected cash flow payments for asset
retirement obligations at December 31 were as follows:

• land reclamation and revegetation programs;
• decommissioning of underground and surface operating facilities;
• general cleanup activities aimed at returning the areas to an environmentally acceptable condition; and

2016

• post-closure care and maintenance.
The present value of a liability for a decommissioning obligation is recognized in the period in which it is incurred if a reasonable estimate can be
made. The associated costs are:

Phosphate
Potash

Risk-Free
Rate

Cash Flow
Payments 1

1.86%-3.06%
5%

50-340 years

1.67%-2.95%
6%

1-85 years
55-385 years

Entity-specific
1-85 years

2015

• capitalized as part of the carrying amount of any related long-lived asset and then amortized over its estimated remaining useful life;

Phosphate
Potash

• recorded as inventory; or
• expensed in the period.

1

The best estimate of the amount required to settle the obligation is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and updated to reflect changes
in the discount and foreign exchange rates and the amount or timing of the underlying cash flows. When there is a change in the best estimate,
an adjustment is recorded against the carrying amount of the provision and any related asset, and the effect is then recognized in net income
over the remaining life of the asset. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as a finance cost. A gain or loss may be
incurred upon settlement of the liability.

Timeframe in which payments are expected to principally occur from December 31,
with the majority of Phosphate payments taking place over the next 35 years.

Employee termination activities are complex processes that can take
months to complete and involve making and reassessing estimates.

Undiscounted
Cash Flows

$

Potash obligation 1
Nitrogen obligation
Phosphate obligation

1,001 2
62
952

Discount Rate

Discounted
Cash Flows

$

+0.5%

113
3
591

$

(26)
(1)
(34)

Inflation Rate
-0.5%

+0.5%

$

$

36
1
39

-0.5%

38
1
39

$

(25)
(1)
(34)

1

Stated in Canadian dollars.

2

Represents total undiscounted cash flows in the first year of decommissioning. Excludes subsequent years of tailings dissolution, fine tails capping, tailings management area reclamation, post reclamation activities and monitoring, and final decommissioning, which are estimated to
take an additional 91-268 years.

Note 18 Provisions for Asset Retirement, Environmental and Other Obligations continued
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After

Sensitivity of asset retirement obligations to changes in the discount rate and inflation rate on the recorded liability as at December 31, 2016 is as follows:
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Supporting Information
Following is a reconciliation of asset retirement, environmental restoration and other obligations:
Asset
Retirement
Obligations

Environmental
Restoration
Obligations

Balance – December 31, 2015
$
637
$
22
Charged to income
3
3
New obligations
Change in discount rate
9
–
Change in other estimates
42
–
Unwinding of discount
14
–
Capitalized to property, plant and equipment
Note 18 Provisions for Asset Retirement, Environmental and Other Obligations continued
Change in discount rate
11
–
Change in other estimates
1
–
Policies continued
Settled duringAccounting
period
(40)
(2)
Environmental costs related to current operations are:
Exchange differences
1
–

24 |

Balance – DecemberCapitalized
31, 2016 as an asset, if

Expensed,
$ if

678

$

life iscomprised
extended; of:
• property
Balance as at December
31, 2016
Current liabilities • capacity is increased;
Payables and accrued
charges (Note
from16)
future operations
• contamination
Non-current liabilities is mitigated or prevented; or
Asset retirement obligations
legal or constructive asset
• related toand
accrued environmental
costsobligations.
retirement

• related to existing
conditions caused by past
operations;
$ and
51
$
• they do not contribute to
current or future revenue
generation.

627

Subtotal

$

659

Other
Obligations

$

6

Total

$

665

6
9
42
14

1
–
–
–

7
9
42
14

11
1
(42)
1

–
–
(4)
–

11
1
(46)
1

provision,$when 3
23Recorded
$ as a701

$

704

• environmental remedial efforts are likely; and

7The company
$ uses
58the most$ current3 information
$
61
643

Balance – December 31, 2014
$
609
$
32
$
641
$
2
$
643
Charged to income
The company recognizes provisions for decommissioning obligations (also known as asset retirement obligations) primarily related to mining and
mineral activities.
The2017
major categories of asset retirement obligations are:
obligations
11
1
12
6
18
Better Communication inNew
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| October
Change in discount
rate and restoration costs at its potash and phosphate mining(4)operations, including
–
(4)of materials generated
–
(4)
management
by mining
• reclamation
Change in other
–
48
–
48
andestimates
mineral processing, such as various mine tailings and gypsum; 48
Unwinding of land
discount
13
–
13
–
13
reclamation and revegetation programs;
•

Accounting E

The company r
It is reasonably
2016,
capital e
future and that
were
incurred t
effect on the co
other environm

Estimates for as

• the costs can be reasonably estimated.
available, including similar past experiences,
available technology, regulations in effect, the
16timing of remediation,
643 and cost-sharing
–
arrangements.
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requirements u
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The company also removed information that investors told them added minimal value. For example, the company
redrafted the ‘Basis of Preparation’ note avoiding boilerplate narratives that repeated the requirements in IFRS
Standards. The following excerpts from the 2010 and 2016 financial statements illustrate this change:

Before
in millions of US dollars except as otherwise noted

Note 2

Basis of Presentation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IFRS”).
The company has consistently applied the same accounting policies
throughout all periods presented, as if these policies had always
been in effect.

After

The company is a foreign private issuer in the US that voluntarily
files its consolidated financial statements with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on US domestic filer forms. In
addition, the company is permitted to file with the SEC its audited
consolidated financial statements under IFRS without a reconciliation

Note

to US generally accepted accounting principles (“US GAAP”). As a
result, the company does not prepare a reconciliation of its results to
US GAAP. It is possible that certain of its accounting policies could
be different from US GAAP.
These consolidated financial statements were authorized by the
Board of Directors for issue on February 20, 2017.
These consolidated financial statements were prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for certain items as discussed in the
applicable accounting policies.

Accounting
Policies

Topic

Accounting
Estimates and
Judgments

Page

Note

Better linked

Where an accounting policy is applicable to a specific note to the
statements, the policy is described within that note, with the related
financial disclosures by major caption as noted in the table below.
Certain of the company’s accounting policies that relate to the
financial statements as a whole, as well as estimates and judgments
it has made and how they affect the amounts reported in the
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in Note 31. New
standards and amendments or interpretations that were either
effective and applied by the company during 2016 or that were not
yet effective are described in Note 31.

Topic

Better organised

Accounting
Policies

Accounting
Estimates and
Judgments

Page

3
Revenue recognition
X
X
113
18
Provisions for asset retirement,
4
Cost of goods sold
X
116
environmental and other obligations
X
X
132
4
Selling and administrative expenses
X
116
19
Investments
X
X
135
8
Income taxes
X
X
118
21
Long-term debt
X
138
10
Cash equivalents
X
123
24
Commitments
X
X
142
11
Receivables
X
X
124
25
Guarantees
X
143
12
Inventories
X
X
125
26
Pension and other post-retirement benefits
X
X
144
13
Property, plant and equipment
X
X
126
27
Share-based compensation
X
X
151
14
Other assets
X
128
28
party transactions
X
154
To make the15information
provided in its financial
statements
easier29
to Related
understand,
PotashCorp
redrafted
the
notes
Intangible assets
X
X
129
Fair value and offsetting of financial instruments
X
X
155
17 language
Derivative instruments
X
131
using simpler
and better formatting.X For example,
the company
redrafted the description of
30
Contingencies
X the accounting
X
161

Note 8

Income Taxes

policy on taxation using shorter sentences, each providing a specific piece of information. The use of tables and
bullet points made the information in this note easier to understand. The following excerpts from the 2010 and 2016
financial statements illustrate this change:
This note explains the company’s income tax expense and tax-related balances within the consolidated financial s
provides information on expected future tax payments.
Before

Better formatted

Accounting Policies
112

andratesdirect
The company operates in a specialized industry and in several tax jurisdictions. As a result, its income isSimple
subject to various
of taxation.
Taxation on items recognized in the statements of income, other comprehensive income (“OCI”) or contributed surplus is recognized in the same
location as those items.

PotashCorp 2016 Annual Integrated Report

After

Taxation on earnings is comprised of current and deferred income tax.

Estimate
impacte

• the b

• globa

Current income tax is:

Deferred income tax is:

• the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year;

• recognized using the liability method;

• calculated using rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
consolidated statements of financial position date in the
countries where the company’s subsidiaries and equityaccounted investees operate and generate taxable income; and

• based on temporary differences between financial
statements’ carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and
their respective income tax bases; and

• inclusive of any adjustment to income tax payable or
recoverable in respect of previous years.

Accou

• determined using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the statements of financial
position date and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realized or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.

The realized and unrealized excess tax benefit from share-based payment arrangements is recognized in contributed surplus as current and
deferred tax, respectively.
Better Communication in Financial Reporting | October 2017
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Uncertain income tax positions are accounted for using the standards applicable to current income tax liabilities and assets; i.e., both liabilities
and assets are recorded when probable and measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered from) the taxation authorities using the

The fina
liabilities

• negot

• outco

• resolu
local

Estimate
deferred

• includ
use d

• could
if inco

in millions of US dollars except as otherwise noted

Case study 3—PotashCorp continued
The company also increased the use of cross-referencing of information to avoid duplication, and to assist with locating
explanatory information. The following excerpt from the 2016 annual report (the ‘Capital Structure and Management’
section of the financial overview) with cross-references to the financial statements illustrates this change:

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND MANAGEMENT

ed with issued common shares.
The following section explains how we manage our capital structure in order for our balance sheet
considered sound
Freetoofbeduplication
by focusing on maintaining an investment grade-credit rating.
Issued

PRINCIPAL DEBT INSTRUMENTS

Number of
Shares
Consideration
We use a combination of short-term and long-termCommon
debt to finance
our operations.
We
typically pay floating rates of interest on our short-term debt and credit facility, and fixed
Balance,
December
2013 31, 2016,856,116,325
$ 1,600
rates
on our senior
notes. As31,
at December
interest rates on outstanding
commercial
paper ranged
0.9 percent to 1.1 percent.
Issued under
optionfrom
plans
2,285,450
49
WeIssued
have the
instruments available to finance operations:
forfollowing
dividend

plan
• $3.5reinvestment
billion syndicated
credit facility;1

1,041,691

36
(53)

Repurchased
(29,200,892)
• $75
million unsecured line of credit 2 available through
August 2017; and
• $100
millionDecember
uncommitted
letter
of credit facility 2830,242,574
due on demand.
Balance,
31,
2014

$

1,632

TheIssued
credit facility
line of credit
other covenants with which72
we
underand
option
planshave financial tests and
4,803,560
must comply at each quarter-end. Non-compliance with any such covenants could result in
Issued for
dividend
accelerated
payment
of amounts borrowed and termination of lenders’ further funding
obligations
under the credit
were in compliance with all 43
reinvestment
planfacility and line of credit. We
1,494,017
covenants as at December 31, 2016 and at this time anticipate being in compliance with
such
covenants
in 2017. 31, 2015
Balance,
December
836,540,151
$ 1,747

Dividends Declared
On January 25, 2017, the company’s Board of Directors declared a
As at December
31, 2016 of $0.10 per share payable to shareholders on
quarterly
dividend
($ millions)
May 2,Credit
2017.
The declared dividend
is payable to all shareholders of
Line of Credit
Facility
record on March 31, 2017. The total estimated dividend
to be paid is
Amount outstanding and committed
$84. The$3,111
payment of this dividend$75will not have anyAmount
taxavailable
consequences
for the company.
$389
$0
1

2

$0

$3,500

$0

$75

Under the terms of the agreement governing the Proposed
Transaction, the company is permitted to pay quarterly dividends up
to but not in excess of existing levels.
1

The authorized aggregate amount under the company’s commercial paper programs in Canada and the US is $2,500 million. The amounts available under the
commercial paper programs are limited to the availability of backup funds under the credit facility. Included in the amount outstanding and committed is $389 million
of commercial paper.

2

Letters of credit committed. We also have an uncommitted $100 million letter of credit facility against which $40 million was issued at December 31, 2016.

Source: PotashCorp

For additional information on our capital structure and management:

F Notes 23 for capital structure

Notes 9 and 22 for outstanding share data

The accompanying table summarizes the limits and results of certain covenants.

2,329,600
36
DEBT COVENANTS AT DECEMBER 31
Issued for dividend
Dollars (millions), except ratio amounts
Provides for unsecured advances up to the total facility amount less direct borrowings and amounts committed in
Limit
PotashCorp
introduced
many charts 920,628
and other graphics
15 to present data-intensive information more clearly.
respectreinvestment
of commercial paperplan
outstanding.
Notes 20under
and 21 option plans
FIssued
1

2

Amounts available are reduced by direct borrowings and outstanding letters of credit.

Balance, December 31, 2016

839,790,379

1,798

≤
0.65
< $ 1,000
< $ 4,367 2

Debt-to-capital ratio 1
Debt of subsidiaries
Net book value of disposed assets

Better formatted

2016

$
$

0.36
–
3

Debt-to-capital ratio = debt (short-term debt and current portion of long-term debt + long-term debt) / (debt + shareholders’ equity).
This non-IFRS financial measure is a requirement of our debt covenants and should not be considered as a substitute for, nor superior
to, measures of financial performance prepared in accordance with IFRS.
2 Limit is 25 percent of the prior year’s year-end total assets.
1

SHARE CAPITAL CONSIDERATION Unaudited
($ millions)
As at December 31
Total share capital

Year ended December 31
Issued under option plans
Issued for dividend reinvestment plan
Repurchased

DIVIDENDS AND EARNINGS PER SHARE Unaudited
($)
Dividends declared per share

2,000

0.6

1,600

0.5

Earnings per share
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0.4

1,200

0.3
800

0.2

400

0.1
0.0

0
2013

2014

2015

2016

Source: PotashCorp

Q1 Q2
2014

Q3

Q4

Q1 Q2
2015

Q3

Q4

Q1 Q2
2016

Q3

Q4

Source: PotashCorp

In addition, the company changed the layout of its 2016 financial statements to a landscape format in order to
enhance their readability, especially online.

Key benefits, reactions and challenges
PotashCorp says that the changes have been received well by investors. Despite the redrafted notes being more
concise, investors who have given feedback say the revised financial statements still provide relevant information.
In particular, investors have commented that the new structure and content of the notes have increased the
transparency of the financial statements, removing any initial concerns about reduction of information.
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Another consequence of the modifications has been an improvement in the quality of the dialogue between the
company and its investors. According to PotashCorp’s investor-relations team, questions posed by investors in recent
years have tended to be more constructive, insightful and well informed, a clear indication that the company’s
investors now better understand the content of its financial statements.

You’re bound to be opposed when removing information from financial statements, even when
the information is considered immaterial. In order to attain substantial change, it’s important
to challenge this notion.
PotashCorp’s senior managers say that the process of improving communication in the company’s financial statements
has led to more efficient processes for their preparation. For example, tracking which changes have been made and
which disclosures have been omitted, while at the same time checking the provided disclosures against the disclosure
requirements, has saved staff time during the preparation of the financial statements. Better documentation of the
decision-making process around disclosures has also helped PotashCorp’s investor-relations team respond to investors’
queries. In addition, some of the lessons learnt from this process have helped the company’s preparation of the
quarterly financial statements, which are now also simpler and more concise.
PotashCorp’s senior managers say the enhanced presentation of the information in the financial statements has had a
positive effect on their company’s reputation, and has contributed to the company’s governance.
The major challenge for PotashCorp has been the application of materiality considerations when deciding whether
there is a need for, and if there is, how to fulfil, some of the disclosure requirements. The company is of the view that
the amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements clarifying the requirements for materiality have partially
helped them in that decision process, resulting in PotashCorp achieving disclosure reductions for income taxes, share
capital, pensions and share-based compensation in its 2016 financial statements.3 When making materiality judgements
about disclosures, PotashCorp says, some items are clearly material while others are clearly immaterial. Many difficult
judgements about disclosures relate, however, to items that reside in the large grey area between clearly material and
clearly immaterial items.

Areas of success and lessons learnt
Reflecting on the modifications to its financial statements, PotashCorp says they were most successful in reducing
unnecessary complexity, which in turn has helped investors to understand the story of the company better.
According to the company’s senior managers, the process of improving communication in the financial statements
requires fewer resources if it is managed in phases rather than all at once. This could be vital for organisations with
limited resources intending to make their own financial statements clearer and more streamlined.

If a company is determined to follow best practice in financial reporting, it is important not to
remain static and to pursue innovative ways of improving communication.
What next?
The company believes that to achieve transparent reporting it is essential to keep on refining and seeking new ways to
improve communication in its financial statements. PotashCorp aims to continue with this trend and is considering
upgrading its financial statements so that they are fully digitised and interactive in the years to come.

3 D
 isclosure Initiative (Amendments to IAS 1) was issued in December 2014. The amendments clarified the requirements in IAS 1 for materiality,
order of the notes, subtotals in the primary financial statements and disclosure of accounting policies.
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Case study 4—ITV plc
ITV plc is an integrated producer broadcaster that creates, owns and distributes content on multiple platforms. ITV is
listed on the London Stock Exchange and forms a part of the FTSE 100 Index.

Changes in strategy and their impact on communication
In 2010, ITV announced a plan to improve the performance of its UK television broadcast business while increasing
revenues from international content and multi-platform distribution. This translated not only into changes in
the company’s strategic direction but also in a rethink of the way ITV communicated information in its financial
statements. In particular, ITV wanted to achieve greater cohesion in its overall message to investors so that the
communication of its business strategy extended to its financial statements.
ITV’s modifications to the way it communicated information began to be noticeable in its financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2010. The company observed how other companies had presented financial information,
while also taking note of concepts that had been discussed in publications on effective communication published by
standard-setters and accounting firms.
Over subsequent years, the company has continued to focus its efforts on clearly disclosing information in its
financial statements, including significant transactions for the company, such as business acquisitions.

The ongoing process of challenging the relevance and understandability of the disclosures
For the preparation of the company’s financial statements, teams from the accounting, investor-relations, tax,
treasury, pensions, mergers and acquisitions and group secretariat departments work closely together. ITV believes
early assessment and planning well in advance of the year-end is key to the success of the process.
Any changes in disclosures are reviewed by all the relevant teams and approved by the audit committee. In addition,
any significant events or transactions that occurred during the reporting period resulting in changes to the
disclosures are discussed in advance with the audit committee.
ITV says its main challenge over the years has been to provide disclosures dealing with complex transactions or events
using simple and non-technical language. More generally, the company has also focused on explaining the impact of
its business strategy in its financial statements and aligning the structure of the notes more closely to other corporate
reporting sections provided elsewhere in the annual report.
Furthermore, ITV says that simply achieving a reduction in the volume of the notes has never been a primary goal for
the company. Instead, ITV’s focus has been on providing relevant information to stakeholders using a simpler style.

Our fundamental drive when thinking about improving disclosures has been keeping
explanations simple for the benefit of our stakeholders.
Grouping related notes together and ordering these groups in a way that reflects the
company’s story
Until 2009, the notes in ITV’s financial statements were presented following the order of the line items of the primary
financial statements. In 2010, the company grouped the notes into four sections: ‘Basis of Preparation’, ‘Results for
the Year’, ‘Operating Assets and Liabilities’, ‘Capital Structure and Financing Costs’ and ‘Other Notes’. This change
was intended to highlight wider relationships among the information provided in the notes.
Although the core structure of the notes has not changed since 2010, their presentation evolves each year to ensure
they stay relevant.
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Business review
Operating review
Stakeholders
Risks and uncertainties
Key performance indicators
Financial review
Governance
Board of Directors
Corporate Governance
Audit Committee report
Remuneration report
Other governance and statutory disclosures

Before

08
27
30
32
34
44
46
50
53
62

Financial statements
Statement of directors’ responsibilities
Independent auditor’s report
Consolidated income statement
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Consolidated statement of financial position
Consolidated statement of changes in equity
Consolidated statement of cash flows
Notes to the accounts
ITV plc Company Financial Statements
Notes to the ITV plc Company Financial Statements

63
64
65
66
67
68
70
71
108
109

Other information
Shareholder information
Glossary of terms
Financial record

113
115
116

Keeping it
simple

Notes to the financial statements provide information required by
or Listing Rules to explain a particular feature of the financial state
will also provide explanations and additional disclosure to assist rea
interpretation of the Annual Report and the financial statements.

Contents
Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of ITV plc Only
Primary Statements
Consolidated Income Statement
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Entity-specific

Better organised

Section 1: Basis of Preparation

Better linked

Section 2: Results for the Year
2.1 Profit before tax
2.2 Exceptional items
2.3 Taxation
2.4 Earnings per share

After

Section 3: Operating Assets and Liabilities
3.1 Working capital
3.2 Property, plant and equipment
3.3 Intangible assets
3.4 Acquisitions
3.5 Investments
3.6 Provisions
3.7 Pensions
Section 4: Capital Structure and Financing Costs
4.1 Net cash/(debt)
4.2 Borrowings and finance leases
4.3 Managing market risks: derivative financial instruments
4.4 Net financing costs
4.5 Fair value hierarchy
4.6 Equity
4.7 Share-based compensation
Section 5: Other Notes
5.1 Related party transactions
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To assist stakeholders in navigating the company’s financial statements, each section of notes is introduced by a brief
paragraph about the nature of the transactions and balances dealt with in that section. ITV signposts this paragraph
with the label ‘In this section’. Following this paragraph, under the title ‘Keeping it simple’, ITV provides further
description of the nature of the transactions and the applicable accounting in a clear and simplified manner. This
Financial Statements
narrative also includes any relevant changes to the accounting during
the reporting period.

Entity-specific

Notes to the Financial Statements
Section 3: Operating Assets and Liabilities

In this section

Simple and direct

This section shows the assets used to generate the Group’s trading
performance and the liabilities incurred as a result. On the following pages
there are notes covering working capital, non-current assets and liabilities,
acquisitions and disposals, provisions and pensions.
Liabilities relating to the Group’s financing activities are addressed in
Section 4. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are shown in note 2.3.

Keeping it
simple

Working capital represents the assets and liabilities the Group generates through
its trading activity. The Group therefore defines working capital as distribution
rights, programme rights and production costs, trade and other receivables and
trade and other payables.
Careful management of working capital ensures that the Group can meet its
trading and financing obligations within its ordinary operating cycle.
Working capital is a driver of the profit to cash conversion, a key performance
indicator for the Group. The Group’s target profit to cash ratio on a rolling three
year basis is at least 90%. For those subsidiaries acquired during the year, working
capital at the date of acquisition is excluded from the profit to cash calculation so
that only subsequent working capital movements in the period owned by ITV are
reflected in this metric.

Financial Statements

3.1
Working
capital

In the following section you will find further information regarding working
capital management and analysis of the elements of working capital.

Better Communication in Financial Reporting | October 2017
3.1.1 Distribution rights
Accounting policies
Distribution rights are programme rights the Group buys from producers to derive future revenue,
principally through licensing to broadcasters. These are classified as non-current assets as these rights
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3.4
Acquisitions

Keeping
it simple

The following section outlines what the Group has acquired in the year.
Most of the deals are structured so that a large part of the payment made to the
sellers (‘consideration’) is determined based on future performance. This is done
so that the Group can both align incentives for growth, while reducing risk so that
total consideration reflects actual performance, not expected.
IFRS accounting standards require some of this consideration to be included in
the purchase price used in determining goodwill (‘contingent consideration’).
Examples of contingent consideration include top-up payments and recoupable
performance adjustments. Any remaining consideration is required to be recognised
as a liability or expense outside of acquisition accounting (put option liabilities and
employment-linked contingent payments known as ‘earnout’ payments).

Case study 4—ITV plc continued

The Group considers the income statement impact of all consideration to be capital
in nature and therefore excludes it from adjusted profit. Therefore, for each
the distinction
the types of consideration
has been policies,
Another change to the structure of the acquisition
notes hasbelow,
been the
relocationbetween
of the descriptions
of the accounting
explained in detail.

judgements and estimates to the relevant notes. Before 2010, a summary of all accounting policies, judgements and
estimates was disclosed at the beginning of the notes to the financial statements. ITV says these changes have improved
the flow and the understandability of the discussion in each note by providing more context to the numbers disclosed.
Acquisitions

During
the period,
the Group
completed
the acquisition
of UTV Limited,events
which has
been
includedthat
in the
results
of theto
In addition, ITV has
provided
more
detailed
information
about transactions,
and
balances
are
relevant
Broadcast & Online operating segment. The business fits with the strategy of strengthening the Group’s free-to-air
the understanding of the business. For example, for its recent acquisitions, ITV started including more detailed
business and enables it to run a more efficient network. The following section provides a summary of the acquisition.
information about the terms and conditions surrounding the acquisitions made during the reporting period, usually
UTV Limited
under the subheading
‘Key terms’. Using a separate subheading, ‘acquisition accounting’, the company has provided
On 29 February 2016 the Group acquired a 100% controlling interest in UTV Limited which, together with its 100%
ITV
Report and accounts
Notes to the accounts
details about how
theseplcacquisitions
are2009
accounted
as wellassets
as information
help
company’s
stakeholders
subsidiary
UTV Ireland Limited,
owned thefor
television
of UTV Mediatoplc.
UTVthe
is the
market leading
commercial
understand theirbroadcaster
effects oninthe
financial
statements.
The
below from
the 2009
and
2016 financial
statements
Northern
Ireland,
broadcasting
ITVextracts
content alongside
high-quality
local
programming.
The strategic
rationale for the acquisition was to purchase the Northern Irish Channel 3 license.
illustrate these changes:
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Entity-specific

UTV Limited launched a new dedicated channel for the Republic of Ireland in 2015 via its subsidiary UTV Ireland Limited.
Management concluded that the best prospect of delivering a strong and sustainable Irish broadcaster was to bring
UTV Ireland under common ownership with TV3. ITV therefore sold the company to Virgin Media, owner of TV3 on
November
2016,
for consideration of €10million. Further details are included in note 2.5.
29 Acquisitions30and
disposals
of businesses
Key terms:
Acquisitions and disposals
in 2009
The Group purchased the businesses for a cash consideration of £100 million.
GMTV
On 26 November 2009,
Group acquired
the remaining
25% interest in the shares of GMTV Limited, the national breakfast time channel 3
UTVthe
Limited
acquisition
accounting:
licensee, taking its total percentage of shareholding to 100%. The results of this entity have always been disclosed within the consolidated income
Intangibles, being the value placed on brands and licences of £58 million were identified and goodwill was valued at
statement of the Group at 100% with an adjustment made to reflect the previous non-controlling interest’s share. The impact of the acquisition of
£44 million.
Goodwill
represents
the value placed
on of
the
opportunity
the remaining non-controlling
interest
is reflected
in the consolidated
statement
changes
in equity.to diversify and grow the business by the Group.
goodwill arising
acquisition
not expected
to bereserve
deductible
for taxwas
purposes.
Other
fair value
adjustments
have
The fair value ofThe
the consideration
paid ison
£23
million. Theisnon-controlling
interest
of £8 million
debited on
acquisition
with the
excess
been
made to the
balance
sheet,
though
of them
areinindividually
significant.
of consideration over
the identifiable
netopening
assets acquired
of £15
million
debitednone
to retained
losses
accordance with
IAS 27.

Better formatted

Before

Friends
Reunited Acquisitions in 2015
Financial
Statements

After

In January 2009 theInGroup
million
in respect
of the final payment
of the earn-out
arrangement
relating of
to the
Reunited
acquisitionsegment.
2015paid
the£50
Group
made
four acquisitions,
all of which
are included
in the results
theFriends
ITV Studios
operating
undertaken in 2005 previously disclosed within other payables in note 19 of this report.
Talpa Media B.V.
Disposals
30100%
Aprilinterest
2015 the
Group
acquired
a on
100%
controlling
Talpa
Media B.V. and
its subsidiaries.
The Group disposedOn
of its
in Enable
Media
Limited
the 22
Septemberinterest
2009 for in
£nil
cash consideration
resulting
in a loss on disposal
of £6 million. The Group’s 63% interest in JFMG Limited was sold on 18 February 2009 for £1 million cash consideration resulting in a gain on disposal
Key terms:
of £1 million.
Cash consideration of £362 million (€500 million) was paid at acquisition and the maximum total consideration for
100%capital
of the business, including the initial payment, was £796 million (€1,100 million, undiscounted). All future payments
30 Called up share
The Group’s share capital
is the same asbased.
that of ITV plc. Details of this are given in note v in the ITV plc Company financial statements section
are performance
of this annual report.
The deal structure allows for a further £434 million (€600 million) payable after two, five and eight years, on the
Employees’ Benefit Trust
achievement of stretching performance targets for the business in the years following acquisition. For these amounts
The Group has investments in its own shares as a result of shares purchased by the ITV Employees’ Benefit Trust. As at 31 December 2009 the trust
to be payable in the future, the deal requires the seller to remain with the business during the earnout period. Further,
held the following shares:
if the seller leaves within the first two years following acquisition, €150 million of the initial consideration would be
2009
2008
refunded to ITV. While accounting standards determine that these payments
areMarket
treated
as anNumber
expense,
even the
Number
value
Market value
of shares
€150 million refundable, the Group considers these payments as capital of
inshares
nature, and£m
therefore
expenses in£mrelation
Talpa
Media
B.V. acquisition
accounting:
to
these
payments
are excluded
from adjusted profits as exceptional3,528,761
items.
ITV Employees’ Benefit
Trust
2 4,144,550
2
Intangibles, being the value placed on formats, brands, customer contracts, non-compete arrangements and libraries,
The nominal value of
shares
held(€382
is £0.35million)
million (2008:
million).
Thegoodwill
shares willwas
be held
in trust
untilmillion
such time
as they
may be
transferred
ofown
£276
million
were £0.41
identified
and
valued
at £41
(€57
million).
Goodwill
represents
to participants of the
various
share
schemes.
Rights totodividends
by the ITV
Employees’
Benefit Trust
respect
of The
shares
the
valueGroup
placed
on the
opportunity
diversifyhave
andbeen
growwaived
the content
and
formats produced
byin
the
Group.
goodwill
held which do not relate to restricted shares under the Deferred Share Award Plan.
arising on acquisition is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes. Other fair value adjustments have been made
The total number of shares held by the trust at 31 December 2009 is 3,528,761 (2008: 4,144,550) ordinary shares representing 0.09%
143
toissued
the opening
balance sheet, though none of them are individually significant.
(2008: 0.11%) of ITV’s
share capital.

Notes to the Financial Statements
Section 3: Operating Assets and Liabilities continued

In accordance with
the TrustGroup
Deed, the Trustees of the ITV Employees’ Benefit Trust have the power to exercise all voting rights in relation to any
Twofour
investment (including shares) held within that trust. During the year the following ordinary shares were purchased/(released) from the above trust to
On
24
June
2015 the Group acquired Boom Supervisory Limited, the holding company of Twofour Group.
satisfy awards vesting under the Group’s share schemes as follows:
Key terms:
Number of shares
Nominal value
(released)/purchased
£
Shares released from:
Scheme
The Group purchased 100% of the Twofour Group
for a cash consideration of
£55 million. Subsequently the
sellers
ITV Employees’ Benefit
Trust
(8,175,476)
(817,548)
ITV
Deferred
Share
Award
Plan this
subscribed to 25% of the share capital of the acquiring company. Put and call options have been granted over
(64,945) over the next
(6,495)
Deferred
Bonus Plan has
25% in Twofour Group; these options both being exercisable
threeCarlton
to five
years. Award
The transaction
(531,785)
(53,179) interest
Granada
Commitment
Scheme The
been accounted for on an anticipated acquisition basis
and a non-controlling
has not
been recognised.
(63,411)
ITV Employee
Bonus Planare
maximum total consideration, including the initial(634,112)
payment, is £280 million
(undiscounted).
These payments
dependent on future performance of the business
and linked to ongoing
employment, therefore
accounted
8,790,529
879,053
Shares
purchasedfor
as expense. The Group considers these payments as capital in nature, and therefore expenses in relation to these
Shares released under the ITV Employee Bonus Plan include 264,784 shares awarded to all employees in March 2009 and an additional 369,328
payments are excluded from adjusted profits as exceptional items.
shares awarded to all eligible employees in December 2009 as described on page 27.
Twofour Group acquisition accounting:
31 ContingentIntangibles,
liabilities being the value placed on formats, brands, customer contracts, non-compete arrangements and libraries,
There has been a disagreement between the Group, STV Group plc and the two licence holding subsidiaries, STV Central and STV North, as to
of £18
wereto
identified
goodwill
was valued
£50 million.
Goodwill
the
value placed on the
the amounts of money
duemillion
and payable
the Group.and
A legal
claim, based
upon theatbalances
outstanding
at 30represents
April 2009, for
approximately
opportunity
to diversify
and
grow
the
content2009
and formats
produced
bywere
theserved
Group.onThe
goodwill arising
£38 million in respect
of outstanding
invoices, was
filed
on 22
September
and Particulars
of Claim
24 September
2009. on acquisition
is notthat
expected
to be deductible
Other
fair value
adjustments
been made
The Group recognises
certain amounts
are due to for
STVtax
andpurposes.
these and other
amounts
are the
subject of ahave
counterclaim
servedto
bythe
STVopening
on 13 balance
30November
| Better
Communication
in Financial
October
2017
2009.
Prior
to the
litigation,
the Reporting
Group
and|are
STVindividually
have
come tosignificant.
an arrangement whereby amounts owed to each other will be set off,
sheet,
though
none
of them
although until the current litigation is resolved, that amount cannot be accurately identified. For the period after 30 April 2009, the Group and STV
Other
2015 acquisitions
have agreed to operate
a monthly
payment on account scheme so that the operations may continue effectively.
TheSTV
Group
made
payments
totalling £15
million
for two
acquisitions,
Cats
onGroup
the Roof
Media
In a separate action
Central
andinitial
STV North
issued proceedings
on 16
November
2009smaller
against ITV
Network and
other
companies
in Ltd and

(joint ventures or joint operations), associates and available for sale investments.
A joint venture is an investment where the Group has joint control, with one or more
third parties. An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence
(i.e. power to participate in the investee’s financial and operating decisions). Any
other investment is an available for sale investment.

Notes to the Financial Statements
Section 4: Capital Structure and Financing Costs continued
Accounting policies
For joint ventures and associates the Group applies equity accounting. Under this method, it recognises the investment
in the entity at cost and subsequently adjusts this for its share of profits or losses, which are recognised in the income
statement within non-operating items and included in adjusted profit. Where the Group has invested in associates by
acquiring preference shares or convertible debt instruments, the share of profit recognised is usually £nil as no equity
interest exists. Available for sale investments are held at fair value unless the investment is a start-up business, in which
case it is valued at cost and assessed for impairment.
Net cash flow
In order
to make
the of
information
in the financial
statements
easier
to understand
and Currency
also
toand
avoid31duplication,
The carrying
amount
each categoryprovided
of our investments
is represented
as follows:
1 January
and
non-cash
December
2015
acquisitions
movements
2015
the company increased the use of cross-references for information provided within
the
financial statements
to other
£m
£m
£m
2016
2015 £m
£m excerpts
£mfrom the 2016
sections of the financial statements or to other sections of the annual report. The following
Cash
234
3
1
238
Joint ventures
4
1
financial
statements
illustrate
some of the cases where cross-references have been
Cash
equivalents
63 used:
(6)
(1)
56

Associates
60
18
Total cash and cash equivalents
297
(3)
–
Available for sale investments
12
11
Loans and facilities due within one year
(78)
73
–
76
30
Finance leases due within one year
(7)
7
(6)
and
due after
one Form,
year a digital producer-broadcaster,(161)
(4)
The increase in theLoans
year is
duefacilities
to investment
in New
and increased(433)
investment
Financealeases
due
afterlaunched
one yearin 2014. Further smaller investments have
(10) been made in
– line with
6
in ITV Tomorrow Studios,
scripted
studio
Group’s strategy
to grow
the international content business.
Total
debt
(256)
(353)
(4)

(5)
(6)
(598)
(4)
(613)

Please refer to page 184 for the list of principal investments held at 31 December 2016.
Net cash/(debt)

(319)

294
Free of duplication

41

(356)

(4)

Cash and cash equivalents
Included within cash equivalents is £4 million (2015: £10 million), the use of which is restricted to meeting finance lease
commitments under programme sale and leasebacks (see note 4.2). During 2016 gilts of £39 million (2015: £39 million)
were reclassified to other pension assets. This was as a result of the outcome of legal action attempting to remove the
charging deed executed on these gilts in respect of the unfunded pension commitments of four former Granada
executives. Refer to note 3.7 for further details.
Loans and facilities due within one year
At various periods during the year the Group drew down on the Revolving Credit Facility (‘RCF’) to meet short-term
In addition, the company has redrafted the disclosures in the notes using simpler language and better formatting.
funding requirements. All short-term drawings were repaid by the end of the year (2015: no outstanding short-term
For example, infunding).
2016, the
redrafted
the
on interest
risk by
breaking
narrative
into shorter
Thecompany
maximum draw
down of
thenote
RCF during
the yearrate
was £500
million
in May. up
Thethat
maximum
draw down
sentences, and on
by the
separately
providing
information
about different types of hedging relationships and interest rate
RCF during
2015 was £362
million.

derivatives using
Theclear
Groupsubheadings.
also had an unsecured £161 million Eurobond which matured in January 2017 and had aITVcoupon
of 6.125%.
plc Annual Report
and Accounts 2016
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ancing

Enhanced comparability

Before

Financial Statements

Simple and direct

ITV plc Report and accounts 2009 Notes to the accounts

Loans and loan notes due after one year
The Group has two bilateral loan facilities maturing in March 2017; both loans can be extended until 2018 at ITV’s
option. The two facilities are a £100 million bilateral loan that is fully drawn down as of 31 December 2016, and
Costs continued
a £150 million bilateral loan with an unconditional right to set off with cash on deposit with the counterparty.
The £150 million arrangement is in a net £nil position.
25 Derivative financial instruments
The following table shows
the fair value of2016
derivative
instruments
by type of€500
contract.million Eurobond at a fixed coupon of 2.0% which will mature in
In December
thefinancial
Group
issued analysed
a seven-year
2009
December 2023. The bond has been swapped back to sterling using
a cross currency2008
interest swap. The resulting fixed
Liabilities
Assets
Liabilities
rate payable is c. 3.5%. The proceeds of the bond were forAssets
general
corporate
purposes
£m
£m
£m
£m including the repayment of the
Current portion:
is the value
of and
our derivative
financial
instruments? related liabilities due in 2017.
£161 million sterling bond which matured inWhat
January
2017
settling
the acquisition

After

The following table shows
analysed by type of contract. Interest rate
mined by using the differenceInterest
between
theswaps
contract
rate
– fair value through profit or loss
3 the fair value
(3) of derivative
2 financial instruments
(2)
swap fair values exclude accrued interest.
eporting date. The fair value of interest rate swaps
In September
2015
Group issued a seven-year
€600 million
Eurobond
at10
a fixed coupon
of 2.125% which will mature
foreign
exchange
contracts – cash
flowthe
hedges
–
–
(1)
to terminate the swap at theForward
reporting
date, taking
Assets
in September
2022.
The bond
the
12-month
facility of7€500 million
used for the purchase
of Liabilities
hiness, as well as that of our Forward
swap counterparties.
foreign exchange
contracts – fair
value through
profit refinanced
or loss
2 loan(1)
(4)
At 31
December 2016 bridge
£m
£m

st rate derivatives. The valuation techniques useTalpa
inputs Media
latilities of underlying instruments
andportion:
correlations
Non-current

in April 2015.

Interest rate swaps – fair value through profit or loss
Forward foreign exchange contracts – cash flow hedges
Forward
foreignsensitive
exchange contracts – fair value through profit or loss
mance of the business becomes
increasingly

Current
5
(4)
19
(7)
Foreign exchange forward contracts and swaps – cash flow hedges
Foreign exchange forward contracts and swaps – fair value through profit or loss
151
(30)
194
(25)
Non-current
–
– hedges –
–
Cross currency interest swaps
– cash flow
Foreign exchange forward
– contracts and
– swaps – cash
5 flow hedges
–

151

ct to the US dollar and the euro.

(30)

199

(25)

156
(34)
218
(32)
exchange contracts to hedge material non-functional
tment for up to five years forward. The Group also
At 31interest
Decemberrate
2015 swaps relating to the €118 million 2011
Interest
rate
swap
assets
as
at
31
December
2009
include
£120
million
of
cross
currency
cy denominated costs or revenue on a rolling 18-month
Current
Eurobond and the €188 million 2014 Eurobond (see note 22).
onal currency transactions).
exchange
forward
contractsagainst
and swaps
cash
hedges
The remaining £34 million of assets relates to a number of floating rate swaps. ITVForeign
has a £125
million
swap matched
half– of
theflow
2017
enominated cash balances
is kept
to a bond.
minimal
levelthis
by swap ITV receives 6.125% (to match the original bond coupon)
Foreignand
exchange
forward contracts
andLIBOR
swapsplus
– fair
valuewith
through profit or loss
£250
million
Under
pays three-month
sterling
0.51%
sterling or by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot
Non-current
the three-month sterling LIBOR capped at 5.25% for rates between 5.25% and 8.0%. ITV
also has a £162.5 million swap matched against part of the
Interest
swaps
– fair value
through
profit
lossIn addition,
2015 £425 million bond. Under this swap ITV receives 5.375% (to match the bond coupon)
andrate
pays
six-month
sterling
LIBOR
plusor
0.3%.

6
2

(1)
(2)

–
1
9

(6)
(3)
(12)

Assets
£m

Liabilities
£m

–
1

(4)
(1)

8
(6)
9
(11)
ency interest rate swapsITV
both
toother
manage
foreign
has
swaps
totalling £162.5 million matched against part of the 2015 £425 million bond. Under these swaps ITV receives 5.375% (to match
rrency denominated monetary
items.
the bond
coupon) and pays a weighted average of three-month sterling LIBOR plus 1.45%.
Cash
Interest rate
swap liabilities
fixedflow
ratehedges
swaps. ITV has a £162.5 million swap with a
edged where the currency exposure
is considered
to be of £33 million as at 31 December 2009 relate to variousThe
Group applies hedge accounting for certain foreign currency firm commitments and highly probably cash flows
maturity
of October
under which it receives three-month sterling LIBOR and pays 4.35%.
The bank has the right to cancel the swap. ITV also has
rrowings into a net investment
hedge
against 2015
its euro
where the underlying cash flows are payable within the next two to seven years. In order to fix the sterling cash
a £162.5 million swap with a maturity of October 2015 under which it receives six-month sterling LIBOR plus 0.3%, and pays the higher of six-month
outflows associated with the commitments and interest payments – which are mainly denominated in AUD or euros –
sterling LIBOR minus 0.2% or six-month US$ LIBOR minus 1.0%, set in arrears or in advance.
In addition, ITV has a £125 million swap with a maturity
the Group has taken out forward foreign exchange contracts and cross currency interest swaps for the same foreign
ation risk resulting from aof10%
strengthening/weakening
January
2017 under which it receives three-month sterling LIBOR and pays 4.31%. The
bankamount
has theand
rightmaturity
to cancel
theasswap.
currency
date
the expected foreign currency outflow.
ariables are held constant:
2016 – posttax profit

£3 million
£10 million

All forward foreign exchange contracts hedge underlying currency exposures. The forward foreign exchange contracts which were designated
amount
recognised in costs.
other comprehensive
incomeoutstanding
during the period all relates to the effective portion of the revaluation
2015 –hedges
postas cash flow
related to contractual payments for sport and other programmeThe
rights
and transponder
All cash flow hedges
tax profit
– equity
loss associated with these contracts. There was less than £1 million (2015: £1 million) ineffectiveness taken to the income
at 31 December
20082015
matured
during 2009.

2016 – equity

£32 million
£11 million
26

£10 million

£8 million
Provisions

£63 million
£41 million

sted EBITA is disclosed in the Financial and Performance
urrency sensitivity for adjusted EBITA and profit after tax
nal costs, including acquisition related costs, acquired

At 1 January 2009
Additions in the year
Unwind
bt to vary between 20% and
100%ofofdiscount
total gross debt to
edit facility.
Utilised in the year
31 December
2009 a
92% of total gross debt At
(2015:
99%). Consequently

158

statement and £5 million cumulative gain (2015: £6 million loss) recycled to the income statement in the year.

On issuing the 2023 Eurobond, the Group entered into a portfolio of cross-currency interest rate swaps, which swapped the
euro principal and fixed rate coupons into sterling. As a result the Group makes sterling interest payments at a fixed rate.
Contract

Restructuring

Property

Other

provisions
provisions
provisions
Total
Net
investment provisions
hedges
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
The Group uses euro denominated debt to partially hedge against the change in the sterling value of its euro
47
16 due to movements
2
19 exchange84rates. The fair value of debt in a net investment
denominated
net assets
in foreign
hedge was
million). A foreign
loss of £21 million (2015: £2 million) relating to the net
1 £168 million
7 (2015: £14116
– exchange24
investment hedges has been netted off within exchange differences on translation of foreign operations as presented
3
–
–
–
3
on the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

(16)

(15)

(1)

(3)

(35)

Interest
35rate swaps 8
17
16
76
On issuing the 2017 Eurobond, the Group
entered
into a portfolio of
to floating
interest rate
swaps and
then
Better
Communication
infixed
Financial
Reporting
| October
2017
pact the 2016 post-tax profit for the year by £2 million
subsequently
overlaid a portfolio of floating to fixed interest rate swaps with the result that interest was 100% fixed
Of the provisions £47 million (2008: £43 million) are shown within current liabilities.
on
these
borrowings.
The
timing
of
entering
into
these
swaps
locked
in
an
interest
benefit
for
the
Group,
resulting
in a
Contract provisions of £35 million are for onerous sports rights commitments; there were additions of £4 million in 2009, including £3 million
net mark-to-market
gain
thecontract
portfolio.provision was utilised in
h profit or loss, the movements
in the
year of
relating
to
from the
unwind
the discount
on the provision, and £13 million was utilised. The remaining
£3 million of
theonCSA

the year.
Restructuring provisions of £8 million are in respect of previously announced efficiency programmes. The £15 million utilised in 2009 was in

| 31

nancial Statements
ating Assets and Liabilities continued
Case study 4—ITV plc continued
As In
part
of its redrafting efforts, ITV included question-and-answer narratives in its notes, which has contributed to
this note we explain the accounting policies governing the Group’s pension
making
ITV’s
disclosures
more of
reader-friendly
andofinteractive.
scheme,
followed
by analysis
the components
the net defined benefit pension
deficit, including assumptions made, and where the related movements have been
Simple
and
direct
recognised in the financial statements. In addition, we have placed
text
boxes
to
explain some of the technical terms used in the disclosure.
What are the Group’s pension schemes?
There are two types of pension schemes. A ‘Defined Contribution’ scheme that
is open to ITV employees, and a number of ‘Defined Benefit’ schemes that have been
closed to new members since 2006 and will close to future accrual in 2017. In 2016
on acquisition of UTV Limited the Group took over the UTV Defined Benefit Scheme.
What is a Defined Contribution scheme?
The ‘Defined Contribution’ scheme is where the Group makes fixed payments into
a separate fund on behalf of those employees that have elected to participate
in saving for their retirement. ITV has no further obligation to the participating
employee and the risks and rewards associated with this type of scheme are
assumed by the members rather than the Group. It is the members’ responsibility
Key
benefits, reactions and challenges
to make investment decisions relating to their retirement benefits.
Stakeholders have provided positive feedback to ITV on the changes. In particular, they mention that the new structure
What is a Defined Benefit scheme?
andIncontent
of Benefit’
the notes,
as wellmembers
as their simpler
language,
haveduring
made retirement,
the financial statements easier to understand.
a ‘Defined
scheme,
receive cash
payments
When
it
comes
to
disclosing
information
about
complex
transactions,
or
dealing with complex financial instruments,
the value of which is dependent on factors such as salary and length of service.
such
asGroup
the longevity
swaps used in
pensiona scheme,
provided by
other companies with similar
The
makes contributions
totheir
the scheme,
separatedisclosures
trustee-administered
fund
transactions
financial instruments
have statements,
helped ITV fine-tune
its disclosures.
that is not or
consolidated
in these financial
but is reflected
on the defined
benefit pension deficit line on the consolidated statement of financial position.
It is the responsibility of the Trustee to manage and invest the assets of the Scheme
Our
focus
when
preparing
theappointed
financials
is to ensure
thatofour
and its
funding
position.
The Trustee,
according
to the terms
the disclosures are linked to
Scheme’s
documentation,
required
act in
the best
interest of
the members on the significant events that
our
business
strategyisand
we to
have
given
relevant
information
and is responsible for managing and investing the assets of the scheme and its
have
occurred
funding
position. during the year, presented and written in a way that all our stakeholders can

easily
understand.
In the event of poor returns the Group needs to address this through a combination

of increased levels of contribution or by making adjustments to the scheme.
Schemes
can
be funded,
where
cash efforts
contributions
are made
by the
employer
ITV’s
auditors
have
supported
theregular
company’s
to simplify
the way
relevant
information is communicated in
into
a
fund
which
is
invested,
or
unfunded,
where
no
regular
money
or
assets
are it has attempted to reduce lengthy
its financial statements. The auditors have also worked with the company when
requiredin
tospecific
be put aside
cover
future payments.
narratives
areasto
that
contained
immaterial information, while maintaining compliance with disclosure
requirements that resulted in relevant information. ITV describes the dialogue between the company and its auditors as
an important part of the process, as such discussions help to create better ways to present information.

policies
Areas of success and lessons learnt
ribution scheme
nder the Group’s defined contribution schemes are recognised as an operating cost in the income
ITV believes that its multidisciplinary team has been successful in making the financial statements simpler for the
incurred. For 2016, total contributions expensed were £16 million (2015: £16 million).
benefit of stakeholders without losing critical information. The company believes that planning the preparation of
efit schemethe financial statements well in advance of the year-end reporting tasks makes the whole process of improving the
bligation ineffectiveness
respect of theofDefined
Benefit
Scheme
(the ‘Scheme’) isexercise.
calculated
by estimating
the amount
disclosures
a less
resource-intensive
Constant
collaboration
with the company’s external
ement benefit
that
eligible
employees
(‘members’)
have
earned
in
return
for
their
services.
That
benefit
auditors has also improved progression and review of the changes in disclosures in the financial statements. The
e future is discounted to today’s value and then the fair value of scheme assets is deducted to measure
company believes that continuous simplification has contributed to making its financial statements a document that
enefit pension deficit.
stakeholders find easier to relate to, and that changes to disclosures will continue to be made, as there are still areas
of the Scheme
are measured by discounting the best estimate of future cash flows to be paid using the
for improvement.
t’ method. This method is an accrued benefits valuation method that makes allowance for projected
What
next?
embers in the
future
up to retirement.

The company is planning to continue its efforts in making the annual report more user-friendly and interactive.
It also hopes to extend its efforts in streamlining disclosures to other parts of the annual report, such as the
remuneration report.
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Case study 5—Orange S.A.
Orange S.A. is a French multinational company that provides telecommunication and data services to customers in
29 countries. The company is listed on the Paris stock exchange (Euronext Paris) as well as on the New York Stock
Exchange.

A change towards greater transparency
In the early 2000s, Orange acquired some companies with substantial refinancing needs. During this acquisitive
phase, senior managers increased transparency and tailored the published financial report to provide investors with a
better understanding of senior management’s strategic decision-making.
Orange’s focus on transparency in financial reporting remains unchanged. The company has found that providing
greater insight into its business strategy and how this affects its financial statements enables investors to better
understand Orange’s financial position and performance.

We hope to achieve greater transparency through linking the accounting to the way we do
business in real life.
The process
The journey towards communicating more effectively in the company’s financial statements began by senior managers
setting up internal processes and governance bodies to oversee the process for the preparation of the financial
statements. For example, from 2002 to 2003, the company set up oversight committees on litigation, tax, disclosure and
audit to enhance the transparency of the company’s financial reporting in these areas.
The senior managers tasked staff from the company’s group consolidation and investor-relations teams to develop
innovative ideas on how to better communicate information in the notes. The staff first asked analysts and investors for
their assessment of the quality of the information provided in the financial statements, as well as for any suggestions
they might have had.
Orange also studied innovations other companies had made to disclosures in their financial statements. The staff
followed some of the discussions taking place within the financial reporting community on effective communication
and has kept up with ideas initiated by standard-setters and regulators.
Orange completed its initial changes to the financial statements in 2011. To assess their effectiveness, the company
surveyed investors’ views about the notes to its 2013 financial statements to:
• understand whether they provided adequate information to investors (for example, did the company provide the
right amount of detail in the segment reporting note?);
• gather investors’ feedback on structural changes to the notes (for example, the company relocated information on
accounting policies into related notes); and
• collect suggestions for improvements.
The investors who responded to the survey endorsed most of the changes to the company’s financial statements and
confirmed that they had seen an improvement in the usefulness of the information provided. They also stated that the
overall readability and clarity of the financial statements had improved.
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France

Poland

Value in use

Value in use

0.46%
7.83%
12.26%

1.00%
10.35%
12.29%

At December 31, 2011
Basis of recoverable amount
Source used
Growth rate to perpetuity
Post-tax discount rate
Pre-tax discount rate

Egypt

Romania

Enterprise

Value in use
Value in use
4-year plan
Discounted cash ﬂow
1.50%
3.50%
9.00%
13.00%
11.62%
15.06%

Spain

Value in use

Value in use

2.00%
11.25%
13.02%

0.00%
8.50%
13.18%

Egypt

Romania

Enterprise

Value in use
Value in use
5-year plan
Discounted cash ﬂow
0.50%
1.00%
1.50%
3.00%
7.50%
10.35%
9.00%
11.75%
11.80%focused
11.40%
14.00%
it11.50%
communicated
on information

Value in use

Fair value

Case
study
At December
31, 2010 5—Orange S.A.
France continued
Poland
Basis of recoverable amount
Source used

Value in use

Spain

Value in use

Growth rate to perpetuity
Communicating
information relevant to investors
Post-tax discount rate

2.00%
11.25%
12.87%
matters

0.00%
8.60%
most ton/a
investors.

Pre-tax
discount rate
The
company’s
changes in the way
that
At times,
that focus prompted the company to provide more detail in the notes; at other times the company removed detail
investors
considered unhelpful.
At December 31, 2009
France
Poland
Spain
Romania
Enterprise
of recoverable
amount and analysts
Value
in use
Value
use
Value
in use
Value was
in useoneValue
in use
ForBasis
example,
investors
reported
thatinsegment
information
of the
most useful types of
Source used
5-year plan
information. Because of this, Orange chose to provide these disclosures at the beginning of the notes section20
in
Discounted cash ﬂow
the
financial
statements
and
to
increase
the
detail
provided.
These
disclosures
provide
investors
and
analysts
with
Growth rate to perpetuity
0.50%
1.50%
2.00%
2.00%
0,00%
segment
information
for most line items
in the statements
of
financial position
and financial performance.
Post-tax discount
rate
7.50%presented
10.85%
8.25%
11.25%
8.50%
Pre-tax discount rate

11.20%

12.70%

10.20%

12.95%

13.00%

The company also stopped providing performance measures that investors did not find useful. Orange reconciled the
performance measures it continued to include to the most directly comparable measures specified in IFRS Standards.
the Group considers it improbable that there would be
The Group’s listed subsidiaries are TP S.A. (Warsaw stock
Recommendations
from regulatory authorities in Europe
and North America have also influenced the amount
a change in valuation parameters that would bring the
exchange), Mobistar (Brussels stock exchange), Jordan
of Telecom
detail Orange
includes
in
its
financial
statements.
For
example,
in 2013,
inentities
response
towith
recommendations
recoverable amount
of these
into line
their book
(Amman stock exchange), ECMS (Cairo stock
value;
exchange)
and Sonatel
Stock
Exchangemore
[BRVM]
of
from
regulators,
the (Regional
company
provided
detail
about
goodwill and fixed asset impairment, explaining key
the West African
Economic
and Monetary
Union [UEMOA]
in
assumptions
used
and providing
sensitivity
analyses.
In other cases, recommendations from regulators helped reduce
■ in Poland, which accounts for some 10% of the estimated
Abidjan). The contribution of these subsidiaries, which publish
excessively
detailed information.
recoverable amount for the consolidated entities, the
their own regulated information, is less than or equal to 20%
of the consolidated entity’ revenues, operating income and net
income.

Before
6.4

Sensitivity of recoverable
amounts

At the end of 2011, the analysis of recoverable amounts for
the main entities led to test of their sensitivity to the main
assumptions:
■

for France, the Enterprise Segment and Belgium, which
respectively account for some 50%, 8% and 5% of the
Financial report
estimated recoverable
amount for financial
the consolidated
entities,
Consolidated
statements

following changes would not affect the recoverable amount
of the assets: a change of plus or minus 0.50% in the posttax discount rate would increase or decrease the recoverable
amount by about 400 million euros (200 million euros for
France Telecom’s share in TP). Likewise, a change of plus or
minus 0.50% in the perpetual growth rate would increase or
decrease the recoverable amount by 300 to 400 million euros
(150 to 200 million euros for France Telecom’s share in TP).
Lastly, a 10% increase or decrease in cash ﬂows after the
ﬁfth year would increase or decrease the recoverable amount
by some 600 million euros (300 million euros for France
Telecom’s share in TP);

Entity-specific

4

After
7.4 Sensitivity of recoverable amounts
Because of the correlation between operating cash flow and investment capacity, sensitivity of net cash flow is used. Cash flow for the terminal
year forming a significant port of the recoverable amount, of which a change of plus or minus 10% is presented in the sensitivity analysis.
December 31, 2016
(in billions of euros)

100% margin of the recoverable amount
over the carrying value tested
100% effect on the recoverable amount of:
a variation of 10% in cash flow of terminal year
a decrease by 1% in perpetuity growth rate
an increase by 1% in post-tax discount rate

France

Spain

Poland

Belgium

Romania

Egypt

Enterprise

16.2
3.8
0.0
0.8 TELECOM
0.0
2011 REGISTRATION
DOCUMENT
/ FRANCE

4210.0

3.5

4.1
7.0
7.9

1.2
1.9
2.2

0.4
0.3
0.4

0.2
0.3
0.3

0.2
0.2
0.3

0.1
0.1
0.1

0.3
0.4
0.5

France

Spain

Poland

Belgium

Romania

Egypt

Enterprise

16.1

2.3

0.0

0.4

0.1

0.2

3.5

3.9
6.4
7.2

1.1
1.7
2.0

0.5
0.4
0.6

0.2
0.2
0.3

0.2
0.3
0.3

0.2
0.2
0.2

0.3
0.4
0.5

France

Spain

Poland

Belgium

Romania

Egypt

Enterprise

11.8

0.3

1.2

0.3

0.0

0.0

2.5

3.6
7.0
8.0

0.7
1.1
1.3

0.5
0.6
0.8

0.1
0.3
0.3

0.2
0.2
0.3

0.1
0.1
0.2

0.2
0.3
0.5

December 31, 2015
(in billions of euros)

100% margin of the recoverable amount
over the carrying value tested
100% effect on the recoverable amount of:
a variation of 10% in cash flow of terminal year
a decrease by 1% in perpetuity growth rate
an increase by 1% in post-tax discount rate
December 31, 2014
(in billions of euros)
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a decrease by 1% in perpetuity growth rate
an increase by 1% in post-tax discount rate

20

ﬁnancial information concerning the company’s assets and liabilities, ﬁnancial position and proﬁts and losses
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements
Notes’ index

Linking notes to improve readability
Before
2011,
presented
the and
notes
to the financial statements
sameassets
orderand
as prepaid
the related
line items 432
in
NOTEin
19theOther
expenses
NOTE
1 Orange
Description
of business
basis
of preparation
of the consolidated
the primary financial
statements.
After 2011, the company started grouping related notes together. The company
ﬁnancial statements
381
NOTE 20 Equity
noted that grouping related notes resulted in a more concise presentation
of the information, which facilitated433
its
accessibility
understandability.
For example, in387
2015, the company
started
grouping
information
on
property,
NOTE 2 and
Accounting
policies
NOTE 21 Financial liabilities and net ﬁnancial debt 437
plant and equipment; intangible assets other than goodwill; impairment; and gains and losses on disposal of assets
NOTE
3 same
Mainset
acquisitions,
disposals
andintangible
changes
22 plant
Derivative
444
within
the
of notes titled
‘Other
assets andNOTE
property,
andinstruments
equipment’ (Note 8). The company
in scope of consolidation
402
had previously located information on these items in individual notes within the financial statements. Grouping
NOTE 23 Employee beneﬁts
448
NOTEnotes
4
Revenues
408
related
reduced the length of each note and decreased
the number of notes from 35 in 2010 to 19 in 2016.
NOTE
5
Operating income and expense
Before

408

NOTE 6

410

Gains and losses on disposal of assets

NOTE 7

Restructuring costs and similar items

410

NOTE 8

Impairment

410

NOTE 9

Gains and losses related to ﬁnancial
assets and liabilities

Section 4.1 index

Consolidated
NOTE 10 income
Incomestatement
tax
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
NOTE 11 statement
Goodwill of financial position
Consolidated
Consolidated statements of changes in shareholders’ equity
NOTE 12
Otherinintangible
assets
Analysis
of changes
shareholders’
equity related
to components of the other comprehensive income
NOTE 13 statement
Property, of
plant
equipment
Consolidated
cashand
flows

41886

86
87

42288

89

423

89

42490

NOTE 14
Interests
in associates
Notes
to the
consolidated
financial statements42592
42892

92
94

429

96
98
100

430

102

432

103
104

Note 2

Description of business and basis of preparation
of the consolidated financial statements
105

2.1
2.2

Description of business
Basis of preparation of the 2016
consolidated financial statements
Changes to the presentation
of consolidated financial statements
Standards and interpretations compulsory
after December 31, 2016 and which
the Group did not early apply
Use of estimates and judgment

2.3
2.4
2.5

Note 3

NOTE 25

Other liabilities and deferred
461
Financial report
Betterincome
organised

NOTE 26

Other information relating
to share-based
Entity-specific
payment and similar compensation
462

After
415

1.1
Segment revenues
1.2
Segment
revenues torights
segment
EBITDA
NOTE 16
Broadcasting
andreported
equipment
1.3
Segment
reported EBITDA to segment operating
inventories
income and segment investments
1.4
Segment assets
NOTE 17 Loans and receivables
1.5
Segment equity and liabilities
1.6
Simplified statement of cash flows on
NOTE 18
Financial assets
fair value
telecommunication
and at
banking
activities
throughofproﬁ
t or activities
loss
1.7
Contribution
telecom
and Orange Bank
to the assets and liabilities of the Group
1.8
Transition from adjusted EBITDA to reported EBITDA

Provisions

NOTE 27

Financial statements

Note
1 15
Segment
information
NOTE
Assets
available for sale

NOTE 24

455

Better
Other information on exposure
to market risks

linked

NOTE
28 intangible
Other information
on property,
the fair value
Note
8 Other
assets and
of ﬁnancial assets and liabilities
plant and equipment
8.1
amortization
NOTEDepreciation
29 Otherand
information
on statement
8.2
Impairment of fixed assets
of cash ﬂows
8.3
Other intangible assets
8.4
Property, plant and equipment
NOTE
30 asset
Unrecognized
contractual commitments
8.5
Fixed
payables
8.6
Current provisions for dismantling

NOTE 31

Note 9

Taxes

Litigation

465
472

133

133
134
475
135
137

475
138
139

480

140

9.1 NOTEOperating
taxes and levies
32 Related-party
transactions
9.2
Income tax

140
486

NOTE
33 Subsequent
events
Note
10 Interests
in associates
and joint ventures

488
145

Note
11 Financial
assets,
andauditors
financial result
NOTE
34 Fees
paid liabilities
to statutory
(excluding Orange Bank)

146

11.1NOTEFinancial
assets of
andconsolidation
liabilities of telecom activities
35 Scope
11.2
Profit and losses related to financial assets
and liabilities (excluding Orange Bank)
11.3
Net financial debt
11.4
TDIRA
11.5
Bonds
11.6
Bank loans and from development organizations
and multilateral lending institutions
11.7
Financial assets (excluding Orange Bank)
11.8
Derivatives (excluding Orange Bank)

141

489

146
490
147
148
149
151
152
153
154

105

Note 12 Information on market risk and fair value of financial
assets and liabilities (excluding Orange Bank)
157

105

12.1
12.2
12.3
12.4
12.5
12.6
12.7
12.8

106
107
108

Gains and losses on disposal and main changes
in scope of consolidation

109

3.1
3.2

Gains (losses) on disposal of securities and businesses
Main changes in the scope of consolidation

109
109

Note 4

Sales

113

4.1
4.2
4.3
4.4
4.5
4.6

Revenues
Other operating income
Trade receivables
Deferred income
Other assets
Related party transactions

113
115
115
117
117
118

Note 5

Purchases and other expenses

118

5.1
5.2

External purchases
Other operating expenses

118
119

Interest rate risk management
Foreign exchange risk management
Liquidity risk management
Management of covenants
Credit risk and counterparty risk management
Equity market risk
Capital management
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
(excluding Orange Bank)

163

166

13.1
13.2
13.3
13.4
13.5
13.6
13.7

166
166
166
167
168
169
170

Changes in share capital
Treasury shares
Dividends
Subordinated notes
Translation adjustment
Non-controlling interests
Earnings per share

Note 14 Unrecognized
contractual commitments
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(excluding Orange Bank)
172
Commitments related to operating activities
Consolidation scope commitments

4

157
157
159
160
161
162
162

Note 13 Shareholders’ equity

14.1
14.2

4

Consolidated financial statements index

172
173

35

France
23,308
23,651
23,740
Personal Communication Services – France
10,832
10,769
10,520
Home Communication Services – France
13,536
14,076
14,374
Intra-segment eliminations
(1,060)
(1,194)
(1,154)
Spain
3,821
3,887
4,067
Personal Communication Services – Spain
3,158
3,216
3,362
Home Communication Services – Spain
663
671
705
Poland
3,934
3,831
5,184
Personal Communication Services – Poland
1,930
1,792
2,460
Home Communication Services – Poland
2,260
2,281
2,972
Intra-segment eliminations
(256)
(242)
(248)
Rest of the World
8,248
7,210
7,327
Enterprise
7,216
7,532
7,757
Fixed-line telephony and traditional data services
2,588
3,167
3,444
Enhanced business network services
2,334
2,166
2,054
Integration
and
outsourcing
of criticalthe
communication
applications
1,402 in the same
1,360note as the1,326
From
2015,
Orange
located
description
of each accounting policy
information to which
Other business
services2015, the descriptions of the accounting policies892
839as a single note
933 to the financial
it related.
Before
were disclosed
International Carriers & Shared Services
1,600
1,387
1,348
statements.
International Carriers
1,369
1,207
1,171
Shared services
231
180
177
At the same time, Orange redrafted these accounting policy descriptions to highlight judgements
and estimates
Inter-segment eliminations
(2,624)
(2,653)
(2,711)
Financial report
used
when
applying
those
accounting
policies.
The
following
excerpts
from
the
2010
and
2016
financial
statements
TOTAL
45,503
44,845
46,712
Consolidated financial statements

Case study 5—Orange S.A. continued

4

illustrate the new structure of the notes:

Better linked

France Telecom generates substantially all of its revenues from services.

Simple and direct

Within the Orange group, this restriction includes the protection of third-party holders (distributors and customers).

NOTE 5

Before

5.1

These transactions have no impact on the net debt of the Group and are reflected in the Group’s accounts by two new headings on the
statement of financial position:

Better organised
Operating income
and expense
– assets restricted to an amount equal to the e-money in circulation outside of the Orange Group (or UV in circulation);

– UV in circulation under liabilities, representing the obligation to reimburse the third-party holders (customers and third-party distributors).

■ other
network
which
outsourcing
fees
These two headings are presented under
“other assets”
andexpenses,
“other liabilities”
andinclude
under operating
activities
as “change in working capital
External purchases

relating to technical operation and maintenance, and
IT expenses;

requirement”.

External purchases comprise:
■

■

■ other external purchases, which include overheads, real
commercial expenses and purchases of content rights, which
Related
party
transactions
estate fees, purchases of other services and service fees,
include purchases of handsets4.6
and other
products
sold,
retail
purchases of equipment and other supplies held in inventory,
fees and commissions, advertising,
promotional,
sponsoring
The State is one of the main shareholders, either directly or through Bpifrance Participations. The telecommunication services provided to the
call center
outsourcing
fees
and other
external
nethave no significant impact on
and rebranding costs, as well French
as purchases
service
State areand
provided
as fees
part of competitive
processes
led by each
service
by nature
of the services,
services and
of capitalized goods and services produced.
paid to content editors;
consolidated revenues.

Transactions with associates and joint ventures are presented in Note 10.

service fees and inter-operator costs;

Accounting policies
Orange group’s related parties are listed below:

2010
2009
2008
Group’s key management personnel and their families (see Note 6);
Commercial expenses and purchases– ofthe
content
rights
(7,199)
(6,628)
(6,835)
– the French
its departments
in Bpifrance Participations
departments (see Notes
9 and 13);
o/w advertising, promotional, sponsoring
and State,
rebranding
costs
(1,036)and central State(945)
(1,073)
o/w purchases of content rights – associates, joint ventures and companies in which the Group
(529) owns a material (554)
(382)
shareholding (see Note
10).
Service fees and inter-operator costs
(6,046)
(6,033)
(6,395)
Other network expenses, IT expenses
(2,726)
(2,599)
(2,699)
Other external purchases
(3,404)
(3,488)
(3,582)
o/w rental expenses
(1,162)
(1,099)
(1,062)
TOTAL EXTERNAL PURCHASES
(19,375)
(18,748)
(19,511)
(in millions of euros)

Note 5
After

408

Purchases and other expenses

5.1 External purchases
2010 REGISTRATION DOCUMENT / FRANCE TELECOM
(in millions of euros)

Commercial expenses and content rights
o/w costs of terminals and other equipment sold
o/w advertising, promotional, sponsoring and rebranding costs
Service fees and inter-operator costs
Other network expenses, IT expenses
Other external purchases
o/w rental expenses
Total

2016

2015

2014

(6,800)
(3,970)
(894)
(5,459)
(2,999)
(3,023)
(1,156)

(6,549)
(3,920)
(850)
(5,228)
(2,871)
(3,049)
(1,163)

(6,499)
(3,840)
(840)
(4,743)
(2,830)
(3,179)
(1,157)

(18,281)

(17,697)

(17,251)

Accounting policies
Firm purchase commitments are disclosed as unrecognized contractual commitments.
Subscriber acquisition and retention costs, other than loyalty programs costs, are recognized as an expense in the period in which they
are incurred, that is to say on acquisition or renewal. In certain cases, contractual clauses with distributors provide for incentives based on
the revenues generated and received: these incentives are recorded as expenses upon recognition of these revenues.
Advertising, promotion, sponsoring, communication and brand marketing costs are recorded as expenses during the period in which they
are incurred.
Onerous contracts: during the course of a contract, when the economic circumstances that prevailed at inception change, some
commitments towards the suppliers may become onerous, i.e. the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed
the economic benefits expected to be received under it: this may be the case with leases that include surplus space following space release
due to technological or staffing changes. The onerous criteria are accounted for when the entity implements a detailed plan to reduce its
commitments.
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Orange / 2016 Registration Document
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Orange also started providing more detail about transactions and balances that investors use in their analyses. For
example, in 2010, the information on trade payables was limited to a single line item in the breakdown provided in
the financial liabilities note. Each year since then, the company increased the detail in that note—until 2016 when the
company provided a roll-forward of the trade payables balance.

20

This change
clearer link
between
theandtrade
payables
balance
statement of cash flows to facilitate
ﬁnancialcreated
informationaconcerning
the company’s
assets
liabilities,
ﬁnancial position
and and
proﬁtsthe
and losses
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
investors’ analysis of the company’s working capital. In addition, increased attention of regulators and local
laws
Financial report
concerning suppliers’ payment terms and conditions also contributed to the decision to increase
the level
of detail
in
Consolidated
financial
statements
this area. The following excerpts from the 2010 and 2016 financial statements illustrate this change:
NOTE 21

Before
21.1

Financial liabilities and net financial debt
5.5 Prepaid expenses

Entity-specific

Financial liabilities

millionsposition,
of euros) the different categories of ﬁnancial liabilities are shown under the following headings:
In the statement of ﬁ(innancial

Prepaid rentals and external purchases
December 31, 2010
Other prepaid operating expenses
(in millions of euros)

Total

Noncurrent

Current

Total

Financial liabilities at amortized cost
31,397
4,525 35,922
Deposits received from customers
220
220
(in millions of euros)
Total ﬁnancial liabilities at amortized cost,
excluding trade payables
31,617
4,525 36,142
Prepaid expenses in the opening
balance
Trade payables
466
8,274
8,740
Business
related
variations
Total ﬁnancial liabilities at amortized cost
32,083 12,799 44,882
Changes
the scope
Financial liabilities at
fair value in
through
proﬁt of consolidation
or loss
2,175
366
2,541
Translation adjustment
(1)
250
18
268
Hedging derivatives
liabilities
Reclassifications
and other items
Total ﬁnancial liabilities
34,508
13,183 47,691
Reclassification to assets held
for sale
(1) See Note 22.

December 31, 2009

December 31, December 31, December 31,
2016
2015
2014

December 31, 2008

Noncurrent

Current

Total

Noncurrent

Current

Total

30,321
181

6,230
-

36,551
181

31,192
134

8,152
-

39,344
134

30,502
411
30,913

6,230
7,531
13,761

36,732
7,942
44,674

31,326
428
31,754

8,152
9,279
17,431

39,478
9,707
49,185

614
693
32,220

73
1
13,835

687
694
46,055

495
650
32,899

913
2
18,346

1,408
652
51,245

512
28

463
32

540

495

392

2016

2015

495
35
17
(18)
10
-

392
87
6
9
1
-

Prepaid expenses in the closing balance

After

(in millions of euros)

Tradeproﬁ
payables
Bonds at fair value through
t or loss in the opening balance
Business related variations
Amena price guarantee
Changes
in the scope of consolidation (1)
Derivatives held for trading
(liabilities)
Translation
adjustment
Commitment to purchase
Mobinil-ECMS
shares (2)
Other commitments to
purchase non-controlling
interests
Reclassifications
and other
items (3)
Total ﬁnancial liabilities
at fair value through
proﬁ
t orfor
loss
Reclassification
to assets
held
sale

368
24

540

495

2016

2015

6,227
80
134
(116)
(114)
-

5,775
86
272
29
65
-

20

The table below shows
of liabilities at fair value through proﬁt or loss:
5.6a breakdown
Trade payables

(in millions of euros)

4

December 31,
2010

December 31,
2009

December 31,
2008

25
628
1,880 (1)
8
2,541

664
23
687

810
543
55
1,408

(1) Remeasured amount at December 31, 2010 (see Note 3).

Trade payables in the closing balance

6,211

o/w trade payables from telecom activities
o/w trade payables from bank activities

6,165
46

6,227
6,227
-

(1) Mainly Burkina Faso in 2016 and Jazztel and Médi Telecom in 2015.
(2) In 2016, the changes in currency translation adjustment are essentially related to the effect of the devaluation in the egyptian currency.
(3) Mainly Médi Telecom in 2016.

Supplier payment terms are mutually agreed between the suppliers
and Orange in accordance with the rules in force. Certain key
suppliers and Orange have agreed to a flexible payment schedule
which, for certain invoices, can be extended up to six months.

Trade payables and fixed asset payables that were subject to an
extension for payment, and had an impact on the change in working
capital requirement at the end of the period, amounts to approximately
320 million euros at December 31, 2016, approximately 370 million euros
at the end of 2015 and approximately 40 million euros at the end of 2014.

Accounting policies
Trade payables resulting from trade transactions and settled in the normal operating cycle are classified as current items. They include
those that have been financed by the supplier (with or without notification of transfer to financial institutions) under direct or reverse
factoring, and those for which the supplier proposed an extended payment period to Orange and for which Orange confirmed the payment
arrangement under the agreed terms. Orange considers these financial liabilities to carry the characteristics of trade payables, in particular
due to the ongoing trade relationship, the payment schedules ultimately consistent with the operational cycle of a telecommunications
operator in particular for the purchase of primary infrastructures, the supplier’s autonomy in the anticipated relationship and a financial
cost borne by Orange that corresponds to the compensation of the supplier for the extended payment schedule agreed.
2010 REGISTRATION DOCUMENT / FRANCE TELECOM

437

For payables without specified interest rates, they are measured at nominal value if the interest component is negligible. For interest bearing
payables, the measurement is at amortized cost.
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4

1,070
4,880
4,937

per share (a)+(c)
s per share (b)+(c)

200
3,018
3,018

404
4,073
4,098

08, were not included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share.

4

umber of ordinary shares used for calculating
and diluted earnings per share:
Financialbasic
report

Consolidated financial statements

December 31,
2010

December 31,
2009

December 31,
2008

2,647,269,516

2,648,020,634

2,611,889,097

61,854,754

-

-

-

72,358

42,260,020

Case study 5—Orange S.A. continued
Note 13 Shareholders’ equity

tstanding - basic
g

g

d related plans (2)

Orange also decided
to 31,
improve
the clarity
some
data-intensive
that investors
At December
2016, Orange
SA’s shareof
capital,
based
on the number disclosures
13.2 Treasury
shares had struggled to understand.
1,025,869
2,419,249
of issued
shares
at
this date,
amounted
to 10,640,226,396
euros, divided
For example,541,125
in
2016,
Orange
replaced
a narrative
description
of its dividends with a table.
into 2,660,056,599 ordinary shares with a par value of 4 euros each.

As authorized by the Shareholders’ Meeting of June 7, 2016, the

651,628
2,141
1,987,449
Board of Directors instituted a new share Buyback program (the 2016
Since April 3,
2016, once the 2,658,555,815
Law of March 29, 2014 known
asinformation
the
ﬁnancial
concerning
theand
company’s
assets
and liabilities,
nancial position
and proﬁts and
2,710,317,023
2,649,121,002
Buyback
Program)
cancelled
the 2015
Buyback ﬁProgram,
with

Better formatted

g - diluted

Florange Law took effect, shares held in registered form for at least two
TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STAT
immediate effect. The 2016 Buyback Program is NOTES
described
in the
101,965,284 shares at December 31, 2008.
months in the name of the same shareholder enjoy double voting rights.
Registration Document filed with the French Financial Markets
nth average market price are not included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share.
At December 31, 2016, the French State owned 22.95% of Orange
Authority (Autorité des marchés financiers – AMF) on April 4, 2016.
SA’s share capital and 29.29% of voting rights either directly or indirectly
in concert with Bpifrance Participations. At that same date, under their
The only shares bought back by Orange during the year were shares
Group savings plan or in registered form, the Group’sThe
employees
owned Shareholders’
bought back
as partheld
of the
euros, since shareholders had the option to rece
France Telecom
Meeting
on liquidity
May 26,contract.
20.4 Dividends
50% of the balance of the dividend, i.e. 0.40 eur
2009 had decided the distribution of a dividend of 1.40 euro
5.37% of the share capital and 8.43% of voting rights.
y dilutive
At December 31, 2016, the Company held 22,423 treasury shares
France Telecom shares.
share inﬁnancial
respect position
of 2008. and
Given
thets interim
dividend of
concerning
theofcompany’s
assets andper
liabilities,
proﬁ
and losses
At itsﬁnancial
meeting information
of July 28, 2010,
the Board
Directors decided
(including 0 share as part of the liquidity contract), compared with
0.60 euroNOTES
per share,
which was paid
out on
September 11,
TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
to distribute an interim cash dividend of 0.60 euro per share in
13.1 Changes in share capital
27,663 at December 31, 2015 (including 0 share
as partTelecom
of the liquidity
, which was
The France
Shareholders’ Meeting he
2008 for a total of 1,563 million euros, the distribution on June
respect of 2010. This interim dividend was paid on September 2,
and
41,017
December
(including
share asthe
partdistribution of a cas
had 0decided
30, 2009, amounted tocontract)
0.80 euro
per
share,atfor
a total of31, 20142008
2010 for a total amount of 1,589 million euros.
During the year, Orange SA issued 11,171,216
new
shares,
of
the liquidity
contract).
1.30 euro per share in respect of 2007. The divid
2,091
million
euros.
This
payment
was
made
in
cash
for
1,553
lutive up to
representing
0.42% Meeting
of the capital,
in an
employee
shareholding
planin France Telecom shares for 538 million
on June 3, 2008 for a total amount of 3,386 mill
The France Telecom
Shareholders’
held on
June
9,
million
euros and
(seedistribution
Note 6.3).of The
resulting
addition
to
(including
share
2010
decided
the
aMeeting
dividend
of on
1.40
euro
percapital
euros,
since shareholders
had the option to receive payment of
The
France
Telecom
Shareholders’
held
May
26,
premium),
made
31, 2016
113
euros.
share
in respect
ofthe
2009.
Given
theon
dividend
ofwas
0.60
euromillion50%
of the balance of the dividend, i.e. 0.40 euro per share, in
2009
had
decided
distribution
ofinterim
aMay
dividend
of 1.40
euro

n plans were

option plans,
ve overall.

ach plan is
share-based

Enhanced comparablility

Before

20

pershare
share,
paid out
on September
2009 for
per
in which
respectwas
of 2008.
Given
the interim 2,
dividend
of a
totaleuro
of 1,588
millionwhich
euros,was
the paid
distribution
June 17, 2010,
0.60
per share,
out onon
September
11,
amounted
to 0.80
euromillion
per share,
for
total of 2,117
million
2008
for a total
of 1,563
euros,
theadistribution
on June
Accounting
policies
euros.
30,
2009, amounted to 0.80 euro per share, for a total of

France Telecom shares.
20.5
Cumulative translation adjustment

The France Telecom Shareholders’ Meeting held on May 27,
The change in translation adjustments for continuing operations is broken down as follows:
2008 had decided the distribution of a cash dividend of
1.30
euro per
share in respect
2007.
Thelosses
dividend
wasfrom
paid the sale of treasury shares are
shares
recorded
a deduction
from
equity,
at acquisition
cost. of
Gains
and
arising
2,091 million euros. Treasury
This payment
wasare
made
in cashasfor
1,553
in consolidated
net of tax.on June 3, 2008 for a total amount of 3,386 million euros.
December 31,
million euros and inrecognized
France Telecom
shares forreserves,
538 million

After
20.5

(in millions of euros)

Cumulative
translation adjustment
13.3 Dividends

Proﬁt/(loss) recognized in other comprehensive income during the period
Reclassiﬁcation to net income for the period (1)
Total translation adjustments for continuing operations

2010

December 31,
2009

679
(60)
619

(266)
(266)

The change in translation adjustments for continuing operations is broken
down as follows:
(1) Arising from transactions in connection with the Egyptian entities. See Note 3.

Dividend
per share

Full Year

Approved by

(in millions of euros)

Payout

Total

How

(in millions

December
31,
December
31,
December 31,date paid
Description
(in euro)
of euros)
2010
2009
2008
The change in translation
adjustments
for discontinued operations
is broken down as follows:

2016in other comprehensive
Board of Directors
on period
July 25, 2016 2016 interim
Proﬁt/(loss) recognized
incomeMeeting
during the
679 dividend
Meeting on June 7, 2016
Balance for
(60)2015
Reclassiﬁcation to net income for Shareholders’
the period (1)
Total dividends paid
Total translation adjustments for continuing operations
619in 2016
(in millions of euros)

0.20
(266)
0.40(266)

December(179)
7, 2016
June 23, 2016
-

Cash
Cash

(179)

532
1,064
December 31,1,596 December 31,
2010

(1) Arising from transactions in connection with the Egyptian entities. See Note 3.

2015

t/(loss)
recognized
other comprehensive
income
during9,the
periodCash
Board of Directors Meeting on July 27,Proﬁ
2015
2015
interim in
dividend
0.20
December
2015
ReclassiﬁBalance
cation to for
net 2014
income for the period
Shareholders’ Meeting on May 27, 2015
0.40 (1)
June 10, 2015 Cash
Total
translation
adjustments
Total
dividends
paid
in 2015 for discontinued operations

20

(4) 530
1,0971,059
1,0931,589

2009
441
441

The change in translation adjustments for discontinued operations is broken
down as follows:
(1) Including 1,031 million euros in connection with the disposal of the interest in Orange in the UK and 66 million euros in connection with entities liquidated following r

2014

of operations
in the
UK. Seedividend
Note 3.
Board of Directors Meeting on July 28, 2014
2014
interim
0.20
Shareholders’ Meeting on May 27, 2014
Balance for 2013
0.50
December
31,in 2014
December 31,
Total dividends
paid

2010

(in millions of euros)

2009

December 9, 2014
June 5, 2014
December 31,
2008

Cash
Cash

529
1,317
1,846

The table below provides
a breakdown441
of cumulative translation adjustments by currency.
Proﬁt/(loss) recognized
incomeMeeting
during the
(4) dividend
2013in other comprehensive
Board of Directors
on period
July 24, 2013 2013 interim
0.30 December(1,848)
11, 2013 Cash
788
(1)
1,097
- avoidJune
Reclassiﬁ
cation
to
net
income
for
the
period
Shareholders’
Meeting
on
May
28,
2013
Balance
for
2012
0.20
11, 2013
Cash
526
Orange has also attempted to highlight relationships between information and
duplication
by using
Total translation adjustments for discontinued operations
1,093in 2013
441
(1,848)
Total dividends paid
December 31,1,314 December 31,
cross‑referencing. The following excerpt from the(in2016
financial
statements illustrates this approach:
Financial report
euros)
2010
2009
(1) Including 1,031 million euros in connection with the disposal of the interest in Orange in the UK andmillions
66 millionofeuros
in connection with entities liquidated following reorganization

4

Consolidated
financial
statements
available to provide a return to shareholders
in the form of dividends, is calculated
on the basis
of the total
net income and 734
retained
Pound sterling
earnings, under French GAAP, of the entity Orange SA,
parent company.
o/wthe
translation
adjustments for discontinued operations
-

of operations in the UK.
Seeamount
Note 3.
The

Free of duplication

Polish zloty
Swiss franc
The table below provides a breakdown of cumulative translation adjustments
by currency.

Analysis of net financial debt by entity

Egyptian pound
Slovakian crown
December
31, December 31,
December
31, 31, December
December 31,
Other December 31,
millions of
of euros)
2016
2015
2014
(in(inmillions
euros)
2010
2009
2008
TOTAL
Pound sterling
734
(691)
(992)
of which share attributable
to owners
of the parent company
Orange SA
23,154
24,617
23,798
o/w translation adjustments for discontinued operations
(1,093)
(1,534)
of which share attributable
to non-controlling
Orange Egypt (1)
309 interests
862
919
Polish zloty
1,096
930
874
Orange Espagne (2)
169
511
553
Swiss franc
155
0
(2)
FT IMMO H
536
496
546
Egyptian pound
(203)
(12)
3
Médi Telecom
423
436
Slovakian crown
244
244
244
Securitization (Orange SA)
494
Other
(32)
(189)
(20)
Other
(147)
(370)
(220)
TOTAL
1,994
282
107
Net financial debt
24,444
26,552
26,090
of which share attributable to owners of the parent company
1,689
37
(135)
(1) of
Change
2016
mainly dueto
to non-controlling
the devaluation of interests
the Egyptian pound, currency in which Orange Egypt305
bank loans are denominated
11.6).
whichduring
share
attributable
245 (please refer to Note
242

1,096
155
(203)
244
(32)
1,994
1,689
305

(691)
(1,093)
930
0
(12)
244
(189)
282
37
245

(2) Change during 2016 mainly due to the reimbursement of financing obtained from European Investment Bank (please refer to Note 11.6).
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Accounting policies
cash equivalents
38 Cash
| and
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The Group classifies investments as cash equivalent in the statement of financial position and statement of cash flows when they comply with
the conditions of IAS 7 (see cash management detailed in Note 12.3 and 12.5):
– held in order to face short-term cash commitments; and

2010 REGISTRATION DOCUMENT / FRA

Lessons learnt
The company faced challenges in improving disclosures, including:
• maintaining the comparability of the information over several years of changes. Orange had to make sure that
investors understood the changes taking place and could compare information across periods where disclosures
had changed in terms of both structure and content.
• ensuring consistency and cohesiveness in the information disclosed in the consolidated financial statements, the
listed sub‑groups’ financial statements and the parent company’s separate financial statements, while making
appropriate judgements about which information was material.
• supporting the proposed changes in disclosures by highlighting the judgement process that was applied. The staff
presented the proposed changes to senior management and the auditors by contrasting the existing disclosures
with those proposed, so that they would more easily understand the judgements involved in the process.
Orange believes that careful consideration must be given to the additional investment in time it takes to change the
way financial information is communicated. For example, changes in the drafting of current-period disclosures may
mean that companies may have to change the way prior-period information is disclosed to maintain comparability.
This process could put pressure on the preparation of the year-end financial statements.
This process also requires the development of staff skills. Drafting disclosures in a simpler and more concise manner
can be time-consuming. The restructuring of information also requires additional supervision from senior staff.

This process is inherently a trial and error exercise. You have to be brave and accept that in
certain instances you may make mistakes; what matters is aiming to continuously improve.
Key benefits and reactions
Changes in questions posed by investors demonstrate the benefits of the changes in Orange’s financial statements.
Before the company restructured the way it communicated information, investors mainly asked: ‘Where do I find
information in the financial statements?’ Now investors mostly query the company’s business strategy and the
industry’s evolution.
The local regulator took notice of the company’s changes and featured Orange as an example of a company that had
made improvements to the relevance, consistency and readability of its financial statements.
The changes in communication have also influenced the attitude of non-accounting staff towards the financial
statements. Departments with no direct role in financial reporting, now quote or refer to the company’s financial
statements in their own reports.
Orange believes that such changes in the attitude of investors and internal stakeholders show that, by improving the
structure of its financial statements, the company has communicated more effectively with a wider audience.

What next?
For Orange, the changes in the way it structures information in the notes has made the financial statements clearer,
more concise and easier to read. Orange plans to apply the principles learnt in streamlining the financial statements
to other parts of the annual report. To understand how well its financial statements convey information and what
other improvements can be undertaken, the company plans to survey investors again in 2019.
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Case study 6—Pandora A/S
Pandora A/S is an international jewellery manufacturer and retailer with products sold in more than 100 countries.
The company is listed on the NASDAQ OMX Copenhagen Stock Exchange and its securities form part of the
OMX Copenhagen 20 Index.

Accessing the capital markets triggered change in communication
Founded in 1982, Pandora has grown rapidly. In 2010, the company completed its initial public offering (IPO). This
change in its financing structure had a direct impact on its financial reporting. From its foundation until the IPO,
the company viewed financial reporting as a compliance exercise. After the IPO, Pandora changed its business
model from that of a manufacturer-wholesaler to that of manufacturer-retailer. The changes in the business model
prompted senior managers to redraft the notes so that they better reflected the company’s venture into the retail
market. Pandora started viewing its financial statements not just as a compliance document but also as a tool for
communicating with its investors.

A collaborative process
Staff members from the corporate social responsibility, communications, accounting and investor-relations departments
worked closely together in order to plan the best way to make changes across different sections of the annual report
including the financial statements.

The journey towards improving communication in the financial statements is a collaborative
effort that needs the contribution of all the departments that play a role in the preparation of
the financial statements within an organisation.
These changes aimed to address some of the investors’ needs identified by the investors-relations team when
analysing feedback from institutional investors and the comments other investors made during the company’s
annual general meetings.
Other changes to disclosures arise on a continuous basis as part of Pandora’s internal processes. For example, after
the year-end annual report is published, Pandora performs a review to help senior managers identify what processes
worked well and what needs enhancing in preparation for the next year’s financial reporting package. Any suggested
changes in the disclosures arising from this exercise are reviewed by Pandora’s senior managers and audit committee.
The following paragraphs describe the main changes to the information disclosed in Pandora’s financial statements
during the last few years.
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Restructuring the notes
In 2013, the company started grouping the notes to the financial statements into five sections: ‘Basis of reporting’,
‘Results for the year’, ‘Invested capital and working capital items’, ‘Capital structure and net financials’ and ‘Other
disclosures’. Pandora says this reorganisation helps stakeholders to understand the structure and location of the
information in the financial statements. The excerpts from the 2012 and 2016 financial statements illustrate this
change:

NOTES

NOTES

Entity-specific

Before

Better organised

the notes are grouped into five sections related to key figures. the notes contain the relevant financial information as well as

47

a description of accounting policies applied for the topics of the individual notes.
NOTE 1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS

49

NOTE 2. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

51

NOTE 3. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

54

NOTE 4. PURCHASE OF NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS
1.1 Basis
of reporting, p. 79

54

NOTE 5. AMORTISATION/DEPRECIATION AND
Section 2: Results for the year, p. 82
IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

Section 1: Basis of reporting, p. 79

55

NOTE 6. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

2.1 Revenue, p. 83

57

NOTE 7. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

2.2 segment information, p. 84

58

NOTE 8. DEVELOPMENT COSTS

2.3 staff costs, p. 86

58

NOTE 9. FEES TO THE AUDITORS APPOINTED
BY THE payments, p. 87
2.4 share-based
COMPANY AT THE GENERAL MEETING, ERNST & YOUNG

59

Better linked

After

NOTE 10. FINANCIAL INCOME

Section 4: Capital structure and
net financials, p. 102
4.1 share capital, p. 103
4.2 earnings per share and dividend, p. 104
4.3 net interest-bearing debt, p. 104
4.4 financial risks, p. 105
4.5 derivative financial instruments, p. 108
4.6 net financials, p. 109

2.5 taxation, p. 90
4.7 other non-cash adjustments, p. 109
Section 3: Invested capital and
working capital items, p. 92

Section 5: Other disclosures, p. 110

3.1 intangible assets, p. 93

5.1 Business combinations, p. 111

59

NOTE 11. FINANCIAL EXPENSES

60

NOTE 12. INCOME TAX

61

NOTE 13. EARNINGS PER SHARE AND DIVIDEND

62

NOTE 14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

3.2 Property, plant and equipment, p. 97

5.2 Contingent liabilities, p. 115

The content of the disclosures in these sections
is aligned
parts p.of115
the
5.3 other
Related parties,
3.3 inventories,
p. 99to the information provided in
65
NOTE 15. IMPAIRMENT TEST, INTANGIBLE ASSETS
annual
report.
For example, the section entitled ‘Invested capital and working capital items’ relates directly to the
5.4 fees to independent auditor, p. 116
3.4 trade receivables, p. 100
68
NOTEdiscussion
16. PROPERTY,
AND
EQUIPMENT
management
on PLANT
working
capital
in the ‘financial review’ part of the annual report.
5.5 Companies in the PandoRa Group, p. 117

3.5 Provisions, p. 101

69
NOTE
17.section
DEFERRED
TAX
In addition,
each
is introduced
by a page that sets out key performance measures, significant transactions
5.6 financial definitions, p. 118
NOTE
18.that
INVENTORIES
and 70
balances
for
section.

Better linked

70

NOTE 19. TRADE RECEIVABLES

71

NOTE 20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

72

NOTE 21. FINANCIAL RISKS

76

NOTE 22. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

78

NOTE 23. PROVISIONS

79

NOTE 24. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, SECURITY FOR
LOANS AND OTHER FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS

80

78 • Consolidated finanCial statements
NOTE 25. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

81

NOTE 26. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

81
94

Simple and direct

seCtion 3

INVESTED CAPITAL
AND WORKING CAPITAL ITEMS

PandoRa annUal RePoRt 2016

NOTE 27. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The notes in this section describe the assets that form
the
basis for
activities STRUCTURE
of PANDORA and the related
NOTE
28.theGROUP
liabilities.
Around 60% of invested capital is made up of
intangible assets, the value of which remains unchanged
as both the PANDORA brand and free cash flow continue
to grow.

CAPEX

Additions to invested capital in 2016 included
acquisitions described in note 5.1 for a total consideration of DKK 188 million.
Operating working capital at the end of 2016 was
13.7% of revenue, compared with 14.3% at the end of
2015.
Financial risks
are described
in note REPORT
4.4.
PANDORA
ANNUAL
2011

INVESTED CAPITAL
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Case study 6—Pandora A/S continued

NOTES

Communicating relevant information in a concise and clear manner
Pandora believes that a series of minor changes across the notes has significantly improved the communication of
information in its financial statements.
The following changes were intended to improve the clarity and readability of
NOTE 18. INVENTORIES
the financial statements.
TheDKK
company
took steps to identify and remove stand-alone
notes that did not
million
2011
2010provide material information. For
example, Pandora used to disclose information on its development costs in its consolidated income statement as a
Raw materials and consumables
232
294
separate
note. In 2013, the company decided to remove that
note from its financial
statements because the related
Work in progress
37
103
Finished goods was deemed to be immaterial.
1,340
875
information
1,609

1,272

Pandora
also relocated information about its significant accounting
policies,48judgements and estimates into the
Inventory write-downs during period
93
relevant notes. The excerpts from the 2011 and 2016 financial statements showing the note on trade receivables
The write-downs of inventories is recognised under cost of sales DKK 14 million (2010: DKK 48 million) and distribuillustrate
this change.
tion expenses DKK 79 million (2010: DKK 0 million).

Before

Entity-specific
NOTE 19. TR ADE RECEIVABLES

Better linked

Trade receivables at 31 December 2011 include receivables at a nominal value of DKK 925 million (2010: DKK 849
million), which have been written down to DKK 900 million (2010: DKK 834 million).

DKK million

2011

2010

15
-4
-5
19
25

5
-1
-2
13
15

Analysis of movements in provisions for impairment of trade receivables:
At 1 January
Utilised
Unused amounts reversed
Change for the year
At 31 December

Analysis of trade receivables that were past due, but not impaired, at 31 December:
Until 30 days
257
234
Between 30 and 60 days
25
48
Between 60 and 90 days
31
20
Above 90 days
23
14
Past due, but not impaired
336
316
Neither past due nor impaired
564
518
Total
900
834
SECTION 3: INVESTED
CAPITAL AND WORKING
CAPITAL ITEMS, CONTINUED

NOTES

After

Historically, PANDORA has not encountered signiﬁcant losses on trade receivables.
3.4

TRADE RECEIVABLES
dKK million

2016

2015

Analysis of trade receivables at 31 December
Not past due
Up to 30 days
Between 30 and 60 days
Between 60 and 90 days
over 90 days
Total past due, not impaired
Total trade receivables at 31 December

1,394
211
41
19
8
279
1,673

1,033
193
85
47
2
327
1,360

24
50
-3
-22
-1
48

23
10
-5
-5
1
24

Analysis of movements in bad debt write-downs
Write-downs at 1 January
additions
Utilised
Unused amounts reversed
exchange rate adjustments
Write-downs at 31 December

70
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PandoRas customers comprise distributors, franchisees
and consumers. While consumers pay cash, management
monitors payment patterns of the other groups of customers
and estimate the need for a write-down. Credit ratings of
customers and market specific development are taken into
account in order to assess the need for further impairment.
Historically PandoRa has not suffered any significant
losses.
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Accounting policies
PANDORA
ANNUAL
REPORT
2011
trade
receivables
are initially
recognised
at fair value and
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest
rate method, less impairment. any losses arising from writedown are recognised in the income statement as sales costs.
a write-down for bad or doubtful debts is made if
there is any indication of impairment of a receivable or a
portfolio of receivables. the write-down is calculated as the
difference between the carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows associated with the
receivable. the discount rate used is the effective interest
rate for the individual receivable or portfolio of receivables
at the time of recognition.

dKK million

SECTION 1: BASIS OF REPORTING

2016

2015

15
15

199
199

finance costs from financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through the income statement:
fair value adjustments, derivative financial instruments
Total finance costs from derivative financial instruments
finance costs from financial liabilities measured at amortised cost:

This section
introduces
Accounting policies
foreign exchange
losses PANDORA’s accounting policies
22
234
interest on loans and borrowings
23
10
and significant
accounting
estimates.
A
more
detailed
the
overall
accounting
policies
applied
to
the
annual
other finance costs
22
110
Total finance
costs from loans
and borrowings
67
354
description
of accounting
policies
and significant estimates
Report as a whole are described below.
the accounting
relatedTotal
to specific
reported
amounts
is
presented
in
the
policies
related
to
specific
line
items
are
described
finance costs
82
553 in the
respective notes. The purpose is to provide transparency
notes to which they relate.
on the disclosed amounts and to describe the relevant
policies
in the notes
interestthe
rate,description
which is the of
rateaccounting
that discounts
the estimated
Accounting policies
accounting
policy,
significant
estimates
and
numerical
forms
part
of
the
overall
description
of
PandoRa’s
future cash payments or receipts through the expected
finance income and costs comprise interest income and
Thedisclosure
company
started
providing additional information where
it would be useful to investors. For example, Pandora
for
each
note.
lifeaccounting
of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, where
expenses,
realised
and unrealised gains and losses on
policies:
included apayables/receivables
new note in itsand
2016
financial
statements
on
the
components
of net
other
non-cash
appropriate, to the
carrying
amountadjustments
of the financial presented in
transactions in foreign currencies.
the
statement
of
cash
flows.
asset
or
liability.
for
all
financial
instruments
measured
at
amortised
cost,
1.1 BASIS OF REPORTING
Revenue
note
2.1

interest
income
or expense
is recognised
using
theitseffective
staff costs
note
2.3
Entity-specific
PandoRa
a/s
is a public
limited
company
with
share-based payments
note
2.4
registered office in denmark.
income tax
note
2.5
the annual Report for the period 1 January - 31
deferred tax
note
2.5
4.7 OTHER NON-CASH ADJUSTMENTS
intangible assets
note
3.1
december 2016 comprises the consolidated financial
Property, plant and equipment
note
3.2
Other non-cash adjustments
statements of PandoRa a/s and its subsidiaries (the
inventories
note
3.3
2016
2015
Group)dKK
as million
well as separate financial statements for the
trade receivables
note
3.4
Provisions
note
3.5
Parent other
Company,
PandoRa
a/s.
non-cash adjustments can be split into the following:
dividend
note
4.2
the annual Report has been prepared in accordance
net interest-bearing debt
note
4.3
effects from exchange rate adjustments
58
-297
with international
financial
Reporting standards (ifRs)
derivative financial instruments
note
4.5
effects from derivative
financial instruments
182
-131
net financials
note
4.6
other, including
from the sale of danish
property, plant
and equipment
1
-4
as adopted
by the gains/losses
eU and additional
disclosure
Total other non-cash adjustments
241
-432
Business combinations
note
5.1
requirements for the annual reports of listed companies.
the annual Report has been prepared on a historical
cost basis, except for derivative financial instruments, which
The consolidated financial statements
Pandora
mademeasured
an effortattofair
present
comparable
manner.
The company
have been
value. information in a simpler and
themore
consolidated
financial
statements
comprise the
Consolidated
finanCial statements
• 109
acknowledges
in
the
notes
that
some
financial
ratios
and
measures
may
be
calculated
differently
by other
companies.
the annual Report is presented in danish kroner and all
financial statements of the Parent Company
and its
Hence,
to
help
investors
compare
Pandora
with
other
companies,
the
company
has
explained
its
calculation
ofthe
amounts are rounded to the nearest million (dKK million),
subsidiaries. subsidiaries are fully consolidated from
financial
ratios
and
other
measures
disclosed
in
the
notes.
In
addition,
to
help
investors
make
comparisons
over
unless otherwise stated.
date of acquisition, being the date on which PandoRatime,
the company
has made
effortsasto
classify,below
calculate
these control,
measures
consistently
reporting
periods.
the accounting
policies
described
and and
in thepresentobtains
until
the date thatacross
such control
ceases.
all
respective notes are unchanged from last year.
intercompany balances, income and expenses, unrealised
gains and losses and dividends resulting from intercompany
Alternative performance measures
transactions are eliminated in full.
PandoRa presents financial measures in the annual
Report that are not defined according to ifRs. PandoRa
Foreign currency
believes these non-GaaP measures provide valuable
the consolidated financial statements are presented in
information to investors and PandoRa’s management
danish kroner, dKK, which is also the functional currency
when evaluating performance. since other companies
of the Parent Company. each subsidiary determines its own
might calculate these differently from PandoRa, they
functional currency, and items recognised in the financial
may not be comparable to the measures used by other
statements of each entity are measured using that functional
companies. these financial measures should therefore not
currency.
be considered to be a replacement for measures defined
under ifRs. for definitions of the performance measures
Transactions and balances
SECTION 5: OTHER DISCLOSURES, CONTINUED
used by PandoRa, refer to note 5.6.
transactions in foreign currencies are initially recognised

NOTES

Enhanced comparablility

5.6 FINANCIAL DEFINITIONS
Key figures and financial ratios stated in the consolidated financial statements have been calculated in accordance with the
danish finance society’s guidelines ‘Recommendations & financial Ratios 2015’:
Revenue growth, %

Consolidated finanCial statements • 79
(this year’s revenue - last year’s revenue) (rolling 12 months)
last year’s revenue

Gross profit growth, %

(this year’s gross profit - last year’s gross profit) (rolling 12 months)
last year’s gross profit

net profit growth, %

(this year’s net profit - last year’s net profit) (rolling 12 months)
last year’s net profit

Gross margin, %

Gross profit / revenue

effective tax rate, %

income tax expense / profit before tax

equity ratio, %

equity / total assets

Payout ratio

dividends paid for the year / net profit
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OUNTS

in other currencies. Conse
risk of exchange rate fluctu
PandoRa’s reported cash
financial position in dKK.
the majority of Pando
Cad, aUd, GBP and eUR.
these currencies against dK
the translated future cash fl
PandoRa’s costs are relate
EUR/DKK trades in a +/-2.25% band around a central parity of 7.46038 DKK per 1 EUR. In
Usd. PandoRa also purc
practice, the Danish Central Bank has kept EUR/DKK within a much tighter band. In this recosts in tHB. exchange rate
Commodity
price
risk
spect PANDORA has traditionally not considered EUR as a risky currency. Net positive cash
ﬂows in USD, CAD, AUD and GBP have previously been hedged
against
EUR. Therisk
current
in the translated value of fu
Raw
material
is the risk of fluctuating commodity prices
Thecrisis
company
also can
reconsidered
thetheformatting
some
of and
its the
notes. The excerpts from the 2016 financial statements
in the eurozone
in worst case derive
EUR/DKK parityof
band
to break
finances the majority of its
resulting
in
additional
production
costs.
the
most
important
value
of EUR
against DKK
to decline signiﬁ
cantly. In thisabout
respect PANDORA
has decided
show
how
Pandora
redrafted
a narrative
the financial
riskthat
arising from fluctuations in commodity prices and
via intercompany loans den
raw
materials
are
silver
and
gold,
which
are
priced
in
Usd.
new hedge contracts of net foreign currency cash ﬂows will be entered against DKK only. Net
introduced
a table and charts to help investors better understand
the financial risk related to raw material prices.
positive cash ﬂows in EUR are not hedged. PANDORA will continueittoismaintain
the major
of the individual subsidiary.
the policy
of PandoRa to ensure stable, predictable
part of it’s funding in EUR.
currencies against dKK wil
raw material prices. Based on a rolling 12-month production
Before
Risk related to raw material prices
in the Parent Company. Pan
plan, the policy is for Group treasury to hedge around
PANDORA’s raw material risk is the risk of ﬂuctuating raw materials resulting in additional
where the translation of equ
100%, 80%, 60% and 40% of the risk for the following
costs. The most important
raw materials
are gold and silver,
which are
pricedWORKING
in USD by
SECTION
3: INVESTED
CAPITAL
AND
CAPITAL ITEMS, CONTINUED
formatted exchange rate fluctuations.
1-3 months, 4-6 months, 7-9 months andBetter
10-12 months
suppliers.
It is the policy of PANDORA to ensure stable, predictablerespectively.
raw material prices.
on
result in a foreign exchange
anyBased
deviation
from the policy must be approved
a rolling 12-month production plan the policy is for Group Treasury to hedge 100% of the
exchange rate fluctuati
by
the
Group
Cfo
and
the
audit
Committee.
Commodity
risk 1-3 months forward, 80% of the risk 4-6 months forward, 60% of the risk 7-9 months
in revenue and an increase
hedging
forward, and 40% of the risk 10-12 months forward. Any deviations
from is
theupdated
policy mustatbethe end of each month or in connection
3.5
PROVISIONS
The hedging
basis of is
PANDORA’s
capital
is the
This section
includes
notes
PANDORA’s
approved
by the
CFOrelated
and theto
Audit
Committee. Commodity
updated12-month
at the
end management
margins. in addition, exch
with
revised
rolling production
plans. actual
NIBD production
to EBITDA plans.
ratio, which Management seeks to
capital structure
and net
including
financial
of each month
or infinancials,
connection
with revised
12-month rolling
translated value of the pro
production
may
deviate
from
the
12-month
rolling
production
maintain between 0 and 1. At 31 December 2016, the
risks (see note 4.4). As a consequence of its operations,
Sales
ratioplan.
was 0.3incompared
with
0.3 at 31 December
2015.commodity
investments and financing, PANDORA is exposed to a
and the translation of forei
case
of
deviations,
the
realised
hedge
return
million
31PANDORA’s
December
2011ability 31
2010
After
to December
keep this
low ratio is based on
the and
numberDKK
of financial
risks that are monitored and manit is PandoRa’s policy
ratio
may
deviate
from
the
estimated
hedge
ratio.
for
the
fair
Other
high cash conversion. The cash conversion was 72.4%warranty
in
aged via PANDORA’s Group Treasury. PANDORA uses
Fair
value of hedging instruments
-189
304
dKK
million
provisions
provisions
Total
related to the risk of declin
of hedging
see note 4.5.
2016value
compared
with 42.1%instruments,
in 2015.
a number of derivative financial instruments to hedge
its exposure to fluctuations in commodity prices and
exchange rate fluctuations
2016
similar. Derivative financial instruments are described in
Hedge ratio for the coming 12 months
Provisions at 1 January
902
166
1,068 balance sheet items
hedge
note 4.5.
Months ahead
Commodity
All major currencies
made in the year
813
96
909
75
subsidiaries.
it is PandoR
Utilised in the year
-749
-33
-782
1-3
90-100%
90-100%
Unused provisions reversed
-60
-38
-98
to
hedge
around
100% of
CASH CONVERSION
TOTAL
PAYOUT
RATIO
SHARE BUYBACK
4-6
70-90%
70-90%
exchange rate adjustments
5
3
8
80%
of
the
risk
4-6
month
7-9
50-70%
50-70%
Provisions at 31 December
911
194
1,105
months forward and 40%
10-12
30-50%
30-50%
Provisions are recognised in the consolidated balance sheet as follows:
based on a rolling 12-mon
dKK million
Current
911
93
1,004
currency
hedging is update
Foreign
currency
risk
non-current
101
101
Total provisions at 31 December
911but the majority
194
1,105
Better formatted
connection
with revised 1
PandoRa’s presentation
currency is dKK,
of
PandoRa’s
activities
and
investments
are
denominated
2015
5
8
13 operations, investments and financing,
as a consequence
of its
-5
-8
-13
PandoRa
is
exposed
9
-52
14 to a number of financial risks that are
-9
52
-14
monitored
and
managed
by PandoRa’s Group treasury.
-6
-7
-7
6
7
7
to
manage
financial
risks,
PandoRa uses a number of
-33
-4
-28
33
4
28
financial instruments, such as forward contracts, silver and
gold swaps, currency and interest rate swaps, options and
The analysis is based on monetary assets and liabilities as of end
2011 and
2010. Translation
similar
instruments
within the framework of its current policies.
of expected currency cash ﬂows are not included in the analysis.
financial risks are divided into commodity price risk, foreign
Eurozone crisis
currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk.
AUD
AUD
GBP
GBP
EUR
EUR
THB
THB

-10%
+10%
-10%
+10%
-1%
+1%
-10%
+10%

-9
9
-10
10
-7
7
-1
1

Case study 6—Pandora A/S continued

seCtion 4NOTES

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
AND NET FINANCIALS

72.4%

4,000

Provisions at 1 January
HEDGE RATIO
made inCOMMODITY
the year
%
Utilised
in the year
100
MAX.
Unused
provisions
90-100%reversed
90
MIN
.
exchange
rate
adjustments
MAX.
70-90%
80
Provisions
at 31 December
70

MAX.

MIN.

91.5%

REVENUE BREAKDOWN BY CURRENCY
13% Other

8% AUD
4% CNY
4% CAD

670
936
-702
-48
46
902

69
108
-6
-10
5
166

739
1,044
-708
-58
51
1,068

902
902

69
97
166

971
97
1,068

50-70%

Provisions
are recognised in the consolidated balance sheet as follows:
60
Current
50
MAX.
MIN.
30-50%
non-current
40
30% USD
Total
30 provisions at 31 December
MIN.

20

28% EUR
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10

and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
Sales
return and warranty provisions
0
obligation. the expense relating to any provision is recognised
Provision for warranty claims is presented together with sales
13% income
GBP
in the
statement net of any reimbursement.
returns. this is due to the handling of warranty claims, which
a provision for estimated sales returns is recognised when
lead to replacements instead of repairs.
there is historical experience or when a reasonably accurate
PandoRa provides sales return and warranty rights
of expected
future
returns can otherwise
be made.
to customers
in mostsymbols
countries.to
sales
return descriptions
and warranty about estimate
Pandora
introduced
signpost
accounting
policies
or significant
accounting
estimates in
the provision is recognised at the gross margin of the expected
provisions
mainly relate to the americas, dKK 576 million
specific
notes.
and
returns. the part of estimatedSimple
sales returns
thatdirect
is not expected
(2015: dKK 583 million).
to be sold is written down to remelt value.
Other provisions
other provisions include provisions for defined pension
Significant accounting estimates
plans, obligations to restore leased property as well as other
in most countries, PandoRa has provided return rights
102 • Consolidated finanCial statements
PANDORA ANNUAL REPORT 2016
legal and constructive obligations.
to customers.
the provision is to a large extent based on
historical return patterns, and changes in actual return
patterns will therefore impact gross profit at the time of
Accounting policies
the return. Provisions are made on a case-by-case basis
Provisions are recognised when PandoRa has a present
when PandoRa expects to take back specific goods for
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event
commercial reasons.
and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
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Key benefits, reactions and challenges
Pandora believes that its focus on improving communication has resulted in financial statements that are easier
to navigate, read and review. This view is shared by the company’s auditors, who suggested applying some of the
changes adopted in the year-end financial statements to the quarterly financial statements.
Pandora acknowledges that changing the way it communicates information in its financial statements has not saved
time. Introducing charts and redrafting notes using simpler language has instead increased the time dedicated to the
preparation of the company’s financial statements.
The company has attempted to create a link between the strategic direction of its business activities, as set out in the
business strategy section of its annual report, and the information presented in the notes to the financial statements.
The steady evolution of the company’s business model means there is constant pressure to change the structure and
content of the notes. Pandora has been careful, however, to introduce these changes at a pace that is manageable for
its investors.

It is important that investors understand the changes made to the information disclosed
in the financial statements.
Although initially financed by Danish investors, since its IPO the company has been of interest to international
investors. In recent years, Pandora’s considerable organic growth has ensured that the company continues to be
attractive to them. As a result, being able to communicate effectively with a wider group of investors will remain the
main focus for the company in the future.

Areas of success and lessons learnt
The company asserts that its willingness to accept and learn from mistakes made while trying to improve
communication in its financial statements contributed positively to the final outcome. Pandora says that being
sensitive and attentive to investors’ informational needs has helped to ensure the success of the process.

What next?
Pandora remains committed to continuously refining its financial statements by incorporating feedback from
investors and senior management. The company intends to review its financial statements to find and remove
duplications and highlight relationships among related sets of information. Pandora also aims to establish a stronger
link between the management discussion and analysis in the annual report with the narratives in the notes.
Pandora also plans to extend the lessons learnt from improving the financial statements to its corporate social
responsibility report.
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Important information
This report has been compiled by the staff of the IFRS Foundation. The descriptions and
illustrations in this report do not constitute a best-practice guide or show the only way to improve
communication in a company’s financial statements. The Board is not endorsing the changes
carried out by the companies surveyed in this report or endorsing how these companies have
implemented IFRS Standards in their financial statements.
The IFRS Foundation is not affiliated with the companies referred to in this report. This report is for
information only and in no way constitutes investment advice, or any other type of advice.
Official pronouncements of the Board are available in electronic format to eIFRS subscribers.
Publications are available to order from our website at www.ifrs.org.
Other relevant documents
Discussion Paper Disclosure Initiative—Principles of Disclosure: This Discussion Paper describes, and
seeks stakeholders’ views about, disclosure issues identified by the Board and approaches to address
these issues, including the Board’s preliminary views. The Board also seeks views on additional
disclosure issues to address in the Principles of Disclosure project.
Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: The amendments issued in
December 2014 clarify the requirements in IAS 1 for materiality, order of the notes, subtotals
in the primary financial statements and disclosure of accounting policies.
IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements: Non-mandatory guidance to help companies
make judgements about whether information is material when preparing financial statements.
Discussion Forum—Financial Reporting Disclosure, Feedback Statement: This document
summarises the feedback received at the Discussion Forum on disclosures held in 2013.
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